

INVESTIGATION OF THE MECHANISMS INVOLVED IN CYLINDROSPERMOPSIN TOXICITY:

HEPATOCYTE CULTURE AND RETICULOCYTE LYSATE STUDIES.

Suzanne M Froscio B.Biotech. (Hons).

Department of Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology, Adelaide University.

A thesis submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, March 2002.

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT		
DECLA	RATION	xii
ACKNO	OWLEDGMENTS	xiii
PUBLI	CATIONS	xiv
ABBREVIATIONS		
1 (GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 (Cyanobacteria, Bloom Formation and Toxin Production	1
1.1.1	Biology of Cyanobacteria	1
1.1.2	Cyanobacterial Blooms	2
1.1.3	Toxin Production	3
1.2 (Cyanobacterial Toxins	3
1.2.1	Hepatotoxins	4
1.2.2	Neurotoxins	7
1.2.3	Cytotoxins	10
1.2.4	Lipopolysaccharide Endotoxins	11
1.3 (Cyanobacterial Toxins and Human Health	11
1.3.1	Recreational Water Exposure	12
1.3.2	Exposure via Drinking Water	12
1.3.3	Other routes of Exposure	13
1.4	The Palm Island Mystery Disease Linked to Cylindrospermopsin Exposure	14

ii

1.5	Cylindrospermopsin Toxicology	15
1.5	1 In vivo Studies	15
1.5	2 In vitro Studies	18
1.6	Cylindrospermopsin Structure – Activity Relationship	19
1.7	Investigating the Mechanisms Involved in Cylindrospermopsin Toxicology	20
1.7	1 Protein Synthesis Inhibition	20
1.7	2 Glutathione Depletion	22
1.7	3 Bioactivation	26
1.8	Project Rationale	30
2	PURIFICATION OF CYLINDROSPERMOPSIN	32
2.1	Introduction	32
2.2	Materials and Methods	33
2.2.	1 Materials	33
2.2.	2 Preparation of Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii Culture Extracts	33
2.2	3 HPLC Purification of Cylindrospermopsin from <i>C.raciborskii</i> Extracts	34
2.2.	4 HPLC Analysis of Purified Cylindrospermopsin	34
2.2	5 HPLC-MS / MS Analysis of Cylindrospermopsin	35
2.3	Results	36
2.4	Discussion	38
3	INHIBITORY EFFECTS OF CYLINDROSPERMOPSIN ON CELL- FREE PROTEIN SYNTHESIS: POTENCY AND MODE OF ACTION	39
3.1	Introduction	39
3.2	Materials and Methods	41
3.2.	1 Protein Synthesis Inhibitors	41
3.2.	2 Translation Procedure	41

3.2.3Post Translation Analysis433.2.4Potency – Concentration Response Curves433.2.5Mode of Action- Time Course Experiments443.2.6Statistical Analysis45

iii

3.3	Results	46
3.3	.1 Potency	46
3.3	.2 Mode of Action	46
3.4	Discussion	49
4	INHIRITION OF PROTEIN SVNTHESIS RV OVI INDROSDEDMODSIN	
7	IN HEPATOCYTE CULTURE	50
4.1	Introduction	50
4.2	Materials and Methods	51
4.2	.1 Materials	51
4.2	.2 Animals	51
4.2	.3 Preparation and Culture of Hepatocytes	52
4.2	.4 Lactate Dehydrogenase Leakage Assay	55
4.2	.5 Protein Synthesis Assay	56
4.2	.6 DNA Quantification Assay	56
4.2	.7 Statistical Analysis	58
4.3	Results	59
4.3	.1 Hepatocyte Morphology after Cylindrospermopsin Treatment	59
4.3	.2 Effect of Cylindrospermopsin on Cell Viability	60
4.3	.3 Time Course for LDH Leakage after Exposure to Cylindrospermopsin	60
4.3	.4 Effect of Cylindrospermopsin on Protein Synthesis	62
4.3	.5 Time Course for Protein Synthesis Inhibition after Cylindrospermopsin Exposu	re 62.
4.3	.6 Is the loss of Hepatocyte Viability a Result of Protein Synthesis Inhibition?	64
4.3	.7 Irreversible Inhibition of Protein Synthesis after Short-Term Exposure to	
	Cylindrospermopsin	65
4.3	.8 Inhibition of Protein Synthesis in Hepatocytes and Reticulocyte Lysates: Comparison of Concentration-Response Curves.	67
4.4	Discussion	69
5	THE ROLE OF OXIDATIVE STRESS IN CYLINDROSPERMOPSIN- INDUCED TOXICITY. HEPATOCYTE CULTURE STUDIES.	73
5.1	Introduction	73
5.2	Materials and Methods	75

iv

÷

5.4	Discussion	88
5.3.3	Effect of GSSG-Rd Inhibition on Toxicity	85
5.3.2	Analysis of Lipid Peroxidation Products	83
5.3.1	Glutathione Depletion	81
5.3	Results	81
5.2.7	Statistical Analysis	80
5.2.6	Inhibition of GSSG-Rd Activity	80
5.2.5	Malondialdehyde Assay	78
5.2.4	Glutathione Determination	76
5.2.3	Measurement of Toxicity	75
5.2.2	Preparation of Cultured Hepatocytes	75
5.2.1	Materials	75

6 T	THE ROLE OF CYLINDROSPERMOPSIN DERIVED METABOLITES		
II E	N PROTEIN SYNTHESIS INHIBITION AND TOXICITY IN	01	
1		91	
6.1 In	ntroduction	91	
6.2 N	Iaterials and Methods	93	
6.2.1	Materials	93	
6.2.2	Preparation of Cultured Hepatocytes	93	
6.2.3	Measurement of Toxicity	93	
6.2.4	Protein Synthesis Assay	94	
6.2.5	5 Inhibition of CYP450 Activity 94		
6.2.6	Inhibition of Alcohol Dehydrogenase Activity 9		
6.2.7	Statistical Analysis 99		
6.3 R	lesults	96	
6.3.1	Validation of Model	96	
6.3.2	Effect of CYP450 Inhibitors on Cylindrospermopsin-Induced Toxicity.	97	
6.3.3	The Effect of CYP450 Inhibitors on Cylindrospermopsin-Induced Protein Synthesis Inhibition.	99	
6.3.4	The Effect of 4-Methyl pyrazole on Cylindrospermopsin-Induced Toxicity	101	
6.3.5	Effect of 4-Methyl pyrazole on Cylindrospermopsin-Induced Protein Synthesis Inhibition.	101	
6.4 D	iscussion	103	

v

ł,

Ĩ

7	GENER	AL DISCUSSION	106
APPE	NDIX A	Media, Buffers and Solutions Used for Hepatocyte Culture	113
APPE	NDIX B	Journal Publication	120
8	BIBLIO	GRAPHY	121

ł

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1	Details of cylindrospermopsin yield and analysis for toxin batch 'May2000',	36
Table 3.1	Parameters of the protein synthesis inhibition concentration response curves. Comparison of toxin potency and curve slope factors.	47
Table 5.1	LDH leakage from hepatocytes exposed to 0-1 mM <i>tert</i> -butyl hydroperoxide (<i>t</i> -BH) for 30 min.	85

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	General structure for the microcystins.	5
Figure 1.2	Structure of nodularin.	6
Figure 1.3	Structure of anatoxin-a.	8
Figure 1.4	Structure of anatoxin-a(s).	8
Figure 1.5	General structure of the saxitoxins.	9
Figure 1.6	Structure of cylindrospermopsin.	10
Figure 1.7	An outline of the metabolism and function of glutathione.	24
Figure 2.1	Representative standard curve for cylindrospermopsin determination by UV-HPLC.	35
Figure 2.2	HPLC chromatogram (262 nm) illustrating separation of the <i>C.raciborskii</i> extract on the preparative column.	37
Figure 2.3.	Analysis of purified cylindrospermopsin (a) HPLC chromatogram (262 nm) of the purified cylindrospermopsin sample and (b) the UV spectra (200-300 nm) of the peak.	37
Figure 3.1	Structures of protein synthesis inhibitors.	42
Figure 3.2	Sigmoid concentration response curves for inhibition of protein synthesis by cylindrospermopsin and cycloheximide in reticulocyte lysates.	47
Figure 3.3	The effect of cylindrospermopsin, cycloheximide and pyrocatechol violet on translation in reticulocyte lysates.	48
Figure 4.1	DNA standard curve.	57

vii

Figure 4.2	Morphology of (a) control and (b) 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin treated hepatocytes after 18 hr incubation at 37 °C, 5% CO ₂ .	59
Figure 4.3	Lactate dehydrogenase leakage from hepatocytes exposed to cylindrospermopsin for 18 hr.	61
Figure 4.4	Time course for lactate dehydrogenase leakage from hepatocytes exposed to 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin.	61
Figure 4.5	Inhibition of protein synthesis in hepatocytes exposed to cylindrospermopsin for 18hrs.	63
Figure 4.6	Time course for the inhibition of protein synthesis in hepatocytes by cylindrospermopsin.	63
Figure 4.7	Loss of viability and protein synthesis in hepatocytes exposed to varying concentrations of cylindrospermopsin for 18 hr.	64
Figure 4.8	Protein synthesis in hepatocytes after toxin removal.	66
Figure 4.9	Inhibition of protein synthesis by cylindrospermopsin in a cellular (hepatocyte) vs cell-free (reticulocyte lysate) model.	68
Figure 5.1	Representative glutathione standard curve.	77
Figure 5.2	Malondialdehdye standard curve generated with the diethylacetal standard, 1,1,3,3-tetramethoxypropane (TMOP).	79
Figure 5.3	Concentration response for glutathione depletion in hepatocytes exposed to cylindrospermopsin for 18hrs.	82
Figure 5.4	Time course for glutathione depletion in hepatocytes exposed to $5\mu M$ cylindrospermopsin.	82
Figure 5.5	Malondialdehyde (MDA) levels in control and toxin treated hepatocytes.	84
Figure 5.6	Potentiation of <i>tert</i> -butyl hydroperoxide (<i>t</i> -BH) toxicity in hepatocytes by inhibition of GSSG-Rd with BCNU.	86
Figure 5.7	Effect of GSSG-Rd inhibition on LDH leakage from hepatocytes treated with 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin.	87
Figure 6.1	The effect of proadifen on LDH leakage from hepatocytes treated with cylindrospermopsin.	98
Figure 6.2	The effect of ketoconazole on LDH leakage from hepatocytes treated with cylindrospermopsin.	98
Figure 6.3	The effect of proadifen on the inhibition of protein synthesis in hepatocytes treated with cylindrospermopsin.	100

viii

Figure 6.4	The effect of ketoconazole on the inhibition of protein synthesis in hepatocytes treated with cylindrospermopsin.	100
Figure 6.5	The effect of 4-methylpyrazole on LDH leakage from hepatocytes treated with cylindrospermopsin.	102
Figure 6.6	The effect of 4-methylpyrazole on the inhibition of protein synthesis in hepatocytes treated with cylindrospermopsin.	102

ABSTRACT

The aim of this study was to determine the extent to which protein synthesis inhibition, lowered glutathione (GSH) levels and toxin metabolism contribute to the toxicity of cylindrospermopsin. Both hepatocyte cultures and reticulocyte lysates were utilized as *in vitro* tools of investigation.

Cylindrospermopsin was purified from *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* extracts by high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC). The toxin (93% purity) was identified by UV absorbance maximum at 262 nm and mass spectral analysis of the M + H ion (416 m/z) by HPLC-MS/MS (HPLC coupled to tandem mass spectrometry).

Cylindrospermopsin (IC₅₀ =120 nM) was three times more potent than cycloheximide (IC₅₀ = 368 nM) for the inhibition of protein synthesis in reticulocyte lysates. Cylindrospermopsin was effective immediately upon addition to lysates, arresting the elongation stage of translation. The potency and nature of inhibition was reproduced in hepatocyte culture (IC₅₀ ~ 200 nM) and could not be reversed, displaying behaviour similar to that of the irreversible inhibitor emetine.

In cultured hepatocytes 1-5 μ M cylindrospermopsin caused significant cytotoxicity (52 – 82% cell death) after 18 hr incubation. GSH levels were extensively depleted by all toxic concentrations, to 14% and 6% of controls for 1 and 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin respectively at 18 hr. Such GSH depletion preceded the loss of cell viability. Although the antioxidant capacity of the cells was compromised by the depletion of GSH, further investigation did not reveal a role for oxidative damage in the toxicity process. The lipid peroxidation product malondialdehyde (MDA) did not increase above controls in cylindrospermopsin treated cells and inhibition of glutathione reductase (GSSG-Rd) activity with 1,3-bis(chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU) did not alter the toxicity of cylindrospermopsin.

Protein synthesis inhibition was not correlated to cytotoxicity in hepatocytes. Furthermore, inhibition of cytochrome P450 (CYP450) activity with proadifen or ketoconazole alleviated the toxicity of cylindrospermopsin, but not the effects on protein synthesis.

These findings imply that the inhibition of protein synthesis by direct action of the toxin cannot be considered a primary cause of hepatocyte cell death over an acute time frame. CYP450-derived metabolites may play a crucial role in cytotoxicity, and the toxicity process does not appear to involve oxidative damage.

ų,

DECLARATION

This work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text.

I give consent to this copy of my thesis, when deposited in the University Library, being available for loan and photocopying.

Signed.

8

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Firstly I would like to thank my supervisors Professor Ian Falconer, Dr Andrew Humpage and Dr Philip Burcham for their guidance and support throughout the course of this study.

Thanks to the staff and students of the Department of Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology, Adelaide University, for their assistance and support with various aspects of the project. In particular I would like to thank Dr Frank Fontaine for his help with micromethods and hepatocyte culture techniques. In addition, thanks to those working in or visiting the toxicology lab including fellow postgraduate students, Mark Hutchinson and Lisa Kaminskas for providing a cheerful and interesting working environment.

Thanks also to Emma Moore for her help in the cyanobacterial toxicology laboratory, friendship and word of encouragement.

Thankyou to the Department of Medical Biochemistry, Flinders University of South Australia for allowing use of their microplate reader during periods of restricted equipment access at Adelaide University.

A CRC for Water Quality and Treatment postgraduate scholarhip is gratefully acknowledged.

And finally, I wish to thank my parents, family and friends for all their encouragement and support during this study.

PUBLICATIONS

Journal Publications Arising from This Thesis

Froscio, S.M., Humpage, A.R., Burcham, P.C. and Falconer, I.R. (2001). Cell-Free Protein Synthesis Inhibition Assay for the Cyanobacterial Toxin Cylindrospermopsin. *Environmental Toxicology*. 16 (4): 408-412.

Froscio, S.M., Humpage, A.R., Burcham, P.C. and Falconer, I.R. (2002). Dissociation of Cylindrospermopsin-induced Protein Synthesis Inhibition from Acute Toxicity in Mouse Hepatocytes. In preparation.

Other Work Published During This Candidature Not Reported in This Thesis

Humpage A.R. Hardy S.J. Moore E.J. Froscio S.M. and Falconer I.R. (2000) Microcystins (cyanobacterial toxins) in drinking water enhance the growth of aberrant crypt foci in the mouse colon. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health* Part A. 61(3):155-165.

Falconer, I.R., Hardy, S.J., Humpage, A.R., Froscio, S.M., Tozer, G.J. and Hawkins, P.R. (1999). Hepatic and Renal Toxicity of the Blue-Green Alga (Cyanobacterium) *Cylindrospermposis raciborskii* in Male Swiss Albino Mice. *Environmental Toxicology*. 14, 143-150.

xiv

ABBREVIATIONS

ANOVA	analysis of variance
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
BCNU	1,3-bis (chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea
BHT	butylated hydroxytoluene
BSA	bovine serum albumin
BSO	buthionine sulfoximine
CHEX	cycloheximide
CI	confidence interval
cm	centimeter
CYN	cylindrospermopsin
deoxy-CYN	deoxycylindrospermopsin
7-epi-CYN	7-epi-cylindrospermopsin
CYP450	cytochrome P450
DEM	diethylmaleate
DMEM/F12	1:1 mix of Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium and Ham's F12
	nutrient mixture
DMSO	dimethylsulphoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
dpm	disintegrations per minute
3	extinction coefficient
EGTA	ethylene glycol-bis(beta-aminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid
g	gram or gravity
γ-GCS	γ-glutamylcysteine synthetase
GSH	reduced glutathione
GSH-Px	glutathione peroxidase
GSSG	oxidized glutathione
GSSG-Rd	GSSG reductase
GSTase	glutathione-S-transferase
HBBS	Hank's buffered salts solution
HEPES	N-(2-hydroxyethyl) piperazine-N'-(2-ethanesulfonic acid)
4-HNE	4-hydroxynonenal
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
HPLC-MS/MS	HPLC coupled to tandem mass spectrometry

hr	hour(s)
i.p.	intraperitoneal
IC ₅₀	inhibitory concentration, 50%.
kg	kilogram
L	litre
LD ₅₀	dose likely to kill 50% test animals
LDH	lactate dehydrogenase
LPS	lipopolysacharride
М	Molar
μΜ	micromoles per litre
MDA	malondialdehyde
4-MP	4-methyl pyrazole
mg	milligram
min	minute(s)
ml	milliliter
mm	millimeter
mRNA	messenger RNA
MSDS	material safety data sheet
MQ H ₂ O	Milli Q water
m/z	mass to charge ratio
Ν	normal
NAPQI	N-acetyl-p-benzoquinone imine
ng	nanogram
nm	nanometer
nM	nanomoles per liter
NMR	nuclear magnetic resonance
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCA	perchloric acid
PCV	pyrocatechol violet
PDA	photodioarray
PPG	RNA ribonucleic acid
rRNA	ribosomal RNA
S	second(s)
SE	standard error
t-BH	tert-butyl hydroperoxide
TCA	trichloroacetic acid
TMOP	1,1,3,3-tetramethoxypropane

U	units
U/L	units per litre
UV	ultraviolet
VIS	visible

1 GENERAL INTRODUCTION

Adverse human health effects associated with exposure to cyanobacterial toxins are of increasing concern. Widespread reports of cyanobacterial blooms and recognition of toxins in water supplies have prompted toxicological investigations to understand the risks associated with each toxin. Cylindrospermopsin is emerging as threat in many areas of the world. This thesis investigates the mechanisms by which cylindrospermopsin induces toxicity. The Introduction provides a background to cyanobacteria, their toxins and their impact on human health. The existing knowledge of cylindrospermopsin toxicology is discussed and the current areas of investigation are detailed.

1.1 Cyanobacteria, Bloom Formation and Toxin Production

1.1.1 Biology of Cyanobacteria

The cyanobacteria comprise a large group of prokaryotic photoautotrophs (Campbell, 1990) which were originally, and still commonly referred to, as blue-green algae. They exhibit a combination of properties found in algae and bacteria. The cellular organization of cyanobacteria is prokaryotic, characterized by the lack of membrane bound organelles. Their principle mechanism of energy metabolism is photosynthesis, and the mechanism of photosynthesis employed (utilization of chlorophyll-*a* and liberation of oxygen as a byproduct) is plant-like and differentiates cyanobacteria from other phototrophic bacteria.

The cyanobacteria are a common component of aquatic ecosystems, widely distributed in freshwater and marine environments. Environmental adaptations aid in their survival. Many species of cyanobacteria possess gas vesicles that enable buoyancy regulation, providing an advantage over other phytoplankton. Environmental stimuli affect cell density allowing cyanobacteria to adjust their vertical position in the water column and find a niche

1

suitable for their survival and growth (Mur *et al.*, 1999). In addition, some cyanobacteria have the ability to fix molecular nitrogen providing them with a competitive advantage under nitrogen limiting conditions. Nitrogen-fixing heterocysts are commonly produced by filamentous cyanobacterial species (Fay, 1983). The heterocyst reduces atmospheric nitrogen and provides it to all the cells in the filament, leaving the photosynthetic cells the task of acquiring carbon (Wolk *et al.*, 1994). In addition, some non-heterocystous cyanobacteria also possess the ability to fix nitrogen.

Since the physiological properties of cyanobacteria vary between different species, the occurrence and dominance of cyanobacterial species in a particular water body is dependent upon the environmental conditions. A sequence of dominant species may be seen in a single water body during an annual cycle (Mur *et al.*, 1999).

The cyanobacteria are known to produce a variety of secondary metabolites, the function of which is not clear, although it has been suggested that they have a protective effect functioning as allelochemicals (Carmichael, 1992). Interest in these metabolites has risen since many have been found to be biologically active, in both a beneficial (antibiotics and antitumour compounds) and detrimental (toxins) manner for humans.

1.1.2 Cyanobacterial Blooms

Domination of a waterbody with a single (or a few) cyanobacterial species is commonly termed a cyanobacterial bloom and refers to both scum-forming species and those that are dispersed in the upper water layer. In addition colonies of benthic cyanobacteria can grow to form large mats on the sediments. Conditions that influence the formation of a bloom include nutrient availability, water temperature, light intensity and water turbidity and flow (Mur *et al.*, 1999). In Australia, documented accounts of scums or discoloured water consistent with cyanobacterial blooms refer back to the mid 1800s (Codd *et al.*, 1994). In the present day, cyanobacterial blooms are becoming more frequently reported. Eutrophication of waterways through agricultural run-off, sewerage and erosion is considered the likely explanation for the increasing numbers of blooms. It is however

recognized that a combination of favourable environmental factors (mentioned above) are required for bloom formation (Steinberg and Hartmann, 1988) and the presence of cyanobacteria does not necessarily indicate eutrophic conditions.

1.1.3 Toxin Production

Survey data compiled by Sivonen and Jones (1999) from around the world, (26 references from 18 countries) reports the frequency of toxin occurrence in freshwater blooms as 59%. While this estimate has some countries under-represented, it signifies the global nature of the problem and extent to which toxins are produced.

Laboratory studies have shown that environmental factors (temperature, nutrients, light intensity) can influence toxin production three to four fold (Sivonen and Jones, 1999) but do not explain larger variations in toxin production by different strains of the same species grown under identical culture conditions. Research is actively involved in the identification of the genes and enzymes involved in cyanotoxin production (Dittman *et al.*, 1997; Schembri *et al.*, 2001; Wilson *et al.*, 2000) and understanding their regulation (Kaebernick *et al.*, 2000; Kaebernick and Neilan, 2001)

1.2 Cyanobacterial Toxins

Descriptions of the different types of cyanotoxins, their structures and characteristics of their toxicity and occurrence, has been extensively reviewed and constantly updated with current research (Carmichael, 1988; Carmichael, 1992; Codd and Poon, 1988; Falconer, 1998; Kuiper-Goodman *et al.*, 1999; Ressom *et al.*, 1994; Sivonen and Jones, 1999). Many common genera of cyanobacteria produce toxins including *Anabaena, Aphanizomenon, Cylindrospermopsis, Microcystis, Nodularia* and *Oscillatoria (Planktothrix)*. Examples of some of the most commonly produced toxins are provided here grouped on the basis of the type of injury caused; hepatotoxins, neurotoxins and cytotoxins. The lipopolysaccharides or

endotoxins are considered separately since they are common to all cyanobacteria and may have important implications for exposure to cyanobacterial extracts.

1.2.1 Hepatotoxins

The hepatotoxins have been the most extensively researched cyanotoxins. Their primary site of action is the liver, where they cause structural and hepatocyte damage.

Microcystins

Microcystins were first isolated from *Microcystis aeruginosa* and since then have been isolated from other species of *Microcystis* in addition to other genera of cyanobacteria including *Anabaena, Nostoc, Oscillatoria (Planktothrix)* and *Anabaenopsis.* The general structure for the microcystins is shown in Figure 1.1. More than 60 structurally related microcystins have been identified (molecular weights ranging from ~800-1100 Daltons), which differ primarily in 2 L-amino acids and methylation/demethylation of the MeAsp and Mdha groups (Dawson, 1998). The LD₅₀ for the common analogue microcystin LR = 50 μ g kg⁻¹ (i.p. mouse). Other analogues vary in toxicity. Sivonen and Jones (1999) provide a review of toxicities reported in the literature for different microcystins.

Mice poisoned with microcystin show symptoms as soon as 15 min after intraperitoneal injection and morphological changes to the liver are apparent in 30 min (Falconer *et al.*, 1981). After poisoning of large animals, the symptoms shown include weakness, variable heart rate, muscle twitchings and heavy breathing. Internal damage manifests as a swollen mottled liver, edema of the body cavities and widespread small hemorrhages (Jackson *et al.*, 1984). Microcystins are not directly cell permeant due to their hydrophilic nature, thus their specificity for the liver is due to their requirement for cellular uptake by a mechanism similar to the bile acid transport system (Eriksson *et al.*, 1990a; Falconer *et al.*, 1992; Runnegar *et al.*, 1981; Runnegar and Falconer, 1986). Hepatotoxicity results from the inhibition of protein phosphatases type 1 and type 2A which are important in regulation of the cell

structure (Eriksson *et al.*, 1990b). Inhibition of protein phosphatases type 1 and 2A also provides a molecular basis for tumour promotion due to their involvement in the regulation of cell metabolism (Cohen and Cohen, 1989).





Introduction

ţ,

Nodularin

Nodularin produced by *Nodularia spumigena* is structurally similar to microcystin (see Figure 1.2). Its molecular weight is 824 Daltons. It has a LD_{50} of 60 µg kg⁻¹ (i.p., mice) very similar to microcystin and has also been shown to be an inhibitor of protein phosphatases 1 and 2A (Ressom *et al.*, 1994).



Figure 1.2 Structure of nodularin.

1.2.2 Neurotoxins

Anatoxin-a and Anatoxin-a(s)

The neurotoxins are the most rapidly acting cyanobacterial toxins. The first neurotoxin characterised was anatoxin-a from *Anabaena flos-aquae* (Devlin *et al.*, 1977). The structure of this alkaloid toxin (molecular weight 165 Daltons) is shown in Figure 1.3. The LD₅₀ is 200 μ g kg⁻¹ (i.p., mouse) (Carmichael *et al.*, 1990). The toxin is a neuromuscular blocking agent. It is a nicotinic (cholinergic) agonist that binds to acetylcholine receptors. Mice poisoned with a lethal dose show symptoms of laboured breathing within a few (2-3) min. This is followed by progressive limb paralysis, abdominal breathing, convulsions and death due to respiratory arrest within 15 min (Skulberg *et al.*, 1992). Most reports of cyanobacteria containing anatoxin-a are associated with waterblooms of *Anabaena flos-aquae* or other related *Anabaena* species, but the toxin can also be produced by different genera of cyanobacteria including *Aphanizomenon*, *Oscillatoria* (*Planktothrix*) and *Cylindrospermum* (Sivonen *et al.*, 1989).

Also isolated from *Anabaena* is the neurotoxin anatoxin-a(s), so called due to the excessive salivation observed upon administration to laboratory mice. It is structurally unrelated to anatoxin-a (see Figure 1.4) and has a molecular weight of 252 Daltons. It is 10 times more lethal than anatoxin-a which equates to an LD_{50} of 20 µg kg⁻¹ (i.p., mouse) (Carmichael, 1992). At the LD_{50} the typical post dose survival time for mice is 10 - 30 min. It is a potent inhibitor of acetylcholinesterase (Mahmood and Carmichael, 1986; Mahmood and Carmichael, 1987). Symptoms of poisoning with anatoxin-a(s) include marked salivation, muscular weakness, convulsions and death due to respiratory failure (Mahmood *et al.*, 1988).



Figure 1.3 Structure of anatoxin-a.



Figure 1.4 Structure of anatoxin-a(s).

Introduction

Saxitoxins

The saxitoxins are another group of alkaloid neurotoxins. They were first described in cyanobacteria as aphantoxins and subsequently shown to be identical to the paralytic shellfish poisons (PSPs) produced by marine dinoflagellate species (Alam *et al.*, 1978; Ikawa *et al.*, 1982). The PSPs have long been associated with dinoflagellate 'red tides'. These toxins can be accumulated in the tissues of mussels, clams and oysters which are consumed by humans. The saxitoxins include a range (at least 19 have been reported) of hydroxylated and sulfated analogues of the parent compound shown in Figure 1.5. They are fast acting neurotoxins that inhibit nerve conduction by blocking sodium channels. The LD₅₀ of saxitoxin is 10 μ g kg⁻¹ (i.p. mouse). The toxicity of related analogues varies (Humpage *et al.*, 1994). Saxitoxins have been identified in the cyanobacterial species *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae*, *Anabaena circinalis*, *Lyngbya wollei* and *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* (Sivonen and Jones, 1999).



Figure 1.5 General structure of the saxitoxins. The variable chemical groups are indicated. $R_1 = H$ or OH, $R_2 = H$ or SO₃, R4 = H, CONH₂ or CONHSO₃ and R5 = H or OH.

9

1.2.3 Cytotoxins

Cylindrospermopsin

The alkaloid toxin cylindrospermopsin (Figure 1.6) consists of a tricyclic guanidine group attached to a hydroxymethyl uracil moiety. Its molecular weight is 415 Daltons. The LD_{50} is 2100 µg kg⁻¹ at 24 hr and 200 µg kg⁻¹ at 5-6 days (i.p., mice) (Ohtani *et al.*, 1992). It was first isolated from *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* (Ohtani *et al.*, 1992) and subsequently identified in the cyanobacterial species *Umezakia natans* (Terao *et al.*, 1994) and *Aphanizomenon ovalisporum* (Banker *et al.*, 1997; Shaw *et al.*, 1999). Although it is primarily hepatotoxic, non specific toxicity is observed in a range of other organs including the kidneys, gastrointestinal tract, lungs and thymus. Unlike the microcystins, cylindrospermopsin does not inhibit protein phosphatases types 1, 2A and 3 (Ohtani, 1992). While cylindrospermopsin has been demonstrated to be a potent inhibitor of protein synthesis (Terao *et al.*, 1994), the mechanism(s) of toxicity are still being elucidated and are discussed in detail later in this Chapter.



Figure 1.6 Structure of cylindrospermopsin.

To date only one analog of cylindrospermopsin has been isolated from cyanobacteria, deoxycylindrospermopsin, and this has been determined to be non-toxic (Norris *et al.*, 1999). For deoxycylindrospermopsin the hydroxyl group is lost from the uracil bridge (position C-7 of Figure 1.6). One isomer, 7-epicylindrospermopsin has been identified. It is the C-7 epimer of cylindrospermopsin (Banker *et al.*, 2000) and has been demonstrated to retain toxicity (Banker *et al.*, 2001).

1.2.4 Lipopolysaccharide Endotoxins

The lipopolysaccharides (LPS) or endotoxins are regarded as irritant toxins. Distinct from the metabolite toxins detailed above, the LPS are an integral part of the cell wall. Common to all Gram negative bacteria, which include cyanobacteria, LPS can illicit allergic and toxic responses in animals and humans. Upon isolation cyanobacterial LPS have demonstrated lower biological activity than LPS from other Gram negative bacteria such as Salmonella (Keleti and Sykora, 1982; Raziuddin *et al.*, 1983).

1.3 Cyanobacterial Toxins and Human Health

Cyanobacterial toxins have been reported as the cause of illness or death for wildlife and livestock consuming contaminated water for over 100 years (Codd *et al.*, 1994; Ressom *et al.*, 1994). Evidence linking adverse human health effects to exposure to cyanobacterial toxins has emerged from epidemiological studies, largely in retrospect with subsequent toxicological investigation. The most likely routes of human exposure to cyanobacterial toxins are via contaminated recreational or drinking waters. In addition, one incident is recorded where inadequately treated water containing cyanobacterial toxins was used to treat renal dialysis patients with devastating effects.

1.3.1 Recreational Water Exposure

In the United Kingdom in 1989, 10 Army recruits who had been ordered to swim and "Eskimo roll" their canoes in a lake with a bloom of toxic *Microcytsis* presented with symptoms of intoxication - headache, vomiting, diarrhoea and blistered mouths (Turner *et al.*, 1990). The 2 most severely affected recruits developed pneumonia and required hospitalization.

Increased incidence of flu symptoms, skin rashes, eye and ear irritations have also been observed after recreational exposure to cyanobacteria. The results of this epidemiological study (852 participants) demonstrated the symptoms were correlated with increased duration of water contact and cyanobacterial cell density (Pilotto *et al.*, 1997). The symptoms were not correlated with the presence of hepatotoxins, and the authors suggest that they may be related to allergenicity of the cyanobacterial cells, although the contribution of hepatotoxins to allergic type reactions cannot be discounted.

1.3.2 Exposure via Drinking Water

Incidents of human exposure to toxins in drinking water have occurred sporadically throughout the world. The following two examples occurred in Australia.

In 1979, an outbreak of hepatoenteritis at Palm Island, (QLD, Australia) afflicted 150 people, mainly children, with most requiring hospitalization (Byth, 1980). The illness occurred a few days after treatment of the water supply reservoir with copper sulfate to disperse a dense bloom of cyanobacteria (Bourke *et al.*, 1983). All affected had been exposed to the contaminated water supply. A toxigenic strain of *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* was subsequently isolated from the water supply reservoir and implicated as the causative agent (Hawkins *et al.*, 1985). A detailed description of the "Palm Island Mystery Disease" is provided in Section 1.4 as it is linked to cylindrospermopsin exposure.

In the second incident, an extensive bloom of *Microcystis aeruginosa* occurred in the water supply of Armidale, NSW (Australia) in 1981. Many complaints were received about the unpleasant odour and taste to the water, and the bloom was dispersed with copper sulphate. Subsequent epidemiological investigations revealed a correlation between the termination of the *Microcystis* bloom in the water supply and elevated levels of the liver enzyme γ -glutamyl transferase in human plasma, providing evidence of subacute liver damage in the human population consuming the contaminated water (Falconer *et al.*, 1983).

In addition to acute effects, it has been suggested that chronic exposure to microcystins in drinking water can favour the growth of hepatocellular carcinomas (Yu, 1995). The hepatocellular carcinoma rate in China, one of the highest in the world, is associated with the prevalence of the hepatitis B virus and consumption of the dietary carcinogen aflatoxin. In addition, on a regional basis it has also been associated with the source of drinking water. Yu (1995) reported that the use of deep well water for drinking was associated with a lower cancer mortality rate compared to the those that used pond or ditch waters for drinking. These shallow surface waters have been found to contain microcystins, and due to their action as protein phosphatase inhibitors, and hence potential tumour promoting activity, have been proposed as being responsible for the increased incidence of hepatotocellular carcinoma. Tumour promotion by microcystins in drinking water has been demonstrated in experimental animals (Humpage *et al.*, 2000b).

1.3.3 Other routes of Exposure

In a disastrous event, a severe outbreak of hepatitis and the resultant death of 60 patients at a Brazilian haemodialysis center in 1996 was attributed to the presence of the cyanobacterial toxins in the dialysis water (Jochimsen *et al.*, 1998; Pouria *et al.*, 1998). Microcystins were found both in the liver and sera of afflicted patients. In a recent report, concentrations of cylindrospermopsin were found, some 10 times higher than microcystin, in the carbon filters obtained from the dialysis center (Carmichael *et al.*, 2001). The source was traced back to inadequately treated water from a reservoir prone to domination by cyanobacteria.

1.4 The Palm Island Mystery Disease Linked to Cylindrospermopsin Exposure

The Palm Island mystery disease occurred in 1979 as an illness afflicting 138 children and 10 adults of the Palm Island community. Most patients required hospitalisation. Symptoms first presented as a hepatitis-like illness with malaise, vomiting, enlarged and tender liver, headache, fever and constipation. Urine analysis revealed the presence of protein, sugars, ketones and sometimes blood. The later phase of the illness demonstrated symptoms of severe kidney dysfunction. One to three days following onset, 69% of the patients required intravenous therapy to correct an electrolyte imbalance, and in the most severe cases, for the reversal of hypovolemic and acidotic shock. Profuse diarrhoea accompanied the later phase. The illness lasted between 4 and 26 days and all recovered (Byth, 1980).

The original report by Byth (1980) revealed that at the time of the epidemic that there had been low rainfall, the water level in the Palm Island dam (Solomon Dam) was low and the reticulated water had an unpleasant taste and odour for 2 months prior to the illness. It was also reported that 1ppm copper sulphate was added to the dam for treatment of a dense algal bloom, and that five days after the addition of the copper sulphate, the first patient with the illness was seen (Bourke et al., 1983). Epidemiological investigation revealed that households connected to the reticulated water supply from Solomon Dam were affected by the illness while others receiving alternative supplies were spared, indicating the water as the source of the illness. The suggestion of algal intoxication came from the realization that treatment of algal bloom on the Solomon Dam would have lysed the cyanobacterial cells and released any toxins into the water (Bourke et al., 1983; Hawkins et al., 1985). However, toxic cyanobacteria were not isolated at the time of the incident and this suggestion of algal intoxication was disputed on the basis that the symptoms of algal intoxication previously described in the literature could not explain all the features of the Palm Island illness. An alternative explanation of copper sulphate poisoning was proposed, as copper itself is a cumulative poison (Prociv, 1987; Prociv, 1992). The subsequent isolation of a toxic strain

Introduction

of *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* from the water supply on Palm Island (Hawkins *et al.*, 1985), and the isolation of the toxin cylindrospermopsin (Ohtani, 1992) from this cyanobacterium revealed that the chemical nature of this toxin was different to other cyanobacterial toxins which had been described. Furthermore, toxicological studies with *C.raciborskii* and purified cylindrospermopsin support the theory that this toxin was capable of producing the diverse symptoms seen on Palm Island.

1.5 Cylindrospermopsin Toxicology

1.5.1 In vivo Studies

Acute Effects

Experimentally-induced poisoning of laboratory mice with *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* extract or purified cylindrospermopsin has revealed that the characteristics of the poisoning are hepatonecrosis with extrahepatic lesions of variable location and severity. Illustrating delayed toxicity, the LD₅₀ of purified cylindrospermopsin (i.p., mice) is 2100 μ g kg⁻¹ at 24 hr, and 200 μ g kg⁻¹ at 5-6 days (Ohtani *et al.*, 1992). Prolonged effects were also seen after dosing mice i.p. with *C.raciborskii* extract although some discrepancy in toxicity based on the known cylindrospermopsin content was observed. The extract LD₅₀ was equivalent to a cylindrospermopsin dose of 286 μ g kg⁻¹ at 24 hr and 176 μ g kg⁻¹ at 7 days (Hawkins *et al.*, 1997). Similar values for extract LD₅₀ based on toxin content were reported by Falconer *et al.* (1999).

Damage to the liver is reported consistently in the literature as dose dependent, centrilobular necrosis at lower doses and more severe and generalised necrosis at higher doses (Hawkins *et al.*, 1985; Hawkins *et al.*, 1997; Falconer *et al.*, 1999). Characteristic vacuolation of the cytoplasm of hepatocytes, due to the accumulation of fat droplets has also been consistently described (Falconer *et al.*, 1999; Terao *et al.*, 1994). Damage to other organs has been variable. Apart from the liver, Hawkins *et al.* (1985; 1997) report damage to the kidneys, small intestine, and lungs of mice treated with cell extract, while Terao *et al.*

(1994) reported kidney, thymus and heart damage by purified cylindrospermopsin. The severity of the extrahepatic lesions is also variable. For example, kidney damage has been reported as mild, restricted to the proximal tubular epithelium (Hawkins *et al.*, 1997; Hawkins *et al.*, 1985). In contrast, Falconer *et al.* (1999) illustrate that kidney damage is a significant contributor to morbidity for some *C.raciborskii* extracts, causing proximal tubule necrosis, increase in the diameter of tubule lamina and deposition of proteinaceous material in the distal tubules.

In addition to dosing mice via intraperitoneal injection, oral dosing studies have been carried out to mimic the route of exposure through drinking water. Both Seawright *et al.* (1999) and Falconer *et al.* (1999) demonstrated that the characteristics of toxicity (fatty liver, hepatonecrosis, variable extrahepatic lesions) were also recorded after oral dosing with *C.raciborskii* extracts. Both studies indicated that the oral LD_{50} is at least 25-fold higher than that observed for intraperitoneal injection. Consistent with laboratory findings, examination of a calf poisoned after drinking water from a farm dam contaminated with a toxic *C.raciborskii* bloom showed typical symptoms of cylindrospermopsin intoxication. Histological examination of the liver revealed areas of extensive necrosis while damage to the heart, gall bladder and small intestine were recorded (Saker *et al.*, 1999).

Discrepancy between the toxicity observed with *C.raciborskii* extracts and that expected from the cylindrospermopsin content (see quoted LD₅₀ for extract and purified toxin above), coupled with the observation that *C.raciborskii* extracts of the same strain, but grown at different times also produce variable results (Falconer *et al.*, 1999) suggests that more than one toxin may be produced by the cyanobacterium. As described in Section 1.2 numerous analogs of other toxins (microcystins and saxitoxins) are produced by cyanobacteria which vary in toxicity. To date the only other cylindrospermopsin analog isolated, deoxycylindrospermopsin, has been reported to be non-toxic (Norris *et al.*, 1999). The isomer 7-epicylindrospermopsin retains toxicity, although it has only been found as a minor component in cyanobacterial extracts in comparison to cylindrospermopsin (Banker *et al.*, 2000). Other suggestions proposed which may account for this variability include mouse sensitivities and synergistic effects from other cyanobacterial cell components (Hawkins *et al.*, 1997).

Introduction

Supporting a role for metabolic activation of the toxin in the liver, suppression of cytochrome P450 activity *in vivo* with piperonyl butoxide has been demonstrated to increase the survival of Quackenbush mice dosed i.p. with $200 - 800 \ \mu g \ kg^{-1}$ cylindrospermopsin (Norris *et al.*, 2002). However, this protective effect was not observed in C57/B16 mice.

Repeated Administration

Increased susceptibility of mice to repeated oral doses of cylindrospermopsin in *C.raciborskii* extracts has been observed (Falconer and Humpage, 2001). Mortality occurred with two doses equivalent to 60% of minimum oral lethal dose despite a 2 week recovery period. This suggests the residual effects of the toxin may be more severe than expected from single dose toxicology. Consequently injury from chronic exposure to cylindrospermopsin may be an important consideration with this toxin. However, repeated dosing of mice over 14 days with low doses of cylindrospermopsin (1 μ g kg⁻¹day⁻¹ (i.p.) or 10 μ g kg⁻¹day⁻¹ (oral)) was reported to produce no adverse effects (Shaw *et al.*, 2000).

Genotoxicity

The occurrence of a DNA adduct in mouse liver has been tentatively reported after i.p. administration of cylindrospermopsin in *C.raciborskii* extracts (Shaw *et al.*, 2000). The chemical nature of the adduct and the mechanism(s) involved in its formation are yet to be described.

Carcinogenicity

A recent study explored the potential for cylindrospermopsin to initiate tumours. Mice were treated up to 3 times orally with *C.raciborskii* extract containing cylindrospermopsin followed by the tumour promoter TPA (O-tetrdecanoylphorbol 13-acetate). From 53 mice treated with extract, 5 of those displayed evidence of neoplastic processes (3 frank tumours) in contrast to none observed in the 27 controls (Falconer and Humpage, 2001). The number

of animals used in this trial was insufficient to provide statistical evidence of tumour initiation but indicates a potential risk for carcinogenesis and requires further study.

1.5.2 In vitro Studies

Cylindrospermopsin has been demonstrated to be a potent inhibitor of protein synthesis in a cell-free reticulocyte lysate (Terao *et al.*, 1994).

In primary hepatocyte culture the depletion of cellular glutathione (GSH) precedes the loss of cell viability (Runnegar et al., 1994). Subsequent investigation revealed that this was due to the inhibition of GSH synthesis (Runnegar et al., 1995b). Furthermore Runnegar et al. (1995b) also demonstrated that pretreatment of the hepatocytes with the cytochrome P450 (CYP450) inhibitor α -naphthoflavone could partially protect against the cylindrospermopsin-induced fall in GSH and toxicity. This indicates that CYP450-mediated modification of the toxin was likely and that the metabolites generated may be more toxic than the parent compound. The uptake of cylindrospermopsin into primary rat hepatocytes can be facilitated both by the bile acid transporter system and passive diffusion (Chong et al., 2002).

Genotoxicity

The introduction of DNA strand breaks and whole chromosome loss in a human lymphoblastoid cell line after cylindrospermopsin exposure have been demonstrated by the cytokinesis-block micronucleus assay (Humpage *et al.*, 2000a). Cylindrospermopsin concentration-dependently increased the frequency of micronuclei in binucleated cells. Multimicronucleated cells were also induced. Fluorescent labelleling of centromeric DNA sequences indicated that many of the micronuclei induced by cylindrospermopsin contained at least one centromere, indicating whole chromosome loss. The results of this study suggest that cylindrospermopsin acts via two distinct mechanisms to induce the cytogenetic damage. Micronucleus production results from strand breaks that occur that at the level of the DNA,

18

while whole chromosome loss is likely to be due to disruption of kinetochore or spindle function.

1.6 Cylindrospermopsin Structure – Activity Relationship

The presence of the pyrimidine uracil, the guanidine and the sulphate group within the structure of cylindrospermopsin (Figure 1.6) provide several potentially reactive sites. Biological activity has been linked to the hydroxymethyl uracil, as the absence of the hydroxyl group on the uracil bridge results in loss of toxicity (Norris *et al.*, 1999). In addition, studies with chemically synthesized cylindrospermopsin and its derivatives demonstrated that the sulphate group was not necessary for biological activity or entry into primary hepatocytes (Xie *et al.*, 2000).

Modified uracil analogues are known to have affinity for nucleic acids when their structural orientation allows (Friedberg, 1985). This may provide an explanation for the interference of cylindrospermopsin with ribosomal protein synthesis, which is dependent upon the function of RNA. Potential incorporation or intercalation of the 6-hydroxylmethyluracil group of cylindrospermopsin into DNA could also provide a basis for DNA damage described in the micronucleus assay in Section 1.5.2.
Introduction

1.7 Investigating the Mechanisms Involved in Cylindrospermopsin Toxicology

Although it is convenient to discuss the possible mechanisms involved in cylindrospermopsin toxicity as discrete entities, it is most likely that a number of pathways contribute to cell death. The relative importance of each of the known toxic events is discussed.

1.7.1 Protein Synthesis Inhibition

The protein synthetic system can be disrupted at a number of different levels: gene expression, transcription, mRNA processing, translation or through post-translational modifications (Hershey *et al.*, 1986). We can conclude from the work by Terao *et al.* (1994) in reticulocyte lysates (an exogenous mRNA-dependent system) that cylindrospermopsin interferes with the translation of mRNA into protein on the ribosomes. The authors also related this observation to ultrastructural damage caused to the protein synthesis machinery of the liver *in vivo*. Both cylindrospermopsin and the protein synthesis inhibitor cycloheximide were reported to cause ribosome dissociation from the endoplasmic reticulum. In addition, the fatty liver or steatosis consistently observed by many researchers as a response to cylindrospermopsin injury is consistent with impairment of the protein synthetic system. Triglycerides are accumulated as their transport out of the cell via lipoproteins is disrupted by a block in protein synthesis affecting lipoprotein production (Dianzani, 1991).

Clearly triglyceride accumulation in hepatocytes illustrates how cellular functions are impaired as a consequence of the inhibition of protein synthesis. Numerous enzymes and functional proteins would be similarly affected. It is well established that following protein synthesis inhibition, DNA synthesis and then RNA synthesis is inhibited (Olsnes and Pihil, 1997). Continued disturbance of the normal metabolic functions of the cell, leads to loss of

cellular viability. Consistent with a slow deterioration of cell function cylindrospermopsin toxicity is notably delayed. *In vivo*, mortality can occur within 24 hr at high doses. At lower doses, the effects of the toxin are extended to 5-6 days. Progressive changes in tissue injury have been observed over 4–144 hr (Falconer *et al.*, 1999). It is also noted that protein synthesis inhibition affects all cell types, providing a plausible explanation for the extrahepatic effects caused by cylindrospermopsin.

However, the extent to which inhibition of protein synthesis contributes to cylindrospermopsin toxicity, particularly hepatotoxicity, is not clear. Plaa (1991) lists a number of hepatotoxins including the protein synthesis inhibitors cycloheximide, puromycin and emetine which have been reported to produce fatty liver upon acute administration in vivo without inducing necrosis. Similarly, although Terao et al. (1994) describe the onset of fat accumulation followed by massive necrosis after in vivo administration of cylindrospermopsin to mice (5-6 day LD₅₀ dose), cycloheximide treated mice (at a notably high dose) accumulated fat without observation of the necrotic phase. Furthermore, the fat accumulation was far more profuse in cylindrospermopsin treated mice, with fat droplets accumulating over time (2-4 days) then fusing together to form fat lakes and depressing space for cellular organelles. Terao *et al.* (1994) suggested that the pathogenesis of the fatty liver induced by cylindrospermopsin more closely resembled that produced by xenobiotics known to cause free radical mediated injury, such as carbon tetrachloride (CCl₄). CCl₄ is highly steatogenic and induces necrosis (Dianzani, 1991). It also impairs protein synthesis. However, its toxicity and triglyceride accumulation are due to the *in vivo* formation of a trichloromethyl radical which binds to cellular lipids and proteins (Recknegel et al., 1989). The haloalkylation of apolipoproteins prevents their secretion, leading to a rapid onset of triglyceride accumulation. Thus the protein synthesis inhibition contributes to the triglyceride accumulation only in the latter stages. This illustrates how different mechanisms in addition to protein synthesis inhibition can coexist to contribute to fat accumulation.

When investigated *in vitro* it is found that cells survive for many hours after the cessation of protein synthesis. Treatment of primary hepatocytes with cycloheximide for 20 hr inhibits 90% of the protein synthesis and impairs the uptake of extracellular polyamines by 75% without any effect on cell viability (Martin *et al.*, 1990). The absence of cytotoxicity in hepatocytes exposed to ethionine for 20 hr has also been described

(Waterfield *et al.*, 1998). Ethionine, a methionine analogue is highly steatogenic *in vivo*. It is an alklyating agent and impairs protein synthesis secondary to ATP depletion and inhibition of RNA synthesis. In contrast, after exposure of hepatocytes to cylindrospermopsin, cytotoxicity develops within 16-18 hr (Runnegar *et al.*, 1994). The extent of protein synthesis inhibition in these cells was not measured.

Given that cylindrospermopsin toxicity at lower doses *in vivo* is delayed, the confirmation that it was a potent protein synthesis inhibitor provided some explanation for this delayed onset of toxicity. Undoubtedly the impairment of protein synthesis influences cylindrospermopsin toxicity. However it does not appear to fully explain both the extent of triglyceride accumulation and cell toxicity *in vivo*. For example, cytotoxicity observations *in vitro* reveal hepatocyte death earlier than could be expected from protein synthesis inhibition alone. It is also conceivable the mechanisms of toxicity differ over time, with continued protein synthesis inhibition becoming more significant over extended periods, while playing a less substantial role at earlier times.

1.7.2 Glutathione Depletion

Glutathione (GSH) is the most abundant low molecular weight thiol in mammalian cells (Fahey and Newton, 1983). It is recognized as the cell's major antioxidant defense mechanism, participating in redox reactions and thioether formation (Figure 1.7). GSH prevents the oxidation of –SH groups in proteins and participates in the detoxication of electrophilic intermediates such as epoxides, or peroxides and free radicals generated through xenobiotic metabolism (Moldeus and Jernstrom, 1983). In these reactions GSH can serve as a nucleophile forming conjugates catalyzed by GSH-S-transferase, as in the case for the hepatotoxin Aflatoxin B₁-GSH conjugation described in Section 1.7.3. Alternatively, in reactions catalyzed by GSH peroxidase it acts as a reductant, and is oxidized to its disulfide (GSSG). These reactions reduce toxic peroxides, produced either endogenously or from exogenous sources (Jones and Kennedy, 1983). For example, *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*-BH) is metabolized by GSH peroxidase in isolated hepatocytes, leading to a marked decrease in GSH content and concomitant increase in GSSG (Latour *et al.*, 1999).

Runnegar *et al.* (1994) first established that GSH depletion played a role in cylindrospermopsin toxicity in hepatocyte culture, demonstrating profound GSH depletion well prior to the onset of cell death, and illustrated that treatment with propargylglycine (PPG) to reduce cell GSH, further predisposed the cells to toxic effects. Further investigation revealed that the GSH depletion by cylindrospermopsin was due to a block in GSH synthesis, exhibiting effects similar to those produced by a known inhibitor, buthionine-sulfoximine (BSO) (Runnegar *et al.*, 1995b). There was no detection of increased utilization of GSH, as would be expected under severe oxidant stress. In addition, GSH conjugates were not detected.

In vivo, the 7 day survival rate of mice pretreated with BSO and diethylmaleate (DEM) to deplete hepatic GSH prior to dosing with 200 μ g kg⁻¹ of cylindrospermopsin was not significantly different from the control group (Norris *et al.*, 2002). It is worth noting that the survival rates after cylindrospermopsin treatment were 5/13 and 9/14 for the BSO/DEM pretreated and non-pretreated mice respectively. The effect of such preteatment on higher cylindrospermopsin doses was not tested.

Introduction



Figure 1.7 An outline of the metabolism and function of glutathione (GSH). GSH-Px = glutathione peroxidase; GSSG-Rd = glutathione reductase; GSTase = glutathione S-transferase; γ -GCS = γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase. X = compounds that react with glutathione to yield conjugates. Adapted from Kodavanti and Mehendale (1991).

Glutathione Synthesis

The enzymatic synthesis of GSH from its constituent amino acids, L-glutamate, Lcysteine and L-glycine, involves two ATP-requiring steps. The first step is the formation of γ -glutamylcysteine from glutamate and cysteine (Figure 1.7). It is catalyzed by γ glutamylcysteine synthetase. In the second step, GSH synthetase catalyzes the formation of a peptide bond between γ -glutamylcysteine and glycine (Figure 1.7). The first step is rate limiting. It is regulated by negative feedback inhibition by GSH and the availability of the precursor cysteine (Griffith, 1999). The inhibition of GSH synthesis by buthioninesulfoximine results from inhibition of γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase (Griffith and Meister, 1979). Is not known whether cylindrospermopsin inhibits γ -glutamylcysteine synthetase or GSH synthetase. Runnegar *et al.* (1995) also established that precursor availability (cysteine) and ATP levels were not affected by cylindrospermopsin treatment.

Consequences of Glutathione Depletion

The depletion of GSH renders the cell susceptible to oxidative attack, both by xenobiotics and reactive oxygen species generated as a by-product of normal cellular Endogenous sources of reactive oxygen species in hepatocytes include functions. mitochondrial respiration and cytochrome P450 activity (Puntaruli and Cederbaum, 1998). When protective mechanisms are overwhelmed, damage ensues. Lipid peroxidation is often associated with severe GSH depletion. Reactive oxygen species attack polyunsaturated lipids, extracting a hydrogen from the methylene bridge between double bonds. Membrane lipids, containing large amounts of polyunsaturated fatty acid side chains, are the target of such attack (Horton and Fairhurst, 1987). The chemistry is complex, but once lipid peroxidation has been initiated it propagates by autocatalysis, terminating either when nonradical products are formed or by the action of antioxidants (Halliwell and Gutteridge, 1999). The membrane damage leads to loss of membrane function and integrity, while the products of lipid peroxidaton form protein and DNA adducts, all contributing to cytotoxicity (Recknagel et al., 1991). Lipid peroxidation products with this potential include a number of unsaturated aldehydes, such as malondialdehyde (MDA), 4-hydroxynonenal (4-HNE) and

acrolein (Esterbauer, 1982). A wide range of toxins are known to produce peroxidative decomposition of liver lipids. Such damage is a critical component of the hepatocyte injury that accompanies CCl₄ poisoning. The carbon-centered trichloromethyl radical (a liver metabolite) couples with O_2 to form the trichloromethylperoxy radical which initiates lipid peroxidation. Demonstrating the importance of these events, antioxidants can reduce the damage (Recknegel *et al.*, 1989). As previously noted, Terao *et al.* (1994) remarked that latter stages of cylindrospermopsin pathology *in vivo* resembled that of free-radical mediated injury induced by CCl₄. One theory is that following GSH depletion, reactive oxygen species are overproduced, producing damage and eventually cell death. The possibility that lipid peroxidation is inherently involved in cylindrospermopsin toxicity remains to be explored.

1.7.3 Bioactivation

Detoxication enzymes have evolved as mechanisms for converting xenobiotics to a form that facilitates their rapid elimination, usually via increased polarity. In addition to detoxication the reactions involved can result in the bioactivation of a xenobiotic to a more hazardous metabolite. Electrophilic reactive species can be generated which are capable of reacting with the cellular constituents, protein, RNA and DNA, and thus providing mechanisms for cytotoxicity (Nelson and Harvison, 1987) and carcinogenicity (Kadlubar and Hammons, 1987; Miller and Miller, 1981). Many toxic chemicals do not produce their detrimental effects in the form in which they are consumed, but after bioactivation to reactive metabolites.

The liver is the primary site of biotransformation reactions, followed by the lung, kidney and intestine (Lindamood, 1991). The enzymes involved are divided into two classes of reactions, Phase I (oxidation, reduction, hydrolysis) or Phase II reactions (conjugation). Phase I reactions often produce suitable substrates for Phase II reactions.

Phase I Reactions

Cytochrome P450 oxidation

The enzyme system playing the predominant role in Phase I bioactivation of xenobiotics is the cytochrome monooxygenase P450 (CYP450) enzyme system, a family of haemoprotein enzymes, where different isoforms have different substrate specificities (Gangolli and Phillips, 1993). A recent review by Guengerich (2001) details the CYP450 reactions related to chemical toxicity illustrating the wide variety of reactions catalyzed. By far the most common CYP450 reactions involve oxidations including carbon hydroxylation, heteratom oxygenation, heteratom release (dealkylation), and epoxidation. For example, the hepatotoxicity and hepatocarcinogenicity of the dietary carcinogen aflatoxin is associated with its CYP450 oxidation to a highly reactive epoxide that can form adducts with DNA, RNA and protein (Guengerich, 1992). Less commonly, reduction reactions, ring formations or ring expansions are also catalyzed by CYP450 enzymes.

Other Phase I reactions

The flavin-containing monooxygenases are also active in xenobiotic metabolism, participating in the oxygenation of nitrogen and sulfur compounds (Ziegler, 1980). Epoxide hydrolyase activities are also present in close proximity to CYP450 in the endoplasmic reticulum, reflecting their role in detoxication of electrophilic epoxides generated by CYP450 (Lindamood, 1991). While most Phase I enzymes are localized in the endoplasmic reticulum where lipophilic substrates partition, cytosolic enzymes such as alcohol dehydrogenase also participate in biotransformation reactions.

Phase II Reactions

Conjugation

Examples of conjugation reactions include glucuronidation, methylation, sulfation, amino acid conjugation and glutathione conjugation. Conjugations such as glutathione conjugation (mediated by glutathione *S*-transferase) are recognised as playing an important role in the detoxification of reactive intermediates produced by CYP450 enzyme reactions. For example, following CYP450 mediated bioactivation of aflatoxin B₁, the reactive epoxide aflatoxin B₁-9-9-oxide is then able to undergo phase II conjugation with glutathione (Hinson and Kadlubar, 1988; Ketterer *et al.*, 1988). This conjugation prevents the reactive epoxide binding to DNA, playing a key role in cellular defense. The GSH conjugate is excreted.

Bioactivation of Cylindrospermopsin

Several lines of evidence point toward the involvement of CYP450 derived metabolites in cylindrospermopsin toxicity. *In vivo*, liver damage is consistently reported as originating within the centrilobular region of the hepatic lobule (refer to Section 1.5.1). Pathological lesions are commonly described as being centrilobular - involving cells surrounding the centrilobular vein, or peripheral - involving cells in the periportal region of the lobule. CYP450 enzymes are present at higher concentrations in the cells of the centrilobular region than of the periportal region (Gooding *et al.*, 1978) and hence more susceptible to the toxic effects of CYP450 metabolites. Consisitent with this observation, activity of the CYP450 enzyme system was subsequently demonstrated to be important for development of cylindrospermopsin toxicity both *in vitro* in hepatocyte culture (Runnegar *et al.*, 1995b) and *in vivo* in Quackenbush mice (Norris *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore cylindrospermopsin is more toxic to primary rat hepatocytes than to the KB epithelial carcinoma cell line (Chong *et al.*, 2002) or to HeLa cell types (Shaw *et al.*, 2000). It has been suggested that these differences in toxicity may be explained on the basis of lower or absent CYP450 activity in the cell lines. On the other hand, *in vivo* toxicology studies show that cylindrospermopsin produces effects in a variety of organs less likely to metabolize the toxin than the liver. The activity (albeit lower) of cylindrospermopsin to cell types other than hepatocytes has also been demonstrated *in vitro*. The possibility exists that cylindrospermopsin is active both in the form in which it is consumed, and after bioactivation to a more toxic metabolite in the hepatocytes of the liver.

Protein synthesis inhibition by cylindrospermopsin was first demonstrated in reticulocyte lysates. It is known that erythrocytes (mature reticulocytes) are a cell type deficient in the CYP450 system (Guengerich and Shimada, 1991). This indicates that protein synthesis inhibition by cylindrospermopsin in reticulocyte lysates is likely to occur without prior bioactivation of the toxin. The question is then raised; does protein synthesis inhibition occur independently of metabolite mediated toxicity in hepatocytes? Studies with hepatocyte cultures have linked toxicity and GSH depletion with CYP450 dependent metabolite formation (Runnegar *et al.*, 1995b), but the role of metabolites in protein synthesis inhibition has not been explored.

1.8 Project Rationale

Cylindrospermopsin toxicology appears complex. An important lesion is within the liver. Although a number of events have been explored, their progression leading to hepatotoxicity is not well understood. Questions have been raised concerning the extent to which protein synthesis inhibition contributes to cylindrospermopsin toxicity; the importance of oxidative stress in mediating hepatotoxicity; and whether biotransformation products are involved in the toxic process. The primary aim of the work described in this thesis was to clarify which processes are critical to toxicity.

The experimental protocols used in this work involved the use of *in vitro* mammalian cell models and purified cylindrospermopsin. Primary hepatocytes in culture were shown to be a suitable tool for elucidating the mechanisms of hepatocyte cell toxicity induced by cylindrospermopsin and was the model of choice in this project also. To investigate protein synthesis inhibition in greater detail a reticuloctye lysate was utilized. The work was motivated by two broad hypotheses:

- protein synthesis inhibition is not solely responsible for cylindrospermopsin toxicity in hepatocytes, and
- cylindrospermopsin-derived metabolites produce effects other than protein synthesis inhibition that contribute to toxicity.

The specific aims of the work described in this thesis were:

- To purify cylindrospermopsin from cyanobacterial extracts (Chapter 2).
- To assess the potency and mechanism by which cylindrospermopsin inhibits protein synthesis. This was investigated *in vitro* using reticulocyte lysates (Chapter 3).
- Using a primary hepatocyte culture model, to investigate the mechanisms involved in cylindrospermopsin toxicity. This involved investigating the contribution of protein synthesis inhibition to hepatocyte cell death (Chapter 4); Investigating the role of glutathione dyshomeostatsis and lipid peroxidation in toxicity (Chapter 5); and assessing the involvement of CYP450 metabolites in protein synthesis inhibition and toxicity (Chapter 6).

2 PURIFICATION OF CYLINDROSPERMOPSIN

2.1 Introduction

In order to effectively evaluate the toxicological properties attributable to cylindrospermopsin a purified sample was required. While recent advances have led to the chemical synthesis of active cylindrospermopsin (Xie et al., 2000), to date, cylindrospermopsin used in experimental protocols has been purified from cyanobacterial cell extracts (Banker et al., 1997; Banker et al., 2001; Humpage et al., 2000a; Runnegar et al., 1994; Runnegar et al., 1995b; Terao et al., 1994). This has been achieved by High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) with or without prior clean-up of the extract by flash chromatography and/or size exclusion chromatography. Upon purification, a mass of 415 Daltons and UV absorbance maximum at 262 nm are used to confirm the identity of the toxin (Ohtani et al., 1992). The UV absorbance maximum of cylindrospermopsin at 262 nm reflects the presence of the uracil group in the toxin structure. Since potential nucleoside contaminants also exhibit similar UV absorbance spectra, Harada et al. (1993) suggest monitoring the ratio of the UV absorbance maxima at 200 and 262 nm for confirmation of cylindrospermopsin (2:1 ratio respectively). Eaglesham et al. (1999) utilized the characteristic fragmentation patterns of cylindrospermopsin on HPLC-MS / MS (HPLC coupled to tandem mass spectrometry) for their identification and quantification procedure. Estimations of purity of the toxin have been carried out using nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) analyses (Harada et al., 1993).

The procedures used for purification and identification of cylindrospermopsin have also led to the identification of cylindrospermopsin-related compounds including the non-toxic analog deoxycylindrospermopsin (deoxy-CYN) (Norris *et al.*, 1999) and the toxic enantiomer 7-*epi*-cylindrospermopsin (7-*epi*-CYN) (Banker *et al.*, 2001). Deoxy-CYN is known to elute from a reverse-phase HPLC column at approximately double the retention time of cylindrospermopsin, and can be identified by it's mass, 399 Daltons, and characteristic HPLC-MS / MS fragmentation pattern (Norris *et al.*, 1999). The 7-*epi*-CYN is reported to elute at a shorter retention time than cylindrospermopsin by reverse-phase HPLC and is distinguished from cylindrospermopsin by optical rotation (Banker *et al.*, 2000). Both compounds are reportedly present in cyanobacterial extracts as a minor fraction in comparison to cylindrospermopsin.

This chapter describes the extraction, HPLC purification and subsequent characterization of cylindrospermopsin from lyophilized *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* culture for use in the current research project.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Materials

All solvents used were of HPLC grade. *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* strain AWT205 was obtained as lyophilized culture from Dr Peter Hawkins of AWT EnSight, Sydney, Australia. A cylindrospermopsin standard, characterised by HPLC-MS / MS (Eaglesham *et al.*, 1999) was used as reference material.

2.2.2 Preparation of Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii Culture Extracts

Following the procedure described by Hawkins *et al.* (1997), a 10 mg/ml *C.raciborskii* extract was prepared in 5% acetic acid by repeated ultrasonication (6 x 20 sec, 50W) using a Braun Labsonic 1510 Sonicator. The extract was clarified by centrifugation in a benchtop microfuge (14,000 g, 10 min) and filtered through a 0.2 μ m Minisart® filter unit (Sartorius, Germany) in preparation for loading onto the HPLC.

2.2.3 HPLC Purification of Cylindrospermopsin from C.raciborskii Extracts

The HPLC method employed for cylindrospermopsin analysis was essentially as described by Harada *et al.* (1993). The HPLC system consisted of a LC1150pump (GBC), a series 1100 UV-VIS detector (Hewlett Packard) and a manual injector. The *C.raciborskii* extract was applied to a μ Bondapak C18 reverse phase preparative column (7.8 mm x 300 mm, 10 μ m particle size) with C18 guard column. Samples were eluted with isocratic 5% methanol at a flow rate of 2 ml/min and UV detection at 262 nm. Fractions were collected in accordance with the retention time of the cylindrospermopsin standard.

Alternatively, cylindrospermopsin was purified on a HPLC system which consisted of a Waters 600 Controller, 996 photodioarray (PDA) detector and a manual injector. In this case extracts were applied to an Activon GoldPak ExsilTM C18 preparative column (20 mm x 250 mm, 5 μ m particle size), eluted at 2 ml/min in 5% methanol with monitoring at 262 nm. Fractions were collected and processed as described above. Eluate containing cylindrospermopsin was lyophilized and re-suspended in MilliQ water prior to characterization.

2.2.4 HPLC Analysis of Purified Cylindrospermopsin

Characterization of purified cylindrospermopsin was carried out on an analytical column (Alphabond C18 300 mm x 3.9 mm, 10 μ m, Alltech), on either of the two HPLC systems detailed in Section 2.2.3. Isocratic 5% methanol was used at a flow rate of 0.75 ml/min to elute the samples and peaks were detected at 262 nm.

A standard curve was constructed with cylindrospermopsin reference material and samples were quantified using the linear regression of HPLC peak area vs quantity of cylindrospermopsin (Figure 2.1).



Figure 2.1 Representative standard curve for cylindrospermopsin determination by UV-HPLC. Peak area (mean \pm SE, n = 3) was monitored at 262 nm. Linear regression, slope = 49260, Y intercept = -3289, $r^2 = 0.98$.

2.2.5 HPLC-MS / MS Analysis of Cylindrospermopsin

HPLC-MS / MS analysis of cylindrospermopsin was carried out by Queensland Health Scientific Services as described by Eaglesham *et al.* (1999). Transition of the cylindrospermopsin M + H ion (416 m / z) to the 194 m / z fragment was monitored for quantification. The 194 m / z fragment is (M-C₅H₆N₂O₃)-SO₃ + H⁺ (Norris *et al.*, 1999).

2.3 Results

Cylindrospermopsin was purified from the *C.raciborskii* culture in several batches. Details are provided for the batch purified 'May2000' and are representative of the results obtained in each instance. HPLC analysis of the *C.raciborksii* extract revealed several peaks absorbing at 262 nm (Figure 2.2). Collection of the fraction containing cylindrospermopsin was sufficient to purify the toxin to a single HPLC peak (Figure 2.3(a)) with UV spectrum exhibiting the characteristic absorbance at 262 nm and 2:1 ratio of 200 and 262 nm peaks (Figure 2.3(b)). As detailed in Table 2.1 the HPLC estimate of toxin purity was 93% and similar cylindrospermopsin quantifications were obtained by both HPLC and HPLC-MS/MS. The yield of toxin obtained was 0.1% of the total *C.raciborskii* dry weight, and 24% of the theoretical toxin content based upon HPLC-MS / MS analysis of the extract.

C.raciborskii extract	
Dry weight	1.2 g
Toxin content (HPLC-MS / MS analysis)	4µg CYN/mg dry wt
Total toxin present	4.8 mg
Cylindrospermopsin yield	
Total CYN yield	1.15 mg
Yield as % <i>C.raciborskii</i> dry weight	0.1%
Yield as % of expected toxin content	24%
Cylindrospermopsin analyses	
Quantification - HPLC	125 μM
Quantification – HPLC-MS / MS	152 μM
Purity estimate by HPLC	93%
DAD scan: ratio of 200 nm to 260 nm peak	2:1

Table 2.1 Details of cylindrospermopsin yield and analysis for toxin batch 'May2000'.



Figure 2.2 HPLC chromatogram (262 nm) illustrating separation of the *C.raciborskii* extract on the preparative column. The cylindrospermopsin peak at 13.47 min is indicated.



Figure 2.3. Analysis of purified cylindrospermopsin (a) HPLC chromatogram (262 nm) of the purified cylindrospermopsin sample and (b) the UV spectra (200-300 nm) of the peak.

2.4 Discussion

The HPLC purification procedure from *C.racibroskii* extract provided toxin samples identified as cylindrospermopsin by UV absorbance maxima and mass spectra analyses. The material was assessed to be of high purity by HPLC. Low product yields restricted purity estimation by alternative methods such as Nuclear Magnetic Resonance (NMR) imaging. Harada *et al.* (1993) records that NMR analysis of purified cylindrospermopsin exhibiting a single HPLC peak reveals the presence of amino acid (phenylalanine and tyrosine) and nucleoside (cytidine and uridine) contaminants. Similarly, the presence of the amino acid phenylalanine has also been noted from other HPLC purified cylindrospermopsin samples from our laboratory when sufficient material has been available for NMR analysis (personal communication, Dr A Humpage). While the presence of such contaminants cannot be excluded from the current preparation, these substances are largely inert in toxicological terms and would not be expected to contribute to cytotoxicity.

Previously reported yields of cylindrospermopsin from dry weight of cyanobacterial culture range from 0.09% (Harada *et al.*, 1993) and 0.1% (Banker *et al.*, 2000) to 0.5% (Ohtani *et al.*, 1992). A similar yield to Harada *et al.* (1993) and Banker *et al.* (2000) was obtained by the procedure used in this study. However only a quarter of the toxin present in the extract was recovered. Enhanced recovery may be achieved by improvement of the chromatography. To date efforts to define a column type and mobile phase composition which enhances the retention and hence separation of this toxin have been hampered by its hydrophilic nature and resulted in varying conditions used by different researchers. Alternatively, synthetic cylindrospermopsin may provide a pure source of the toxin in the future.

3 INHIBITORY EFFECTS OF CYLINDROSPERMOPSIN ON CELL-FREE PROTEIN SYNTHESIS: POTENCY AND MODE OF ACTION

3.1 Introduction

The synthesis of protein from mRNA (translation) can be carried out *in vitro* using a variety of cell-free extracts (Olliver and Boyd, 1998; Olliver *et al.*, 1998). Of these, reticulocyte lysates have found many applications in studying the eukaryotic process of translation and understanding its regulation (Clemens, 1984; Jackson and Hunt, 1983; Olliver and Boyd, 1998). The potency and mechanism of action of various protein synthesis inhibitors including cycloheximide (Obrig *et al.*, 1971), pactamycin and emetine (Lodish *et al.*, 1971) have been elucidated in this system. More recently reticulocyte lysates have been used to dissect effects on translation by compounds with potential therapeutic value (Ahuja *et al.*, 2000; SirDeshpande and Toogood, 1995).

Terao *et al.* (1994) reported that cylindrospermopsin was a potent inhibitor of protein synthesis with complete inhibition of globin synthesis in reticulocyte lysates observed at 50 ng ml⁻¹ (120 nM cylindrospermopsin). Although comparisons were made to cycloheximide *in vivo* these observations cannot be related to their relative potencies as translation inhibitors. Terao *et al.* (1994) compared the extent of fat accumulation in the liver (a common response to inhibition of protein synthesis) after administration of cylindrospermopsin and cycloheximide. As noted in Chapter 1, mechanisms other than protein synthesis inhibition can coexist to contribute to fat accumulation. These include the alkylation of lipoproteins, effects on intrahepatic lipid (triglyceride) metabolism, or increased arrival of precursors from outside the hepatocyte (Dianzani, 1991). Hence the relative potencies of the translation

inhibitors remains unknown. There have been no further investigations into the effects of cylindrospermopsin on translation.

The process of translation is complex and there are many sites at which a toxin could interact (Hershey et al., 1986). Translation can be separated into three stages, initiation, elongation and termination. Briefly, the first phase, *initiation* is the joining of the 40S and large 60S subunits of the ribosome, mRNA, and initiation factors to form an initiation complex (Merrick et al., 1986). Elongation is the major phase of protein synthesis, involving the sequential addition of amino acids to the peptide chain. It involves the cyclic repetition of aminoacyl-tRNA binding to the ribosome, formation of a peptide bond between two adjoining amino acids, and the movement of the ribosome along the mRNA (Mathews and van Holde, 1991). Protein elongation factors are involved, and energy in the form of guanosine triphosphate is required. Upon reaching a stop codon, translation is terminated. Release factors facilitate the dissociation of the protein synthesis machinery. The newly synthesized peptide and the tRNA are released, the ribosome dissociates into its subunits and mRNA is also released. The protein synthesis machinery can then be used in the next round of translation.

The kinetics of amino acid incorporation after the addition of inhibitors to reticulocyte lysates can be used to readily distinguish whether a toxin interferes with initiation or elongation (Clemens, 1984). Upon addition to an active system, elongation inhibitors are capable of immediately arresting translation. In contrast an initiation inhibitor must wait for the ongoing translation to complete and the protein synthesis machinery to dissociate before associating with it. They inhibit the formation of the initiation complex, and prevent the next round of translation. Thus during study of the time course of toxin effects, a lag phase is seen. Initiation inhibitors include pactamycin (Lodish *et al.*, 1971) and pyrocatechol violet (Huang and Grollman, 1973). Elongation inhibitors include emetine and cycloheximide (Jimenez, 1976; Willingham *et al.*, 1981).

The aims of this Chapter were to (1) assess the potency of cylindrospermopsin in comparison to a known protein synthesis inhibitor; and (2) investigate the mechanism by which cylindrospermopsin interrupts translation (ie. at initiation or elongation stage).

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Protein Synthesis Inhibitors

Cylindrospermopsin (CYN) was purified as described in Chapter 2. Pyrocatechol violet (PCV) and cycloheximide (CHEX) were both obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MI, USA). The structures of the inhibitors are shown in Figure 3.1.

3.2.2 Translation Procedure

In vitro protein synthesis (translation) was performed using commercially prepared rabbit reticulocyte lysate obtained from Promega Corporation (Madison, WI, USA) with minor adaptation of the manufacturers instructions. Translation mixes (25 μ l or 50 μ l) were prepared on ice, and comprised 70% rabbit reticulocyte lysate, 20 μ M unlabelled amino acids and 3.5 μ Ci [³H]-L-Leucine, (140 Ci/mmol, NENTM Life Sciences, Boston, MA, USA). RNasin® Ribonuclease inhibitor (Promega) was added at a final concentration of 1 unit / μ l. All reactions were made up to volume using sterile Milli Q water. Reactions were preincubated for 5 min at 30°C prior to the initiation of translation.

Luciferase mRNA (Promega) was denatured for 3 min at 65°C to destroy local regions of secondary structure and increase the efficiency of translation. The denatured mRNA was cooled briefly on ice prior to use. Each translation reaction was initiated by the addition of 40 μ g / ml mRNA. Reactions were incubated at 30°C for the duration of the experiment. A negative control (no mRNA) was processed with each experiment.



cylindrospermopsin





cycloheximide

pyrocatechol violet

Figure 3.1 Structures of protein synthesis inhibitors.

3.2.3 Post Translation Analysis

Protein synthesis was measured by determining the extent of [³H]-Leucine incorporation into trichloroacetic acid (TCA) insoluble material as described by Clemens (1984). Samples (5 μ l) of the incubation mix were withdrawn and pipetted onto 2.2cm² Whatman No1. Filter paper. The filter papers were washed successively for 15 min each in (1) ice-cold 5% TCA, (2) 5% TCA at 90°C, and (3) 5% TCA at room temperature. The filter papers were then washed for ~1 min each in absolute ethanol and then acetone before they were allowed to dry. 40 μ l of 10% hydrogen peroxide was spotted on to each sample to prevent colour quenching during scintillation counting. Dried filter papers were placed in 3 ml Ready Protein+TM (Beckman Coulter, CA, USA) scintillation fluid. Samples were counted for 5 min in a Beckman LC3801 Scintillation counter. The dpm response was calculated based upon a predefined quench curve using Beckman quench standards.

3.2.4 Potency – Concentration Response Curves

Three independently purified and quantified cylindrospermopsin stocks were used to construct a protein synthesis inhibition concentration-response curve in reticulocyte lysates. Similarly, 3 independently prepared cycloheximide stock solutions were used to construct a concentration-response curve. The lot number of reticulocyte lysate remained constant throughout. Serial toxin dilutions were prepared in Milli Q H₂O. For each sample tested, 2.5 μ l of toxin was added to a 25 μ l translation reaction. The reaction mix was pre-incubated for 5 min at 30°C in the presence of the toxin prior to initiation of the translation reaction with mRNA. Samples were incubated for 30 min at 30°C. At the time of completion, 5 μ l samples were withdrawn and processed for incorporation of [³H]-Leucine into trichloroactetic acid (TCA) insoluble material as described in Section 3.2.3. Each translation reaction was assayed in duplicate. Assay results were reported as % protein synthesis inhibition in toxin treated samples with respect to the control (Milli Q water). The control reaction was taken to represent 100% protein synthesis, that is, 0% inhibition.

3.2.5 Mode of Action- Time Course Experiments

Optimization

Trial time-course experiments with control translation reactions revealed that incorporation of $[{}^{3}H]$ -Leucine was linear for approximately 15 min after the initiation of translation with mRNA (data not shown). Following this time, the rate of $[{}^{3}H]$ -Leucine incorporation decreased dramatically (data not shown). Supplementation of the reaction mix with cold L-Leucine (unlabelled) to increase the final concentration of L-Leucine to equal that of other amino acids in the reaction mix (20 μ M), failed to prolong the duration of $[{}^{3}H]$ -Leucine incorporation. To compensate, time course experiments were carried out within a 15 min time period during which amino acid incorporation and hence translation was linear.

Time Course Experiments

Stock solutions of protein synthesis inhibitors were prepared in sterile Milli Q. water. Translation reactions (50 µl) were prepared as described in Section 3.2.2. Translation was initiated by the addition of mRNA, and 5 µl samples were taken at 2 min intervals for t = 0, 2, 4 min. Immediately after the 4 min sample was taken, inhibitors (or MilliQ water) were added to translation reactions to give a final concentration of 1 mM pyrocatechol violet, 10 µM cycloheximide or 10 µM cylindrospermopsin in the reaction mix. Samples were taken at 2 min intervals until the end of the incubation period. All samples were processed for incorporation of [³H]-Leucine into trichloroactetic acid (TCA) insoluble material as described in Section 3.2.3.

3.2.6 Statistical Analysis

Graph Pad Prism version 3.00 for Windows, (GraphPad Software, SanDiego, CA, USA) was used for all statistical tests and graphing.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Potency

Both cylindrospermopsin and cycloheximide displayed sigmoidal concentration response curves (variable slope) for inhibition of protein synthesis in reticulocyte lysates (Figure 3.2). The inhibition displayed by the two toxins was not in parallel. As illustrated, and further detailed in Table 3.1, cylindrospermopsin ($IC_{50} = 120$ nM) was at least three times more potent than cycloheximide ($IC_{50} = 368$ nM). The potency of cylindrospermopsin was further exaggerated at levels of inhibition greater than the IC_{50} reflecting the steep concentration response curve. The slope factor for cylindrospermopsin was 5 times that of cycloheximide (3.0 and 0.6 respectively). Despite different potencies and slope factors, both toxins elicited the same maximal response, completely abolishing protein synthesis.

3.3.2 Mode of Action

The protein synthesis inhibitors pyrocatechol violet and cycloheximide were chosen due to their selective inhibition of the initiation and elongation steps of protein synthesis respectively. Their responses were compared to the effects of cylindrospermopsin. Upon addition to an active translation system, cylindrospermopsin produced immediate inhibition of translation (Figure 3.3), confirming that it inhibits elongation. Cycloheximide also caused immediate inhibition. In contrast, a 2 min lag phase was observed before the effects of pyrocatechol violet became evident. These results are consistent with pyrocatechol violet allowing the completion of ongoing translation before blocking *de novo* protein synthesis.



Toxin concentration (nM)

Figure 3.2 Sigmoid concentration response curves for inhibition of protein synthesis by cylindrospermopsin ($R^2=0.98$) and cycloheximide ($R^2=0.94$) in reticulocyte lysates. Data are mean \pm SE, $n \ge 3$.

	cylindrospermopsin	cycloheximide
IC ₅₀ (95% C.I.)	120 nM (110-130)	368 nM (316-626)
Slope	3.0	0.6

Table 3.1 Parameters of the protein synthesis inhibition concentration response curves. Comparison of toxin potency and curve slope factors. Data are mean \pm SE, n \geq 3.



Figure 3.3 The effect of cylindrospermopsin (CYN), cycloheximide (CHEX) and pyrocatechol violet (PCV) on translation in reticulocyte lysates. The reaction was initiated by the addition of mRNA (t = 0) and incubated at 30°C. After 4 min incubation inhibitors were added (arrow). At each time point 5 μ l aliquots were removed for post translation analysis. Data are mean \pm SE, n = 3.

3.4 Discussion

Potency reflects both the affinity (for a receptor) and efficacy (ability to cause response) of a toxin. In this study cylindrospermopsin was demonstrated to have greater potency in arresting translation than the well known protein synthesis inhibitor cycloheximide. While we cannot conclude if cylindrospermopsin has a higher affinity or efficacy on the ribosomes (or both) from the data obtained in this study, comparison of their chemical structures (Figure 3.1) may provide some explanation. The activity of cycloheximide is related to the nitrogenous glutarimide ring in the structure, related glutarimide antibiotics are also active protein synthesis inhibitors (Obrig *et al.*, 1971). The similarity of the glutarimide ring and position of hydroxyethyl in cycloheximide to the hydroxymethyl uracil of cylindrospermopsin is noted (Figure 3.1). Given the biological role of uracil, it is not surprising that this would exhibit both higher affinity and efficacy at the ribosomes than cycloheximide's glutarimide structure, thereby explaining its steep concentration response curve. As mentioned previously, toxicological studies point toward the hydroxymethyluracil being an important contributor to cylindrospermopsin toxicity.

While both cylindrospermopsin and cycloheximide inhibit the elongation step in translation, it is possible that the toxins mediate their inhibition through different sites. Inhibition of polypeptide elongation can either result from the inhibition of aminoacyl-tRNA delivery, inhibition of peptidyltransferase (enzyme involved in peptide bond) or inhibition of translocation (movement of the ribosome along the mRNA) (Hershey *et al.*, 1986; Lodish, 1976). Cycloheximide is known to bind to the 60S ribosome subunit and prevent translocation (Jimenez, 1976). Further investigation into the mechanism by which cylindrospermopsin interferes with the elongation step will require a detailed biochemical analysis with fractionated reticulocyte lysate components.

4 INHIBITION OF PROTEIN SYNTHESIS BY CYLINDROSPERMOPSIN IN HEPATOCYTE CULTURE

4.1 Introduction

To explore the role of protein synthesis inhibition in cylindrospermopsin hepatotoxicity primary hepatocyte culture was employed as an *in vitro* model. The capacity of isolated hepatocytes in monolayer culture (primary hepatocytes) to maintain normal liver-specific functions over short term incubations provides a valuable research tool. They have been used extensively for investigating the mechanisms of xenobiotic hepatotoxicity (Rauckman and Padilla, 1987), and have been demonstrated as a suitable model for studying the mechanisms of cylindrospermopsin induced injury (Runnegar *et al.*, 1994; Runnegar *et al.*, 1995b). Within our laboratory, *in vivo* cylindrospermopsin toxicology studies have been carried out using Swiss Albino mice (Falconer *et al.*, 1999; Falconer and Humpage, 2001). To maintain consistency Swiss Albino mice were also chosen for the isolation of hepatocytes in this study.

A number of observations on cylindrospermopsin-induced protein synthesis inhibition are described in this Chapter. Continuous exposure experiments were conducted to determine the concentration-response and time frame for protein synthesis inhibition in relation to hepatocyte cell death. While providing information on the relationship between the two parameters, these experiments also provide the basis for further hepatocyte culture work resported in subsequent Chapters.

A short-term exposure experiment was also employed to determine whether damage to the protein synthetic system induced by cylindrospermopsin could be reversed following toxin removal. For this experiment the response of cylindrospermopsin was compared to cycloheximide and emetine, established reversible and irreversible inhibitors of protein synthesis respectively. Recovery of protein synthesis after removal of cycloheximide has been demonstrated in number of cell types including HeLa cells (Liao *et al.*, 1976), primary rat hepatocytes (Helenek *et al.*, 1982) and rat pancreas cells (Garcia-Barrado *et al.*, 2001). In contrast, the effects of emetine are prolonged. After 30 min exposure of HeLa cells to emetine and its removal, protein synthesis did not recover over the subsequent 2 hr incubation period (Liao *et al.*, 1976). Similarly, the irreversible nature of the protein synthesis inhibition induced by emetine has also been demonstrated in other cell types including rat macrophages (Antoni *et al.*, 1986).

Finally, the effect of cylindrospermopsin on protein synthesis in hepatocytes was compared to the effect in a cell-free system (reticulocyte lysate).

4.2 Materials and Methods

4.2.1 Materials

Cylindrospermopsin was purified as described in Chapter 2. Cycloheximide and emetine dihydrochloride were obtained from Sigma Aldrich (St Louis, MI, USA).

4.2.2 Animals

Swiss Albino mice were bred and supplied by the Adelaide University Animal Services Facility. Animals were housed in the Medical School Animal House, Adelaide University. Mice were kept in groups of animals up to 8 per cage, and were fed laboratory ration L103 (Ridley Agriproducts, Pty Ltd) and water *ad libitum*. They were maintained on a 12 hr light/dark cycle at 19 - 23°C.

Animal Ethics Approval

Approval was obtained from the Adelaide University Animal Ethics Committee (Ethics number M/76/98) prior to the commencement of experiments using mice.

4.2.3 Preparation and Culture of Hepatocytes

Sources of chemicals, along with solution recipes and media compositions used for the isolation and culture of hepatocytes are detailed in Appendix 1. Solutions were sterilized by autoclaving or passage through a 0.2 µm Minisart® filter unit (Sartorius, Germany). Glassware was sterilized by autoclaving. Aseptic techniques were used throughout.

Hepatocytes were isolated from adult male Swiss Albino mice (30-35 g) by a modification of the two-step collagenase perfusion procedure introduced by Seglen (1972, 1976). The perfusion was retrograde via the inferior vena cava as is recommended for mouse given the small size of the liver (Berry *et al.*, 1991). The perfusion tubing was flushed with 70% ethanol followed by sterile M.Q. H₂O and then primed with the first perfusion medium in preparation for use. Perfusion media were pre-equilibrated in a 37°C water bath. The surgical instruments and the surgery area were sprayed with 70% ethanol prior to the commencement of the procedure.

Mice were administered 50 U (50 μ l) of the anticoagulant heparin (CSL Ltd, Australia) and 100-150 μ l of the sedative Nembutal® (60 mg/ml, Rhone Merieux Australia Pty Ltd) in a single intraperitoneal injection. Upon anaesthesia, the abdomen was moistened with 70% ethanol and the abdominal cavity opened from pubis to sternum, along the midline. Incisions were made perpendicular to the midline cut, to expose the abdominal cavity. Using forceps the subhepatic inferior vena cava was isolated and freed from the underlying connective tissue. Two silk threads were then passed underneath and loosely knotted around the vein. The vena cava was cannulated, secured into position with one thread, and then ligated distally with the second thread. The thoracic vena cava was occluded and the portal vein severed.

The liver was perfused with Ca^{2+} -free Krebs-Henseleit medium for 5 min at 4 ml/min. Collagenase perfusion in Ca^{2+} supplemented medium then followed for 6-8 min, until the liver leaked liquid through the capsule.

Upon completion, the gall bladder was removed, the liver excised and placed into ~20 ml of Krebs-Henseleit wash medium. Work then proceeded in a laminar flow hood. The liver was transferred into clean wash medium (~20 ml). The hepatic epidermis was opened with scissors and the hepatocytes were gently scraped into the medium with a spatula. The cell suspension was passed through a layer each of 200 µm and 100 µm (pore size) nylon mesh and into a 50 ml centrifuge tube. The mesh was washed with media until the total volume reached 45 ml. The suspension was centrifuged at 50 x g for 2 min at room temperature. The supernatant was aspirated and the pellet resuspended in 45 ml of wash medium. The centrifugation and wash was repeated twice. If required a 200 µl sample was taken prior to the final centrifugation for determination of Trypan Blue exclusion and cell counts as described below. After the final wash, the pellet was resuspended in an appropriate volume of DMEM/F12 supplemented with 1% BSA, 50 U/ml of Penicillin, 50 µg/ml Streptomycin, 100 nM Insulin and 1 µM Hydrocortisone. Cells (~5 x 10⁶) in 1.5-2 ml medium were plated on 36 mm collagen-coated dishes and incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂. Two to three hours after plating, the medium was removed, cells washed with 2 ml Hanks Buffered Salts Solution (HBSS) to remove dead, unattached cells and 2 ml DMEM/F12 supplemented as described Incubation continued at 37°C, 5% CO₂ in the presence of above was added. cylindrospermopsin or other test chemicals or appropriate vehicle (control).

Collagen Coating of Cell Culture Dishes

The substrata for monolayer hepatocyte culture was provided by coating cell culture dishes (Sarstedt, Australia) with rat tail collagen. Type I collagen from rat tail tendons was purified essentially as described in Berry *et al.* (1991). Rat tails were obtained frozen from the Department of Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology, Adelaide University. The tails were thawed, cleaned with 70% ethanol and the skin removed. Each tail was cut into 3-4 cm lengths and the collagen fibres removed using forceps. The fibres were placed into 0.1%

Inhibition of Protein Synthesis in Hepatocyte Culture

acetic acid and stirred overnight at 4°C. The dissolved collagen then was dialysed against 1 mM HCl, 3% chloroform overnight at 4°C. The purified collagen was lyophilized and resuspended as 10 mg/ml stock in sterile M.Q. H₂O as required. Just prior to plating the collagen stock was diluted to 2.5 mg/ml in 20% ethanol. Dishes were coated with 15-20 μ g collagen /cm² by spreading an appropriate volume (200 μ l for 36 mm dish) over the plate.

Alternatively purified Type I rat tail collagen was obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MI USA). Collagen was dissolved in 0.1 M glacial Acetic Acid (1 mg/ml) and used to coat cell culture dishes at 10 μ g collagen /cm² after 1:1 dilution with 50% ethanol.

Inclusion of ethanol in the collagen coating procedures markedly improved the evenness of plate coverage. After coating, dishes were dried in the laminar flow hood and UV irradiated 20 min for sterilization prior to use.

Cell Counts and Assessing the Integrity of the Cell Preparation.

For cell counts, cells were examined under the light microscope and counted using a haemocytometer. Conversion of counts to number of cells/ml provided an estimate of the number of cells loaded onto each dish.

For a rapid assessment of cellular integrity, Trypan Blue exclusion was determined as detailed by Berry *et al.* (1991). 10 μ l 2% Trypan Blue in 0.15 M NaCl was diluted in 100 μ l of cell suspension. After a 1 min incubation, cells excluding or stained with Trypan Blue were counted. Cell preparations routinely exhibited 70%-80% Trypan Blue exclusion prior to seeding. While higher exclusion rates would have been desirable, subsequent observation of the cell culture revealed that >90% of the cells loaded were attached to the cell culture dish and the hepatocytes remained viable for at least 18 hr by assessment of LDH leakage.

Cell morphology assessments were made by phase contrast microscopy (Olympus CK2 microscope) after attachment to collagen (2-3 hr incubation). Suitable hepatocyte preparations displayed spherical or oval cells exhibiting distinct, highly refractile cell

membranes, with obvious contrast between the cytoplasm and nucleus. Conversely, damaged cell preparations were typified by irregularly shaped cells of granular appearance.

4.2.4 Lactate Dehydrogenase Leakage Assay

Cellular viability was assessed by measuring the amount of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) released from the hepatocytes into the cell culture medium. At designated time points aliquots of cell culture medium were taken to assay for LDH leakage. At the end of the incubation, the total volume removed was replaced with DMEM/F12. The hepatocyte monolayer was scraped into the medium to produce a cell suspension, and 200 μ l was transferred to a microcentrifuge tube. An equal volume of Triton X-100 (1% v/v) was added to lyse the cells before mixing via agitation over the next 30 min. The mix was centrifuged for 1 min at 10,000 g, and the resultant supernatant used to assay total LDH.

LDH was assayed as described by Bergmeyer (1983). To a 1.5 ml cuvette, 1.2 ml of Tris/L-lactate Buffer (112 mM Tris, 56 mM L-Lactate, 170 mM KCl, pH 9.3) was added, followed by 50 μ l of 172 mM β -NAD and 100 μ l sample. The increase in absorbance at 340 nm was followed for 1 min in a Hitachi U-2000 Spectrometer. The LDH activity in each sample was calculated as U/L, where U is defined as the enzyme required to produce 1 μ mol NADH per minute. Results were expressed as LDH activity (U/L) in the medium as a percentage of the total LDH activity (U/L) in cells plus medium.
4.2.5 Protein Synthesis Assay

Incorporation of [³H]-Leucine into trichloroacetic acid (TCA) precipitate was used to determine the extent of protein synthesis by minor modification of the procedure described by Freshney (1994). Hepatocytes were incubated with 1 μ Ci [³H]-Leucine (140 Ci/mmol, NEN[™] Life Sciences, Boston, MA, USA) per ml of medium. At the appropriate time the medium was removed, cells were washed with HBSS (2 ml), and then 500 μ l ice-cold 10% TCA was added. The monolayer was scraped into the TCA, transferred to a microcentrifuge tube and centrifuged at 5,000 g for 5 min. The supernatant was removed and the 10% TCA wash repeated twice on the pellet. After the final wash, pellets were digested in 250 μ l of 0.3 M NaOH at 37°C for ~1hr or until digestion was complete. Next, 200 µl of the cell digest was transferred to 5 ml of Ready Protein+TM (Beckamn Coulter, CA, USA) scintillation fluid. Samples were counted for 5 min in a Beckman LC3801 Scintillation counter. The disintegrations per minute (dpm) response was calculated based upon a pre-defined quench curve using Beckman quench standards. The remaining 50 µl of cell digest was retained for DNA quantification (Section 4.2.6). Results were expressed as dpm/µg DNA. For t=0 reading, hepatocytes were treated with [³H]-Leucine on ice. A negative control (no [³H]-Leucine) was also processed with each experiment to determine background dpm counts. For toxin-treated hepatocytes, $[^{3}H]$ -Leucine was added at the same time as the toxin.

4.2.6 DNA Quantification Assay

DNA was quantified using the method of Labarca and Paigen (1980). This assay utilizes the enhancement of fluorescence observed when Hoechst 33258 binds to DNA. The original buffer was modified to accommodate samples in 0.3 M NaOH, and allow quantification in a 96 well microtitre plate.

The assay buffer consisted of 0.2 M Tris, 0.2 M NaCl, 1 mM EDTA and 1 mg/ml H33258 pH 7.4. Samples (5 μ l) were added to 195 μ l of buffer and mixed with a pipette tip. Samples were analysed on a fluorescence microplate reader with excitation $\lambda = 356$ nm and emission $\lambda = 458$ nm or as near to the wavelength maxima as possible. The assay was optimized on the following fluorescence microplate readers: Biolumin 960 (Molecular Dynamics); Perkin Elmer Luminescence Spectrometer LS50B with Perkin Elmer plate reader; POLARStar Galaxy (BMG Lab Technologies). Each data set was completed on one microplate reader. Calf Thymus DNA (Boehringer Mannheim, Germany) in 0.3 M NaOH was used to construct a standard curve (Figure 4.1). Standards were run on each day of analysis in triplicate.



Figure 4.1 DNA standard curve. Hoechst 33258 fluorescence was measured at 460 nm (excitation was at 355 nm) using a POLARstar Galaxy (BMG Lab Technologies) microplate reader. Linear regression, slope = 0.092, Y intercept = 0.077, $r^2 = 0.98$. Data are mean \pm SE, n = 3.

4.2.7 Statistical Analysis

Graph Pad Prism version 3.00 for Windows, (GraphPad Software, SanDiego, CA, USA) was used for all statistical tests and graphing. Analysis of data was by 1 way analysis of variance (ANOVA) at each time point. If a significant variance ratio was noted, the data were further analysed by Dunnett's test for comparison to control only, or Tukey's test if comparison to control and other experimental groups was required. Statistical significance was accepted at P < 0.05.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Hepatocyte Morphology after Cylindrospermopsin Treatment

Cylindrospermopsin exposure produced concentration and time dependent alterations in hepatocyte morphology. Treatment with 5 μ M toxin caused progressive rounding of hepatocytes from 12-18 hr until most displayed the characteristics shown in Figure 4.2. Although rounded, hepatocytes did not form a smooth sphere. The cell membrane was often irregular and the cytoplasm was granular in appearance. Most hepatocytes were still attached to the substratum. Occasionally a few hepatocytes appeared unaffected. In contrast, by 18 hr in culture the control hepatocytes were well attached and spread out on the substratum, forming connections with adjacent hepatocytes. The cell membrane was smooth, cytoplasm was clear and the nuclei were visible.



a.

b.

Figure 4.2 Morphology of (a) control and (b) 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin treated hepatocytes after 18 hr incubation at 37 °C, 5% CO₂. Cells were visualized by phase contrast microscopy using an Olympus CK2 microscope. Magnification X 250.

4.3.2 Effect of Cylindrospermopsin on Cell Viability

Exposure to cylindrospermopsin caused concentration dependent loss of hepatocyte viability as assessed by LDH leakage. A significant increase in LDH leakage at 18 hr was observed after treatment of hepatocytes with a concentration of 1 μ M or greater (Figure 4.3). 1 μ M toxin resulted in 52 ± 8% LDH leakage (27% increase above control) while 5 μ M caused 82 ± 8% LDH leakage (57% increase above control).

4.3.3 Time Course for LDH Leakage after Exposure to Cylindrospermopsin

The time course for LDH leakage after cylindrospermopsin exposure illustrated a delayed onset of toxicity (Figure 4.4). LDH leakage from hepatocytes exposed to 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin (the highest test concentration) increased after 10 hr of exposure to the toxin. Up to and including this point the LDH levels closely resembled the controls.



Figure 4.3 Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) leakage from hepatocytes exposed to cylindrospermopsin (CYN) for 18 hr. Values represent mean \pm SE of 4 independent experiments. The data were analysed by one-way ANOVA (repeated measures) followed by Dunnett's test. Significant differences from control are indicated as $\star \star \star$ (p<0.001).



Figure 4.4 Time course for lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) leakage from hepatocytes exposed to 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin (CYN). Values represent mean \pm SE of 4 independent experiments. The data were analysed by one-way ANOVA (repeated measures) followed by Dunnett's test. Significant difference from control at the defined time point is indicated $\star \star \star$ (p<0.001).

4.3.4 Effect of Cylindrospermopsin on Protein Synthesis

Protein synthesis in hepatocytes was expressed as $[{}^{3}H]$ -Leucine incorporation per μg DNA. Significant inhibition of protein synthesis was observed after treatment of hepatocytes for 18 hr with a concentration of 0.5 μ M cylindrospermopsin or greater (Figure 4.5). The extent of inhibition over the 10-fold concentration range 0.5-5 μ M varied only slightly, with these concentrations producing 74% - 88% inhibition compared to the control respectively. Protein synthesis after treatment with 0.1 μ M cylindrospermopsin was similar to the control.

4.3.5 Time Course for Protein Synthesis Inhibition after Cylindrospermopsin Exposure

The time course in Figure 4.6 illustrates that protein synthesis inhibition induced by cylindrospermopsin occurred early in the 18 hr incubation period. For concentrations 0.5-5 μ M cylindrospermopsin, inhibition was maximal by 4 hr, so that no further protein synthesis occurred during the subsequent 4-18 hr period. This was confirmed statistically by linear regression. No significant deviation from zero was observed for protein synthesis over this period for the 0.5-2.5 μ M treatments. The insert in Figure 4.6 shows the linear regression data for cells treated with 0.5 μ M cylindrospermopsin over 4-18 hr (r² = 0.002). Although 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin inhibited protein synthesis to the greatest extent at all time points, linear regression revealed a significant deviation from zero (r² = 0.72, data not shown). This can be explained on the basis of DNA quantifications. A significant decline in cellular DNA occurred over time for the 5 μ M treated group. At 18 hr the DNA quantification was 4.67 \pm 1.15 μ g DNA/plate in contrast to 8.5 \pm 1.73 μ g DNA/plate for the controls.



Figure 4.5 Inhibition of protein synthesis in hepatocytes exposed to cylindrospermopsin (CYN) for 18hrs. Values represent mean \pm SE of 3-4 independent experiments. The data were analysed by one-way ANOVA followed by Dunnett's test. Significant differences from control are indicated as $\star \star \star (p < 0.001)$.



Figure 4.6 Time course for the inhibition of protein synthesis in hepatocytes by cylindrospermopsin (CYN). Values represent the mean \pm SE of 3-4 independent experiments.

4.3.6 Is the loss of Hepatocyte Viability a Result of Protein Synthesis Inhibition?

Comparison of the concentration response and time course graphs for LDH leakage and protein synthesis after cylindrospermopsin exposure (Sections 4.3.2 to 4.3.5), reveals that significant inhibition of protein synthesis occurred at a non toxic cylindrospermopsin concentration of 0.5 μ M, (compare Figure 4.3 to Figure 4.5) and well prior to the onset of LDH leakage produced by 1-5 μ M concentrations of cylindrospermopsin (compare Figure 4.4 to Figure 4.6). Overlaying the 18 hr concentration response curves, expressed as a percentage control viability or protein synthesis, clearly illustrates the unrelated nature of the two cellular responses (Figure 4.7). As shown, 0.5-5 μ M toxin extensively inhibit protein synthesis, all maximally for at least 14 hr (refer to the time course in Figure 4.6), while causing a clearly graded response to loss of cellular viability.



Figure 4.7 Loss of viability and protein synthesis in hepatocytes exposed to varying concentrations of cylindrospermopsin (CYN) for 18 hr. All values are mean \pm SE of 3-4 independent experiments.

4.3.7 Irreversible Inhibition of Protein Synthesis after Short-Term Exposure to Cylindrospermopsin

Exposure of hepatocytes to cylindrospermopsin (5 μ M), cycloheximide (10 μ M) or emetine (10 μ M) for 1 hr inhibited protein synthesis by 70 ± 11%, 91 ± 3.6% and 94 ± 1.7% respectively (mean ± SE of 3 experiments). Following removal of the toxin and washing of hepatocytes (twice with phosphate buffered saline (PBS)), protein synthesis was followed for 2 hr in fresh culture medium. At the end of the incubation period, both cylindrospermopsin and emetine treated cells had not regained the ability to carry out protein synthesis (Figure 4.8). They were both significantly different from the control (1 way ANOVA, followed by Tukey's test at 120 min, p<0.001) and cycloheximide pre-treated hepatocytes (p<0.01). In contrast, after removal of cycloheximide, hepatocytes regained the ability to carry out protein synthesis at a similar rate observed for the controls (no significant difference). There was no significant difference between cylindrospermopsin and emetine treated hepatocytes.



Figure 4.8 Protein synthesis in hepatocytes after toxin removal. After 1hr incubation with cylindrospermopsin (CYN), cycloheximide (CHEX) or emetine, hepatocytes were washed twice with PBS, and the culture medium replaced. Values are mean \pm SE for 3 independent experiments. The data were analysed by 1 way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test at 120 min and showed significant differences between control and CYN or emetine treated hepatocytes (p<0.001), and between CHEX and CYN or emetine treated hepatocytes (p<0.01).

4.3.8 Inhibition of Protein Synthesis in Hepatocytes and Reticulocyte Lysates: Comparison of Concentration-Response Curves.

Since 0.5-5 μ M cylindrospermopsin was found to maximally inhibit protein synthesis in hepatocytes after 4 hr (Figure 4.6), the concentration-response curve was re-adjusted to exclude the protein synthesis occurring prior to this time point. The extent of protein synthesis from 4-18 hr was calculated for each treatment and expressed as a percentage of the control. Protein synthesis inhibition in the reticulocyte lysate was analysed as detailed in Section 3.3.1.

Comparison of the inhibition of protein synthesis in a hepatocyte (cellular) and reticulocyte lysate (cell-free) model illustrates the similarity of the concentration-response curves (Figure 4.9). Both displayed a steep concentration-response curve and a similar effective concentration range. The IC₅₀ for protein synthesis inhibition in hepatocyte culture was ~200 nM, approximately 2 fold that determined in the reticulocyte lysate (120 nM).



Figure 4.9 Inhibition of protein synthesis by cylindrospermopsin (CYN) in a cellular (hepatocyte) vs cell-free (reticulocyte lysate) model. All values are mean \pm SE for 3-4 experiments. The reticulocyte lysate IC₅₀ was calculated from the sigmodal concentration response curve (variable slope) as described in Chapter 3. The hepatocyte IC₅₀ was estimated from the available data.

4.4 Discussion

The concentration-response and time course for LDH leakage from mouse hepatocytes exposed to cylindrospermopsin in this study was similar to that described by Runnegar *et al.* (1994) in rat hepatocytes. Following the establishment of toxicity parameters, it was demonstrated that protein synthesis inhibition in hepatocytes was a sensitive, early indicator of cellular responses to cylindrospermopsin, occurring at non-toxic cylindrospermopsin concentrations and well prior to the onset of toxicity at higher concentrations. The protein synthesis inhibition occurred over a remarkably similar concentration range to that observed in reticulocyte lysates and could not be reversed following removal of the toxin.

Supportive of the hypothesis that protein synthesis inhibition is not solely responsible for cylindrospermopsin toxicity in hepatocytes (see General Introduction, Chapter 1) was the observation that cylindrospermopsin caused a concentration-dependent increase in LDH leakage at 18 hr over a concentration range eliciting maximal inhibition of protein synthesis (an effect that was fully evident from at least 4hr). This reveals that the two parameters are not influenced in parallel. If protein synthesis is inhibited to the same extent in hepatocytes exposed to 0.5 μ M cylindrospermopsin and higher concentrations, other cylindrospermopsin-induced effects must contribute to the toxic process in order to produce the concentration-dependent response. It was considered unlikely that the hepatocyte cell death over the time frame investigated was due to protein synthesis inhibition and that the difference in toxicity observed over the tested concentration range was merely a time-delay effect, depending upon how rapidly protein synthesis was completely inhibited within the first few hours of toxin exposure.

Characteristic of the protein synthesis inhibition by cylindrospermopsin in hepatocytes was the delayed response occurring within the first 4 hr of exposure to the toxin. The extent of delay was concentration dependent. This may be a reflection of the mechanism of uptake of the toxin. Transport of chemicals across the hepatocyte plasma membrane can occur directly by diffusion or via membrane transporters. Active uptake is mediated by distinct transporters; bile salt and anionic transporters that are either Na+-dependent or Na+-independent and

Inhibition of Protein Synthesis in Hepatocyte Culture

organic cation transporters (Lecureur *et al.*, 2000). The broad multi substrate specificities of anion transport systems also allows the entry of some xenobiotics (Frimmer and Ziegler, 1988; St-Pierre *et al.*, 2001). To date, only one paper has explored the potential entry routes of cylindrospermopsin into hepatocytes or other cell types. Chong *et al.* (2002) demonstrated that partial protection against cylindrospermopsin toxicity in rat hepatocytes was afforded by coincubation with high concentrations of bile acid salts, the normal substrate for the bile acid transporter system. This protection however, was not maintained over time. This suggested that the bile acid transporter system plays some role in cylindrospermopsin transport into hepatocytes, but that another uptake route also contributes. The subsequent incubation of the epithelial carcinoma cell line KB with cylindrospermopsin resulted in cell death despite the lack of the bile acid transporter in this cell type. The conclusion reached was that passive diffusion is a likely mechanism of uptake by cylindrospermopsin into hepatocytes and other cell types. The current observations of protein synthesis inhibition in this Chapter are consistent with passive diffusion as the entry mechanism of cylindrospermopsin into hepatocytes. The rationale for this is discussed below.

The process of active uptake is rapid, and works against a concentration gradient, accumulating the toxin within the cell. The active uptake of microcystin, facilitated by an anion transporter system similar to the bile acid transporter system (Runnegar et al., 1995a), demonstrates these attributes. It has been shown that after incubation of hepatocytes with radiolabelled microcystin (17 nM) for 60 min, the intracellular microcystin concentration reaches 0.9 μ M, 80 times the original medium concentration (Runnegar *et al.*, 1991). Other researchers have reported that the uptake of radiolabelled microcystin into rat hepatocytes reaches a plateau within 5-6 min (Eriksson et al., 1990a). In contrast, the ultimate result of passive diffusion is that the concentration of diffusing substance is in equilibrium on both sides of the membrane, and the rate of transport is proportional to the concentration difference. As shown, the effective concentration range for protein synthesis inhibition by cylindrospermopsin was remarkably similar in hepatocytes to that obtained in the cell-free reticulocyte lysate. If cylindrospermopsin was actively taken up and concentrated in hepatocytes, it would have been expected that the effective concentration in hepatocyte culture was lower when compared to the cell-free system. Furthermore, since the rate of transport by passive diffusion is proportional to the concentration difference across a

Inhibition of Protein Synthesis in Hepatocyte Culture

membrane, higher concentrations on one side of the membrane will reach a defined concentration on the other side more rapidly than that obtained by a lower dose. If we consider 0.5 μ M cylindrospermopsin the minimum concentration required to completely inhibit protein synthesis in hepatocytes, incubation of cells with 5 μ M toxin will reach an internal threshold concentration of 0.5 μ M and achieve total inhibition of protein synthesis more rapidly than in cells incubated with e.g. 1 μ M cylindrospermopsin. Thus the concentration-dependent inhibition of protein synthesis within the first 4 hr of exposure to cylindrospermopsin can be explained on the basis of passive diffusion.

While both the conclusions reached above are indirect, they suggest passive diffusion as the major mechanism of entry into hepatocytes, and support the observations of Chong *et al.* (2002). Further conclusive information may be obtained in the future using radiolabelled cylindrospermopsin in hepatocyte culture.

While cylindrospermopsin may enter hepatocytes by diffusion, clearly it does not readily diffuse out. Removal of cylindrospermopsin after a short term (1 hr) exposure did not allow protein synthesis to recommence. The behaviour of cylindrospermopsin was similar to emetine, a known irreversible inhibitor of protein synthesis. Association of cylindrospermopsin with the protein synthesis machinery may also be irreversible. The results presented in Chapter 3 in reticulocyte lysate demonstrated that cylindrospermopsin potently inhibited protein synthesis, and differences between the concentration-response curve to that of the reversible inhibitor cycloheximide were noted. However, irreversible effects may extend beyond protein synthesis inhibition. Runnegar et al. (1995b) showed that after exposure of hepatocytes to cylindrospermopsin for 12 hr, continued presence of the toxin was not required during the late phase (12-17 hr) of toxicity. While extensive damage may have occurred by 12 hr that was unable to be reversed, another possibile explanation is that cylindrospermopsin derived metabolite(s) remain intracellular after removal of the parent toxin, thereby prolonging the toxin's effects. This could explain both the irreversible protein synthesis inhibition and results demonstrated by Runnegar et al. (1995b).

The results described in this Chapter have raised a number of issues for further investigation. If protein synthesis inhibition cannot be considered the primary cause of

cytotoxicity in hepatocytes over an acute time frame, what other factors contribute to the cell death? Chapter 5 investigates the role of oxidative stress in cylindrospermopsin toxicity.

Futhermore, the similarity of cylindrospermopsin's protein synthesis potency in metabolically active hepatocytes and metabolically inert reticulocyte lysate indirectly suggests that the protein synthesis inhibition may be due to cylindrospermopsin itself, and independent of the action of potential (unidentified) metabolite(s) in hepatocytes. This is further investigated in Chapter 6.

5 THE ROLE OF OXIDATIVE STRESS IN CYLINDROSPERMOPSIN-INDUCED TOXICITY. HEPATOCYTE CULTURE STUDIES

5.1 Introduction

Oxidative stress can be defined as a disturbance in the prooxidant-antioxidant balance in favour of the former with potential for injury (Sies, 1997). For a number of chemicals, oxidative stress plays a critical role in the mechanism of toxicity. Xenobiotics can induce an oxidative stress by a number of mechanisms including: overproduction of reactive oxygen species such as the superoxide anion radical (O'2-), hydrogen peroxide (H2O2) and the hydroxyl radical (OH); production of radical metabolites (e.g. carbon tetrachloride derived radicals); weakening cellular antioxidant defence mechanisms; or a combination of these events (Recknagel et al., 1991). The antioxidant defence mechanisms used to counteract reactive species include Vitamin E, superoxide dismutase, catalase and the GSH dependent systems. As discussed in Chapter 1, the most crucial intracellular antioxidant defence mechanism is dependent upon GSH (refer to Figure 1.7) and cylindrospermopsin treatment is known cause its depletion in hepatocytes via inhibition of GSH synthesis (Runnegar et al., 1994; Runnegar et al., 1995b). Decreasing or overwhelming the antioxidant defence mechanisms provides potential for the oxidative deterioration of membrane lipids, which can be initiated by some radical species. Due to the destructive nature and toxicity of end products, lipid peroxidation is often proposed as a mechanism of toxicity (Horton and Fairhurst, 1987). Lipid peroxidation products with toxic potential include a number of unsaturated aldehydes such as malondialdehyde (MDA) and 4-hydroxynonenal (Esterbauer, 1982). In many cases oxidative stress caused by GSH depletion results in lipid peroxidation (Recknagel et al., 1991).

Oxidative Stress in Cylindrospermopsin Hepatotoxicity

This chapter investigates the consequences of cylindrospermopsin-induced GSH depletion in hepatocyte cultures. It is hypothesized that following decline in GSH levels, enhanced lipid peroxidation occurs producing toxic products that amplify the toxic process. Malondialdehyde production, a commonly used measure of lipid peroxidation (Jentzsch *et al.*, 1996; Liu *et al.*, 1997; Poli and Gravela, 1982), was assayed after toxin exposure. Furthermore, if reactive oxygen species and oxidative mechanisms are involved in cylindrospermopsin toxicity, the activity of the glutathione peroxidase / glutathione reductase (GSH-Px / GSSG-Rd) enzyme system (see Figure 1.7) would be important in protecting against the toxicity. In order to investigate the role of this enzyme system in the toxicity process, 1,3-bis (chloroethyl)1-nitrosourea (BCNU) was used to inhibit GSSG-Rd activity and further compromise the cells ability to cope with oxidative stress. Inhibition of GSSG-Rd activity in hepatocytes is known to potentiate the toxicity of compounds that induce damage via oxidative mechanisms. Examples of such chemicals include the analgesic acetaminophen (paracetamol) (Adamson and Harman, 1993); the herbicide diquat (Tsokos-Khun, 1988) and the aryl halide bromobenzene (Coleman *et al.*, 1990).

In this study, *tert*-butylhydroperoxide (*t*-BH) was used as a positive control as it induces oxidative damage. The onset of *t*-BH cytotoxicity in hepatocytes is preceded by GSH depletion and extensive lipid peroxidation (Jewell *et al.*, 1986; Masaki *et al.*, 1989).

5.2 Materials and Methods

5.2.1 Materials

Glutathione (GSH) and *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*-BH) were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MI USA). 1,3-bis (chloroethyl)-l-nitrosourea (BCNU) was obtained from Bristol Laboratories (NJ USA). Butylated hydroxytoluene (BHT) was obtained from ICN Biochemicals (OH, USA). Cylindrospermopsin was purified from *C.raciborskii* extracts as described in Chapter 2.

5.2.2 Preparation of Cultured Hepatocytes

The isolation and culture of Swiss Albino mouse hepatocytes for use in this study was as detailed previously in Section 4.2.3.

5.2.3 Measurement of Toxicity

Toxicity was measured by the leakage of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) from hepatocytes as detailed in Section 4.2.4.

5.2.4 Glutathione Determination

Glutathione (GSH) levels were determined based on the fluorometric method of Hissin and Hilf (1976). This method utilizes the reaction of GSH with the fluorescent reagent *o*phthalaldehyde. The original buffer was modified to allow quantification by assay in a 96 well microplate.

To process hepatocyte monolayers for the GSH assay, the cell culture medium was first removed and the cells washed with HBSS (2 ml). 500 μ l of 3% perchloric acid (PCA) was added to each 36 mm dish. The monolayer was scraped into the PCA, transferred to a microcentrifuge tube and centrifuged at 5000 g for 5 min to pellet the cells. The supernatant was removed for GSH determination while the pellet was retained for DNA quantification as described in Section 4.2.6.

The assay buffer consisted of 0.2 M Tris, 0.2 M NaCl and 1 mM EDTA (pH 8.0). To maintain pH at 8.0 in the above buffer system, PCA samples were neutralised with NaOH (16 μ l of 2.5 M NaOH to every 100 μ l 3% PCA sample). 200 μ l of Buffer, 50 μ l of NaOH treated PCA sample and 10 μ l of 1mg/ml *o*-phthalaldehyde stock prepared in methanol were loaded sequentially into microplate wells. The reaction mix was incubated at room temperature for 20 min and then fluorescence determined at excitation $\lambda = 340$ nm, emission $\lambda = 420$ nm on a Biolumin 960 (Molecular Dynamics) microplate reader. The GSH content of the cells was expressed as ng GSH / μ g DNA. On each day of analysis, a GSH standard curve was constructed using reduced GSH (Figure 5.1). Standards were analysed in triplicate.



Figure 5.1 Representative glutathione (GSH) standard curve. Fluorescence was monitored at 420 nm (excitation was at 340 nm). Data are mean \pm SE, n = 3. Linear regression, slope = 0.78, Y intercept = -1.3, r² = 0.93.

5.2.5 Malondialdehyde Assay

The lipid peroxidation product malondialdehdye (MDA) was assayed using the BIOXYTECH® LPO-586TM kit obtained from OXIS International, Inc (Portland, OR, USA). The procedure was carried out with minor modification of the manufacturer's instructions. The assay is based on the reaction of N-methyl-2-phenylindone with MDA to yield a chromophore that absorbs strongly at 586 nm (Gérard-Monnier *et al.*, 1998).

To determine cellular MDA levels in hepatocyte culture, the cell culture medium was removed and the hepatocyte monolayer was washed with 20 mM Tris Buffer (pH 7.4). Cells were scraped from the bottom of the dish using a cell scraper (costar®, MA, USA) and into 100 μ l 20 mM Tris Buffer containing 5 mM butylated-hydroxytoluene (BHT) to prevent further sample oxidation. To provide adequate sensitivity in MDA assay, the contents of three 36 mm hepatocyte dishes were pooled for each sample. Samples were sonicated on ice for 3 x 20 s at 50W using a Braun Labsonic 1510 Sonicator. Samples were then centrifuged at 3000 g for 5 min. The supernatant was used for MDA determination as described below. The remaining sample (mostly pellet) was precipitated in 2 washes of 10% TCA and digested in 0.3 M NaOH for DNA quantification as previously described in Section 4.2.6. Results were expressed as ng MDA/ μ g DNA for each sample.

For assay, a 300 μ l sample or standard was added to 650 μ l of 2.5 mM N-methyl-2phenylindole in a mixture of acetonitrile/methanol (3:1). The reaction was started by the addition of 150 μ l of 37% HCl (12 N). Samples were vortexed briefly, and then tubes were capped and incubated for 60 min at 45°C. The samples were then clarified by centrifugation (15,000 g, 10 min), transferred to a 1 ml cuvette before the absorbance at 586 nm was measured against a blank (20 mM Tris buffer). The contribution of the hepatocyte sample to A₅₈₆ was negligible (sample blank).

Due to the instability of MDA itself, the diethylacetal 1,1,3,3-tetramethoxypropane (TMOP) was used as the source of MDA. It is hydrolysed to MDA during the 60 min incubation at 45°C in the presence of HCl. TMOP standards were prepared in 20 mM Tris

Buffer to generate a standard curve of 0.6-9 μ M TMOP final concentration in the reaction mix (Figure 5.2). The slope of the observed standard curve was within 5% of that expected based on the molar extinction coefficient (ϵ) of MDA (110,000) and was used to calculate the concentration of MDA in each sample. A buffer blank was included with each assay set.



Figure 5.2 Malondialdehdye standard curve generated with the diethylacetal standard, 1,1,3,3-tetramethoxypropane (TMOP). Data are mean \pm SE, n = 3. Linear regression, slope = 0.10, Y intercept = 0.0078, r² = 0.99.

5.2.6 Inhibition of GSSG-Rd Activity

Glutathione disulphide reductase (GSSG-Rd) activity was inhibited by treatment of hepatocytes with 1,3-bis(chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU) as described by Adamson and Harman (1989). BCNU was dissolved in ethanol. Hepatocytes were exposed to 100 μ M BCNU (0.5% ethanol) for 30 min followed by a 2 hr recovery incubation in BCNU-free media. Cells were then exposed to cylindrospermopsin or *t*-BH for the required incubation period. Vehicle (0.5% ethanol) treated hepatocytes were used as the control.

5.2.7 Statistical Analysis

Graph Pad Prism version 3.00 for Windows, (GraphPad Software, SanDiego, CA, USA) was used for all statistical tests and graphing. Analysis of data was by 1 way analysis of variance (ANOVA) at each time point. If a significant variance ratio was noted, the data were further analysed by Dunnett's test for comparison to control only or Tukey's test if comparison to control and other experimental groups was required. Where two experimental groups only were present a t-test was used to analyse the data. Statistical significance was accepted at P < 0.05.

5.3 Results

5.3.1 Glutathione Depletion

Glutathione (GSH) depletion in hepatocytes exposed to cylindrospermopsin was both concentration and time dependent. Significant depletion of GSH at 18 hr was observed after treatment of hepatocytes with a dose of 1 μ M cylindrospermopsin or greater (Figure 5.3). Extensive GSH depletion was observed over the concentration range 1-5 μ M. After 18 hr, mean GSH levels were reduced to 14% and 6% of control levels (176 ± 78 ng GSH/ μ g DNA) by 1 μ M and 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin treatments respectively (Figure 5.3). The concentrations of cylindrospermopsin inducing significant GSH depletion correspond closely to those concentrations causing significant elevation of LDH levels at the same time point (refer to Figure 4.3).

The time course for GSH depletion in cells treated with 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin is shown in Figure 5.4. Over the 18 hr incubation period, mean control GSH levels were maintained within 130-210 ng GSH/ μ g DNA. In contrast, for 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin treated hepatocytes, GSH was maintained at control levels up until 4 hr only. Following this time, the GSH level progressively decreased to the very low levels evident at 18 hr. A significant reduction in GSH compared to controls was observed after 10 hr in culture. As observed previously at 10 hr, no toxicity (LDH leakage) was evident at this time point (refer to Figure 4.4).



Figure 5.3 Concentration response for glutathione (GSH) depletion in hepatocytes exposed to cylindrospermopsin (CYN) for 18hrs. Values represent mean \pm SE of 4 independent experiments. The data were analysed by one-way ANOVA (repeated measures) followed by Dunnett's test. Significant differences from control are indicated as \star (p<0.05) or $\star\star\star$ (p<0.001).



Figure 5.4 Time course for glutathione (GSH) depletion in hepatocytes exposed to 5μ M cylindrospermopsin (CYN). Values at 18 hrs are mean ± SE of 4 independent experiments. All other values are mean ± SE of 5 independent experiments. The data were analysed by one-way ANOVA (repeated measures) followed by Dunnett's test. Significant differences from respective control are indicated as \star (p<0.05) or $\star \star \star$ (p<0.001).

5.3.2 Analysis of Lipid Peroxidation Products

As demonstrated in the previous section, significant GSH depletion occurs in hepatocytes exposed to 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin for 10 hr, prior to the onset of LDH leakage. To implicate lipid peroxidation products as a cause, rather than a result of cell death, it was required to investigate the extent of lipid peroxidation prior to the onset of LDH leakage. Exposure of hepatocytes to 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin for 12 hr was chosen as an appropriate concentration and time point for malondialdehyde (MDA) measurement. At this time, GSH levels in cylindrospermopsin treated hepatocytes were expected to be <50% of the control and declining. No LDH leakage was expected. The effect of BCNU pre-treatment on MDA formation was also examined at this time point.

After exposure of hepatocytes to 5μ M cylindrospermopsin for 12 hr, MDA levels were comparable to control levels (Figure 5.5a). A similar response was observed for hepatocytes pretreated with BCNU prior to 5μ M cylindrospermopsin exposure. In contrast, treatment of hepatocytes with 0.25-1 mM *t*-BH for 30 min demonstrated a concentration-dependent increase in MDA to 3 fold the control levels (Figure 5.5b). This increase in MDA was observed without significant loss of cellular integrity (Table 5.1). The MDA levels in control hepatocytes analyzed either after 30 min or 12 hr incubation remained comparable, 58 ± 48 and 68 ± 15 pmoles MDA/ µg DNA respectively (compare controls in (b) and (a) of Figure 5.5).



Figure 5.5 Malondialdehyde (MDA) levels in control and toxin treated hepatocytes. (a) After exposure to 5μ M cylindrospermopsin (CYN) for 12 hr with or without BCNU pretreatment (100 μ M, 30 min). Values are mean \pm SE for 3 independent experiments (b). Generation of MDA after 30 min exposure to 0.25-1 mM *t*-BH. Values are mean \pm SE of 4 independent experiments. Data was analysed by 1 way ANOVA (repeated measures) followed by Dunnett's test. Significant differences from control are indicated as \star (p<0.05) or $\star \star \star$ (p<0.001).

Treatment	LDH leakage (% total)
Control (untreated)	7 ± 1.2
0.25 mM <i>t</i> -BH	21 ± 6.2
0.5 mM <i>t</i> -BH	17 ± 2.0
1 mM <i>t</i> -BH	15 ± 3.8

Table 5.1 LDH leakage from hepatocytes exposed to 0-1 mM *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*-BH) for 30 min. Values are mean \pm SE from 3 independent experiments.

5.3.3 Effect of GSSG-Rd Inhibition on Toxicity

In order to exclude the possibility that lipid peroxidation mediated effects after cylindrospermopsin treatment remained undetected in Section 5.3.2 due to either (1) the measurement of MDA at one time point only (12 hr) or (2) the instability of free MDA over a prolonged incubation period, an alternative approach was adopted. The effect of GSSG-Rd inhibition (BCNU pretreatment) on the development of cylindrospermopsin toxicity (LDH leakage) was investigated over 12-18 hr. Although the effects of BCNU are reportedly irreversible over a 24 hr period in mouse hepatocytes (Adamson and Harman, 1989), the effectiveness of BCNU pretreatment over 12-18 hr period was first confirmed in the current hepatocyte culture system. The positive control t-BH was used.

Effect of GSSG-Rd Inhibition on t-BH Toxicity

The effect of GSSG-Rd inhibition on the development of t-BH toxicity was assessed 12 hr post BCNU pretreatment. As shown in Figure 5.6, BCNU pretreatment significantly enhanced toxicity of t-BH. The inhibition of GSSG-Rd resulted in a more rapid onset of t-BH toxicity over time, significantly different from control at both 30 and 60 min. This confirms that inhibition of GSSG-Rd potentiates toxicity of a compound when oxidative damage is involved in the toxicity process. In addition, it confirms that the effects of BCNU remain 12-13 hr after the initial 30 min treatment to achieve GSSG-Rd inhibition. This time frame is critical for the development of cylindrospermopsin toxicity.



Figure 5.6 Potentiation of *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (*t*-BH) toxicity in hepatocytes by inhibition of GSSG-Rd with BCNU. Hepatocytes were pretreated with 100 μ M BCNU or vehicle for 30 min followed by a 2 hr recovery period. After 12 hr incubation, each treatment group was challenged with 1 mM *t*-BH and toxicity development assessed by LDH leakage over 30-60 min. Values are mean ± SE of 3 independent experiments. Data was analysed by paired t-test (two tailed). Significant differences are indicated as \star (p<0.05).

Effect of GSSG-Rd inhibition on the Development of CYN Toxicity

The inhibition of GSSG-Rd by BCNU pretreatment did not affect the development of cylindrospermopsin toxicity (Figure 5.7). Treatment with 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin (BCNU or vehicle pretreatment) significantly elevated LDH levels at 18 hr from the BCNU or vehicle controls (all \star P < 0.05, one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test). However, the slight increase in LDH leakage after 12 hr exposure to 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin in BCNU pretreatment hepatocytes was not significantly different from the cylindrospermopsin toxicity was observed between BCNU and vehicle pretreated hepatocytes over the 14-18 hr period (one-way ANOVA). The BCNU treatment alone did not induce toxicity over the 18 hr incubation period.



Figure 5.7 Effect of GSSG-Rd inhibition on LDH leakage from hepatocytes treated with 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin (CYN). Hepatocytes were pretreated with BCNU to inhibit GSSG-Rd activity or vehicle for 30 min followed by a 2 hr recovery period prior to exposure to CYN. The development of CYN toxicity was followed from 12-18 hr post exposure. Values are mean ± SE of 3 independent experiments.

5.4 Discussion

The depletion of GSH in cylindrospermopsin treated rat hepatocytes prior to the onset of LDH leakage (Runnegar et al., 1994) led to the suggestion that oxidative damage may be involved in its mechanism of toxicity. In the current study oxidative damage was assessed by determining the extent of lipid peroxidation following the fall in GSH levels and investigating any involvement of the GSH-Px / GSSG-Rd enzyme system in protecting against cylindrospermopsin toxicity. Consistent with the results of Runnegar et al. (1994) cylindrospermopsin produced clear time and concentration-dependent GSH depletion in mouse hepatocytes. All toxic concentrations of cylindrospermopsin caused severe GSH depletion, and significant depletion occurred prior to the onset of LDH leakage. Despite the loss of GSH caused by cylindrospermopsin treatment, lipid peroxidation products did not increase over control levels. Also, compromising the cells ability to cope with oxidative stress by inhibiting GSSG-Rd activity did not alter this response. Furthermore the GSSG-Rd inhibition did not affect the development of cylindrospermopsin toxicity over an extended period. These results rule out a major role for lipid peroxidation and oxidative stress in cylindrospermopsin toxicity. In contrast, lipid peroxidation products were readily detected after treatment of hepatocytes with t-BH, and its toxicity was potentiated by GSSG-Rd inhibition.

Runnegar *et al.* (1994) also demonstrated that lowering cell GSH with the transsulfuration inhibitor propargylglycine (PPG), further potentiated GSH depletion induced by cylindrospermopsin and predisposed the hepatocytes to toxic effects. While these results illustrate that GSH plays some role in protecting against cylindrospermopsin induced cell death, the results presented in this Chapter, using BCNU to inhibit GSSG-Rd activity, indicate that the protective role of GSH is not likely to involve it's use during GSSG-Px mediated reactions.

Despite the presence of endogenous initiating species, lipid peroxidation is minimized under normal circumstances due to a range of antioxidant defence mechanisms. A severe depletion of GSH will not necessarily result in the onset of lipid peroxidation. Some

researchers suggest that there is a threshold level below which GSH concentrations must fall before large increases in lipid peroxidation and cell injury occurs. Yet the capacity for the hepatocyte to cope with severely depleted cytosolic GSH stores for extended periods without the onset of lipid peroxidation has been demonstrated. At non-toxic concentrations, diethyl maleate (DEM) can deplete GSH in isolated hepatocytes to below limit of detection (<5% control) for 5 hr without the onset of lipid peroxidation and cell death (Tiermenstein *et al.*, 2000). DEM conjugates directly to GSH without the requirement for metabolic activation.

Alternatively it has been suggested that depletion of the mitochondrial pool of GSH is required for the onset of lipid peroxidation. In the hepatocyte, cytoplasmic GSH constitutes approximately 85% of the total, while 15% is found in the mitochondria. The mitochondrial GSH pool is distinct from that in the cytoplasm with respect to its synthetic rate, turnover and chemical sensitivity (Meredith and Reed, 1982). In isolated rat hepatocytes, the time of onset of MDA production and LDH leakage after treatment with BCNU and adriamycin corresponds to the time of depletion of the mitochondrial GSH pool to less that 10% of the control (Meredith and Reed, 1983). Extensive depletion of the cytoplasmic GSH levels with BCNU alone did not cause MDA production and LDH leakage if the mitochondrial GSH pool was maintained. Similarly, protection of the mitochondrial GSH pool may explain the lack of lipid peroxidation at non-toxic concentrations of DEM despite the severe depletion of cytosolic GSH (Tiermenstein *et al.*, 2000).

In other cases, lipid peroxidation occurs when GSH levels are only partially compromised and may be explained by the formation of xenobiotic-derived radicals that can initiate the peroxidation process. During the progression of *t*-BH toxicity (utilized as a positive control in this study), the oxidation of GSH to GSSG poses an oxidative stress, but it is generation of a *tert*-butyl alkoxyl radical which is implicated as initiating the lipid peroxidation process (Masaki *et al.*, 1989). Leal *et al.* (1998) report a linear increase (0-10 min) in the lipid peroxidation product MDA after treatment of isolated rat hepatocytes with 1 mM *t*-BH. This occurred prior to the onset of toxicity, and GSH levels were approximately 50% of the control during this period. Following the onset of lipid peroxidation the GSH levels declined further and toxicity developed. As previously cited, the trichloromethyl peroxy radical generated through the CYP450 dependent metabolism of carbon tetrachloride is associated with the

onset of lipid peroxidation, yet causes only a minimal reduction in GSH levels (Recknegel et al., 1989).

Chemicals such as paraquat and diquat that increase endogenous reactive oxygen species by redox cycling can also induce lipid peroxidation. Treatment of hepatocytes with paraquat has been shown to decrease GSH levels to approximately 50% of control, followed by a significant elevation of lipid peroxidation and onset of cell death (Sugihara *et al.*, 1995). In some cases compounds that cause redox cycling may only induce lipid peroxidation to a limited extent in hepatocyte culture and in the absence of extensive cytotoxicity until the GSH defence against oxidative stress is compromised. Tsokos-Khun (1988) reports that cytotoxicity of diquat in isolated rat hepatocytes was not observed unless GSSG-Rd activity was inhibited by BCNU treatment.

As described above, the conditions that result in lipid peroxidation vary for different chemicals. A fall in GSH will not necessarily result in lipid peroxidation, although depletion of the mitochondrial pool of GSH may increase this possibility. However, a fall in GSH accompanied by other circumstances such an increase in endogenous reactive oxygen species or generation of radicals via xenobiotic metabolism poses a serious threat to the cell (Recknagel *et al.*, 1991). Although it seemed possible that metabolites generated via the CYP450 dependent metabolism of cylindrospermopsin (subject of Chapter 6) might generate oxidative stress, the present data indicates that this scenario appears unlikely. It would be expected that a putative radical metabolite capable of initiating lipid peroxidation would have increased MDA levels and/or produced enhanced toxic effects after the inhibition of GSSG-Rd activity.

In conclusion, oxidative stress seems to play only a minor role in cylindrospermopsin toxicity in hepatocytes. A loss of GSH clearly occurs in cylindrospermopsin treated cells, but this does not appear to result in elevated levels of lipid peroxidation. However, GSH loss may exaggerate other toxin / metabolite effects. Aside from antioxidant properties discussed, GSH has been reported to be involved in a number of other cellular functions, often where glutathionylated proteins are involved (Sies, 1999). The combination of toxic events induced by cylindrospermopsin is discussed further in Chapter 7 of this thesis.

6 THE ROLE OF CYLINDROSPERMOPSIN DERIVED METABOLITES IN PROTEIN SYNTHESIS INHIBITION AND TOXICITY IN HEPATOCYTE CULTURE

6.1 Introduction

As discussed in Chapter 1, the involvement of CYP450 derived metabolites may explain the hepatotoxicity of cylindrospermopsin, but does not adequately account for its effects in cell types less likely to metabolize the toxin. These observations suggest that cylindrospermopsin is active both unmetabolised and after bioactivation to reactive metabolite(s) in the hepatocyte. To date these events have not been distinguished.

The activity of cylindrospermopin in the reticulocyte lysate indicates that protein synthesis inhibition is likely to occur without prior bioactivation of the toxin. While the CYP450 metabolism of cylindrospermopsin in hepatocytes could potentially generate metabolite(s) capable of inhibiting protein synthesis, current results suggest that the inhibition may be explained by direct action of the toxin and is independent of CYP450 mediated effects. As shown in Chapter 4, protein synthesis inhibition is of similar potency and nature in hepatocyte culture to that described in reticulocyte lysate, despite the different metabolic capabilities of the two systems. Furthermore, the protein synthesis inhibition does not appear to be directly related to the onset of toxicity. Therefore this aim of this Chapter is to investigate the role of metabolites in both protein synthesis inhibition and toxicity in hepatocyte culture. It is hypothesized that inhibition of CYP450 activity in hepatocyte culture will attenuate the toxicity of cylindrospermopsin but will not prevent the cylindrospermopsin-induced protein synthesis inhibition.
Metabolism of Cylindrospermopsin in Hepatocyte Culture

Since evidence exists for the CYP450 modification of cylindrospermopsin in hepatocytes (Runnegar et al., 1995b), exploring this hypothesis for toxicity is the primary focus of the Chapter. However it is also considered that bioactivation of cylindrospermopsin may not be entirely limited to CYP450 activity. A number of other metabolizing enzymes are found in the liver which may also catalyse bioactivation reactions (refer to Section 1.7.3). One puzzling aspect about the CYP450-dependent oxidation of cylindrospermopsin is the suitability of this toxin as a substrate for CYP450 modification. Given that cylindrospermopsin is hydrophilic and the CYP450 enzymes are known to be primarily located within the hydrophobic membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum, a question of bioavailablity is raised. Cylindrospermopsin would seem a more suitable substrate for cytosolic enzyme modification. The activity of cylindrospermopsin is known to be related to the hydroxymethyl uracil group in the toxin's structure (Figure 1.6). Considering then the hydroxymethyl uracil moiety as a potential site for modification, the hydroxyl group on the uracil bridge would be the site most likely to be readily oxidized. This type of oxidation reaction can be carried out by CYP450 enzymes (Guengerich, 2001), and can also be facilitated by cytosolic alcohol dehydrogenase activity (Bosron and Li, 1980). Thus it is possible that alcohol dehydrogenase plays a role in oxidizing cylindrospemopsin.

To explore these hypotheses a number of metabolic inhibitors were employed in hepatocyte culture experiments. CYP450 activity was inhibited with the widely used inhibitors proadifen (SKF525A) and ketaconazole. These inhibitors were chosen as they were known to inhibit a broad range of CYP450 isoforms. Their effectiveness was first confirmed in pilot studies using acetaminophen (paracetamol) as a positive control. It is well established that the hepatoxicity of acetaminophen is associated with its oxidation by CYP450 to from the toxic reactive metabolite *N*-acetyl-*p*-benzoquinone imine (NAPQI) (Dahlin *et al.*, 1984; Holme *et al.*, 1984). In addition, 4-methylpyrazole (4-MP) was used to inhibit alcohol deydrogenase activity, with allyl alcohol used as the positive control (Ohno *et al.*, 1985).

6.2 Materials and Methods

6.2.1 Materials

Proadifen hydrochloride (SKF-525A), 4-methyl pyrazole (4-MP), acetaminophen and allyl alcohol were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St Louis, MI, USA). Ketaconazole was obtained from Janssen Pharmaceuticals (Beerse, Belgium). Cylindrospermopsin was purified from *C.raciborskii* extracts as described in Chapter 2.

6.2.2 Preparation of Cultured Hepatocytes

The isolation and culture of Swiss Albino mouse hepatocytes for use in this study was as detailed previously in Section 4.2.3.

6.2.3 Measurement of Toxicity

Toxicity was measured by the leakage of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) from hepatocytes as detailed in Section 4.2.4. To examine the effect of the inhibitors on cylindrospermopsininduced LDH leakage, toxin concentrations of 2.5 μ M and 5 μ M were chosen as these caused extensive LDH leakage in earlier studies (Chapter 4). LDH leakage was measured 22 hr after cylindrospermopsin treatment.

6.2.4 Protein Synthesis Assay

The extent of protein synthesis in hepatocytes was measured by the incorporation of [3 H]-Leucine into trichloroacetic acid (TCA) precipitate as detailed previously in Section 4.2.5. As detailed in Chapter 4, extensive protein synthesis inhibition occurs at lower cylindrospermopsin concentrations that required to induce toxicity. Therefore to examine the effect of biotransformation inhibitors on cylindrospermopsin-induced protein synthesis inhibition, 0.5 μ M and 1 μ M concentrations were chosen to avoid excess toxin. Protein synthesis inhibition was measured 22 hr after cylindrospermopsin treatment.

6.2.5 Inhibition of CYP450 Activity

CYP450 activity was inhibited by treatment of hepatocytes with proadifen or ketoconazole. Stock solutions of proadifen were prepared in cell culture medium, while ketoconazole was initially dissolved in methanol. The final concentration of methanol in culture media did not exceed 0.5%. Hepatocytes were incubated with 50 μ M proadifen or 50 μ M ketoconazole for 30 min to prior to treatment with cylindrospermopsin or acetaminophen.

6.2.6 Inhibition of Alcohol Dehydrogenase Activity

Alcohol dehydrogenase activity was inhibited by treatment of hepatocytes with 4-methyl pyrazole (4-MP). 4-MP was prepared in cell culture medium immediately prior to use. Hepatocytes were incubated with 100 μ M 4-MP for 30 min prior to treatment with cylindrospermopsin or allyl alcohol.

6.2.7 Statistical Analysis

GraphPad Prism version 3.00 for Windows, (GraphPad Software, SanDiego, CA, USA) was used for all statistical tests and graphing. Analysis of data was by 2-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). When a significant interaction between inhibitor treatment and cylindrospermopsin response was noted, Bonferroni's post-test was used to compare mean response for each cylindrospermopsin concentration. Statistical significance was accepted at P < 0.05.

6.3 Results

6.3.1 Validation of Model

Pilot studies indicated that both 50 μ M proadifen and 50 μ M ketoconazole inhibited CYP450 activity. This was confirmed using the positive control acetaminophen. LDH leakage in hepatocytes challenged with 1 mM acetaminophen for 6 hr was 50%. Pretreatment of hepatocytes with 50 μ M ketaconazole for 30 min reduced the acetaminophen-induced LDH leakage to 8% (values represent mean of 2 independent experiments, data not shown). Similar results were obtained with 50 μ M proadifen. The inhibitor concentrations employed did not cause cause appreciable cytotoxicity to hepatocytes over the time frame required to assess cylindrospermopsin toxicity. LDH leakage from hepatocytes treated with 50 μ M were obtained with 50 μ M proadifen of 2 independent experiments). Similar results were obtained with 50 μ M proadifen from hepatocytes treated with 50 μ M were obtained with 50 μ M proadifen of 2 independent experiments). Similar results were obtained for 24 hr was 27% (mean of 2 independent experiments). Similar results were obtained with 50 μ M proadifen (data not shown).

Pilot studies indicated that 100 μ M 4-MP inhibited alcohol dehydrogenase activity. This was verified using the positive control allyl alcohol. LDH leakage from hepatocytes challenged with 250 μ M allyl alcohol for 2 hr was 73 ± 8.7 % (mean ± SE of 4 independent experiments, data not shown). Pretreatment of hepatocytes for 30 min with 100 μ M 4-MP prior to allyl alcohol reduced LDH leakage to 11 ± 1.3 % (significantly different from controls by t-test, data not shown). Incubation of hepatocytes with 100 μ M 4-MP alone for 24 hr did not cause appreciable cytotoxicity as assessed by LDH leakage. This indicates that concentration of 4-MP employed is appopriate for use over the time frame required to assess cylindrospermopsin toxicity.

6.3.2 Effect of CYP450 Inhibitors on Cylindrospermopsin-Induced Toxicity.

As shown in Figure 6.1, pretreatment with proadifen to inhibit CYP450 activity significantly alleviated cylindrospermopsin induced LDH leakage. Exposure to 2.5 μ M cylindrospermopsin alone resulted in 67 ± 5 % LDH leakage at 22 hr, while pretreatment with proadifen prior to 2.5 μ M toxin reduced the LDH leakage to 30 ± 7% (Figure 6.1). Similarly for the 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin treatment group, exposure to toxin alone resulted in 77 ± 4% LDH leakage at 22 hr, while pretreatment with proadifen reduced the LDH leakage to 45 ± 10%. LDH leakage from the untreated control or proadifen alone was 29 ± 7 % for each treatment group (Figure 6.1).

Inhibition of CYP450 activity with ketoconazole also significantly attenuated cylindrospermopsin induced LDH leakage (Figure 6.2). Exposure to 2.5 μ M cylindrospermopsin produced 65 ± 8 % LDH leakage at 22 hr, and was reduced to 35 ± 4% by pretreatment with ketoconazole (Figure 6.2). Exposure to 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin resulted in 77 ± 4% LDH leakage while pretreatment with ketoconazole reduced the LDH leakage to 40 ± 4 %. LDH leakage from the vehicle control or ketoconazole alone was 29 ± 9 % and 30 ± 5% respectively (Figure 6.2).



Figure 6.1 The effect of proadifen on LDH leakage from hepatocytes treated with cylindrospermopsin (CYN). Hepatocytes were pretreated with 50 μ M proadifen for 30 min prior to CYN (2.5 or 5 μ M) for 22 hr. Values represent mean \pm SE of 4 independent experiments. The data was analysed by 2-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's test. Within each treatment group, a significant difference from the untreated control is indicated as \star (p<0.05) or $\star \star$ (p<0.01).



Figure 6.2 The effect of ketoconazole on LDH leakage from hepatocytes treated with cylindrospermopsin (CYN). Hepatocytes were pretreated with 50 μ M ketoconazole for 30 min prior to CYN (2.5 or 5 μ M) for 22hr. Values represent mean \pm SE of 3-4 independent experiments. The data was analysed by 2-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's test. Within each treatment group, a significant difference from the vehicle control is indicated as $\star \star$ (p <0.01).

98

6.3.3 The Effect of CYP450 Inhibitors on Cylindrospermopsin-Induced Protein Synthesis Inhibition.

In contrast to the effect of proadifen on cylindrospermopsin-induced LDH leakage (Section 6.3.2), this CYP450 inhibitor did not significantly alter the inhibition of protein synthesis (Figure 6.3). Treatment with 0.5 μ M and 1 μ M cylindrospermopsin alone for 22 hr diminished protein synthesis to 25% and 18 % of the untreated control level (3403 ± 489 dpm / μ g DNA) respectively (Figure 6.3). The extent of protein synthesis in the proadifen pretreament plus 0.5 μ M or 1 μ M cylindrospermopsin was 29% and 24% of the inhibitor control level (3251 ± 330 dpm/ μ g DNA) respectively (Figure 6.3). The extent of protein synthesis after 22 hr incubation with proadifen alone was similar to the untreated control.

In addition, while ketoconazole attenuated cylindrospermopsin induced LDH leakage (Section 6.3.2) it also did not significantly interfere with the inhibition of protein synthesis (Figure 6.4). The extent of protein synthesis after remaining after treatment with 0.5 μ M and 1 μ M cylindrospermopsin alone for 22 hr was 26% and 14 % of the vehicle control (3604 ± 726 dpm / μ g DNA) respectively (Figure 6.4). The extent of protein synthesis in the ketoconazole preatreament plus 0.5 μ M and 1 μ M cylindrospermopsin was 46% and 31% of the inhibitor control level (3921 ± 330 dpm/ μ g DNA) respectively (Figure 6.4). The effects were not statistically significant (P > 0.05).



Figure 6.3 The effect of proadifen on the inhibition of protein synthesis in hepatocytes treated with cylindrospermopsin (CYN). Hepatocytes were pretreated with 50 μ M Proadifen for 30 min prior to CYN (0.5 or 1 μ M) for 22 hr. Values represent mean \pm SE of 3-4 independent experiments.



Figure 6.4 The effect of ketoconazole on the inhibition of protein synthesis in hepatocytes treated with cylindrospermopsin (CYN). Hepatocytes were pretreated with 50 μ M Ketoconazole for 30 min prior to CYN (0.5 or 1 μ M) for 22 hr. Values represent mean ±SE of 3-4 independent experiments.

6.3.4 The Effect of 4-Methyl pyrazole on Cylindrospermopsin-Induced Toxicity

As shown in Figure 6.5 pretreatment of hepatocytes with 4-methylpyrazole (4-MP) to inhibit alcohol dehydrogenase activity did not significantly affect cylindrospermopsin induced LDH leakage. The LDH leakage from 2.5 μ M cylindrospermopsin treated hepatocytes was 69 ±11 and 68 ± 7.6 % with and without 4-MP pretreatment respectively. LDH leakage from 5 μ M cylindrospermopsin treated hepatocytes was 73 ± 9.3 and 79 ± 5.8 % with and without 4-MP pretreatment respectively.

6.3.5 Effect of 4-Methyl pyrazole on Cylindrospermopsin-Induced Protein Synthesis Inhibition.

Protein synthesis inhibition after treatment with 0.5μ M and 1μ M cylindrospermopsin was not significantly affected by pretreatment with 4-methylpyrazole (4-MP) (Figure 6.6) The extent of protein synthesis after treatment with 0.5μ M and 1μ M cylindrospermopsin alone for 22 hr was 28% and 20% of the untreated control (3071 ± 508 dpm / μ g DNA) respectively. The extent of protein synthesis after 4-MP preatreament plus 0.5μ M and 1μ M cylindrospermopsin was 35% and 18% of the inhibitor control level (2745 ± 398 dpm/ μ g DNA) respectively.



Figure 6.5 The effect of 4-methylpyrazole (4-MP) on LDH leakage from hepatocytes treated with cylindrospermopsin (CYN). Hepatocytes were pretreated with 100 μ M 4-MP for 30 min prior to CYN (2.5 or 5 μ M) for 22 hr. Values represent mean ± SE of 3 independent experiments.



Figure 6.6 The effect of 4-methylpyrazole (4-MP) on the inhibition of protein synthesis in hepatocytes treated with cylindrospermopsin (CYN). Hepatocytes were pretreated with 100 μ M 4-MP for 30 min prior to CYN (0.5 or 1 μ M) for 22 hr. Values represent mean \pm SE of 3-4 independent experiments.

6.4 Discussion

The results presented clearly demonstrate that inhibition of CYP450 activity in mouse hepatocytes attenuates the toxicity of cylindrospermopsin. However, while reducing toxicity, the CYP450 inhibitors did not have a significant effect on the inhibition of protein synthesis, supporting the hypothesis that this event occurs due to the direct effect of unmetabolised toxin. This provides the first clear evidence that protein synthesis inhibition and CYP450 mediated toxicity can be distinguished into two discrete events during cylindrospermopsin exposure. In contrast to the effects of the CYP450 inhibitors, inhibition of alcohol dehydrogenase activity with 4-MP did not affect toxicity or protein synthesis inhibition. Thus, the hypothesis that cylindrospermopsin could be oxidized by this enzyme into toxic metabolites is rejected.

With respect to the metabolism of cylindrospermopsin, the current results support previous reasearch of Runnegar et al. (1995b) implicating the involvement of CYP450 derived metabolite(s) in the mechanism of toxicity in hepatocytes. A number of different CYP450 inhibitors have been shown to attenuate the toxicity of cylindrospermopsin. Aside from proadifen and ketoconozole in this study, Runnegar et al. (1995b) demonstrated the effectiveness of α -napthoflavone in rat hepatocytes and noted that cimetidine produced a similar response (data not shown in cited report). The reactions mediated by CYP450 enzymes have been well characterized and inhibitors can be used as a useful tool for determining the CYP450 isoforms involved in toxin biotransformation. The major CYP450 enzymes (in humans) involved in the oxidation of xenobiotics include 1A1, 1A2, 2A6, 2B6, 2C, 2D6, 3E1 and 3A proteins (Shimada et al., 1994). It is however difficult to draw any conclusions about the potential CYP450 isoforms involved in cylindrospermopsin bioactivation. The inhibitors used in this study were known to inhibit a wide range of CYP450 isoforms and were also used at relatively high concentrations to increase the coverage of the CYP450 isoforms inhibited. For example, at low concentrations ketoconazole is known to inhibit CYP3A, the major CYP450 isoform in liver tissue (accounting for 30% of the total CYP450 protein). At higher concentrations ketoconazole also inhibits CYP2C,

Metabolism of Cylindrospermopsin in Hepatocyte Culture

CYP2D and CYP2E enzymes (Baldwin *et al.*, 1995; Eagling *et al.*, 1998). Furthermore much of the information on CYP450 isoform-inhibitor interactions has been derived from human liver samples. It is also noted that differences in inhibitor selectivity and/or differences in the CYP450 isoforms responsible for toxin metabolism can occur between different species (Bogaards *et al.*, 2000).

Although the present work confirms that metabolic activation is involved in the cytotoxicity of cylindrospermopsin in hepatocytes, further work is required to clarify the chemical nature of the metabolites involved in cell damage, and identify the critical cellular targets. It is well established that CYP450 bioactivation can give rise to electrophilic species capable of reacting irreversibly with tissue nucleophiles (Guengerich and Shimada, 1991). Since Runnegar *et al.* (1995b) linked both the GSH depletion and toxicity to CYP450 metabolite formation, it could be speculated that a reactive metabolite is capable of inhibiting the enzyme(s) involved in GSH synthesis by forming a protein adduct. The formation of protein adducts would not be limited to one enzyme and could provide a mechanism of toxicity as described for other toxins. It has been proposed that acetaminophen hepatotoxicity is mediated by the covalent binding of the electrophilic metabolite *N*-acetyl-*p*-benzoquinone imine (NAPQI) to critical proteins (Albano *et al.*, 1985). Numerous functional proteins have been identified as the target of NAPQI adduct formation (Qui *et al.*, 1998).

In the absence of CYP450 derived metabolites (in cell types other than hepatocytes), protein synthesis inhibition may play a more crucial role in the development of cytotoxicity. It has been clearly demonstrated that this event can occur without bioactivation of the toxin. Since cells can survive for extended periods in the absence of protein synthesis (refer to Section 1.7.1) it would be expected that cytotoxicity due to protein synthesis inhibition alone occurs over a different time frame to that described in hepatocyte culture. It has consistently been noted that the cytotoxicity of cylindrospermopsin in metabolism-incompetent cells requires exposure over more extended periods than that needed to produce toxicity in hepatocytes. As shown by Chong *et al.* (2002), incubation of primary rat hepatocytes with $\geq 2 \mu M$ (800 ng/ml) cylindrospermopsin reduced cell viability to less than 25 % in 48 hr. In the same study, similar cylindrospermopsin concentrations did not reduce cell viability in the KB epithelial carcinoma cell line until 72 hr. These observations reinforce the conclusions

Metabolism of Cylindrospermopsin in Hepatocyte Culture

reached on the basis of the present work, that while cylindrospermopsin itself is a potent inhibitor of protein synthesis, acute cytotoxicity in hepatocytes occurs via bioactivation-dependent events.

7 GENERAL DISCUSSION

The aim of the work reported in this thesis was to investigate the mechanisms by which cylindrospermopsin induces liver toxicity. The research focused on investigating the roles of protein synthesis inhibition, GSH depletion and toxin metabolism in the development of cytotoxicity *in vitro* in cultured mouse hepatocytes. The research addressed a number of questions arising about the extent to which each of these factors contributed to the toxicity process. In addition, the inhibitory effects of the toxin on protein synthesis were also investigated in the cell-free reticulocyte lysate, thus allowing assessment of its potency and mode of action and providing a comparison to its effects on protein synthesis in the cellular model. HPLC purified toxin was used throughout.

Mechanisms of Cytotoxicity in vitro.

Cylindrospermopsin was demonstrated to be a potent inhibitor of protein synthesis causing an immediate cessation of translation upon its addition to reticulocyte lysates. The inhibitory potency and nature of the concentration-response curve obtained was reproduced in hepatocyte culture, but did not correlate with the concentration-response curve for cytotoxicity at 18 hr (Chapter 4). This suggests that events other than protein synthesis inhibition are required to induce toxicity in hepatocytes. The subsequent observation that inhibition of CYP450 activity in hepatocyte culture could alleviate cylindrospermopsin induced toxicity, but not the effects on protein synthesis (Chapter 6), demonstrated a dissociation of the two events and implicates the involvement of metabolites in the cytotoxicity process, but not in the impairment of protein synthesis. Thus the results support the hypotheses proposed in Chapter 1; that protein synthesis inhibition is not solely responsible for hepatocyte cell death and that formation of CYP450-derived metabolites produces effects other than the impairment of protein synthesis.

106

Cylindrospermopsin has earlier been shown to block GSH synthesis in rat hepatocytes, lowering the GSH levels prior to the onset of toxicity (Runnegar et al., 1994; Runnegar et al., 1995b). The current work also demonstrated that all toxic concentrations of cylindrospermopsin depleted GSH, and that the depletion occurred well prior to the onset of toxicity in mouse hepatocytes (Chapter 5). It was assumed that this event would occur independent to protein synthesis inhibition. A number of observations indirectly support this assumption. Firstly, the time course experiments in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 demonstrate that both protein synthesis inhibition and GSH depletion respectively are evident by 4 hr after treatment with 5 µM cylindrospermopsin. The similar timing of events indicates that GSH depletion is not likely to be simply a consequence of protein synthesis inhibition. Furthermore, a literature search failed to find evidence of adverse effects of protein synthesis inhibitors on GSH levels in hepatocyte culture. In fact, exposure of primary rat hepatocytes to cycloheximide for 8 hr at concentrations impairing protein synthesis has been observed to increase GSH levels 50% above the control level (Sanchez et al., 1997). Secondly, although not investigated in this study, the work of Runnegar et al. (1995b) suggests that GSH depletion, at least in part, is mediated by CYP450 derived metabolites. Clearly, the present study has demonstrated a dissociation of CYP450 metabolite mediated events from protein synthesis inhibition (Chapter 6).

Chapter 5 investigated the consequences of cylindrospermopsin-induced GSH depletion in hepatocyte culture. It focused on the antioxidant properties of GSH, proposing that oxidative damage was a significant contributor to cell death after cylindrospermopsin exposure. Despite the possibility that oxidative stress would be imposed by GSH depletion increasing the susceptibility of the cells to oxidative events, the data did not indicate that elevated oxidative damage accompanied the toxicity process. Lipid peroxidation was not elevated following the fall in GSH levels and the GSH-Px / GSSG-Rd enzyme system did not appear to protect against cylindrospermopsin toxicity. It was concluded that the extent of GSH depletion produced by cylindrospermopsin was not of a sufficient magnitude to result in enhanced generation of reactive oxygen species, and that potential metabolite(s) generated through the CYP450 dependent metabolism of the toxin (Chapter 6) did not generate oxidative stress. The results described in Chapter 6 along with the reported findings of Runnegar *et al.* (1995b) imply that bioactivation plays a key role in cylindrospermopsin toxicity in hepatocytes, via the production of reactive metabolites. One function of GSH is to detoxify reactive intermediates formed via enzymatic oxidation of xenobiotics, such as electrophiles (epoxides, quinones, cations) or peroxides and free radicals (Moldeus and Jernstrom, 1983). As described in Chapter 1, in these reactions GSH may serve as nucleophile forming conjugates, or as a reductant generating GSSG (see also Figure 1.7). The nature of the metabolite specie(s) produced during the metabolism of cylindrospermopsin is unknown, however results presented in Chapter 5 do not suggest a role for the generation of a free radical species and/or the use of GSH as a reductant. One scenario that has not been adequately explored is the potential role of GSH conjugation for detoxication of cylindrospermopsin metabolites.

To date, conjugates of cylindrospermopsin metabolites with GSH have not been isolated. Runnegar *et al.* (1995b) utilized HPLC to search for GSH derivatives in the culture media of cylindrospermopsin treated hepatocytes, but did not find evidence of extra peaks which may have been GSH conjugates. Because of the cylindrospermopsin's potent effects on GSH levels in hepatocytes, the total extent of GSH loss exceeds that which could be expected to occur through GSH conjugation to toxin / metabolite alone (assuming 1:1 conjugation stoichiometry). Runnegar *et al.* (1995b) notes that the total extent of GSH depletion in rat hepatocytes is 10 fold that of the total cylindrospermopsin content (at ≤ 5 nmoles toxin). Calculation of molar equivalents from the results in Chapter 5 show a similar response. For example, the total equivalent of 2 nmoles of cylindrospermopsin per cell culture dish resulted in 16 nmoles total loss of GSH.

Although electrophilic metabolites generated through the CYP450 dependent modification of cylindrospermopsin might only make a minor contribution to oxidative stress, electrophilic speices may well explain the toxicity in hepatocytes. Electrophiles are capable of reacting with tissue nucleophiles including GSH, protein, DNA and RNA. If GSH plays a role in the detoxication by conjugation to the metabolite(s), this could explain why the toxicity occurs when GSH levels are depleted. The loss of GSH due the toxin's effects on its re-synthesis, reduces its protective capacity, allowing the metabolites to target nucleophilic

Discussion

sites on cellular macromolecules. The production of covalently bound adducts e.g. protein adducts, might lead to the disruption of normal cellular functions and the onset of toxicity. In addition, the impairment of protein synthesis would be likely to exaggerate the loss of cellular integrity particularly during the later stages when the GSH levels are severely depleted and the electrophilic attack becomes more prevalent.

The conjugation of GSH to reactive metabolites has been demonstrated as an important detoxication mechanism for a number of toxins. For example, the reactive epoxides produced from the metabolism of aflatoxin are readily conjugated to GSH (Johnson *et al.*, 1992; Raney *et al.*, 1992). Similarly acetaminophen toxicity involves a loss of GSH and diminished ability to detoxicate the *N*-acetyl-*p*-benzoquinone imine (NAPQI) metabolite (Hinson and Kadlubar, 1988; Moldeus and Jernstrom, 1983). At lower concentrations of acetaminophen, NAPQI is effectively detoxicated by GSH. At higher concentrations, the GSH is depleted and the metabolite(s) are able to target other cellular nucleophilic components (protein, DNA, RNA). Significant amounts of acetaminophen metabolite-protein binding does not occur until hepatic GSH levels are reduced by approximately 80%.

It is also noted that the loss of GSH affects the overall thiol status in the cell, resulting in the loss of protein-SH groups. Such destabilization of proteins has been reported to be involved in oxidative stress response (Freeman *et al.*, 1997), and may also play a role in the complex nature of cylindrospermopsin toxicology. The protection of these vulnerable protein-SH groups by alternative reducing agents such as dithiothreitol may aid in maintaining cell structure and function, and cause some delay in the toxicity. Dithiothreitol can provide a protective effect and delay the onset of acetaminophen toxicity in mouse hepatocytes that is independent of the replenishment of GSH stores (Rafeiro *et al.*, 1994).

109

Relationship of Current Results to Cylindrospermopsin Toxicity in vivo

The characteristics of acute cylindrospermopsin toxicology *in vivo* are a hepatic lesion with a range of effects at extrahepatic sites of variable location and severity (see Chapter 1). The toxicity is both concentration and time dependent. The LD_{50} of purified cylindrospermopsin (i.p., mice) is 2100 µg kg⁻¹ at 24 hr, and 200 µg kg⁻¹ at 5-6 days (Ohtani *et al.*, 1992).

The present confirmation of a role for metabolism in cylindrospermopsin toxicity *in vitro* (Chapter 6) provides insight into its acutely hepatotoxic nature *in vivo*. However, investigation of the importance of metabolite production in the overall toxicology *in vivo* in mice has produced inconsistent results. Norris *et al.* (2002) report that *in vivo* administration of piperonyl butoxide (to inhibit CYP450 activity) prior to 200 μ g kg⁻¹ (5-6 day LD₅₀) cylindrospermopsin significantly increased the survival rate of Quackenbush mice over 7 days. This response was maintained with 400 and 800 μ g kg⁻¹ doses of the toxin (data not shown in cited report). However, it was also noted that in C57/B16 mice the protective effect was not confirmed (data not shown in cited report). These differences may be related to altered metabolic capacities of the different strains of mice. It is known that considerable variation in CYP450 isoforms can occur between different species, as well as individuals of the same species resulting in altered metabolism of the same compound (Bogaards *et al.*, 2000; Park *et al.*, 1995).

It is not clear how extensively the direct effects of the toxin contribute to the toxicology *in vivo*, particularly at lower doses and over extended time frames. The extrahepatic lesions may be related to the protein synthesis inhibition (and other events) occurring in the absence of CYP450 activation. As cylindrospermopsin is suggested to enter cells via diffusion (Chapter 4) it is not restricted by its mechanism of entry to cell types with particular transport mechanisms. Consistent with entry into a number of cell types, Norris *et al.* (2001) report that after *in vivo* administration of radiolabelled cylindrospermopsin to mice the toxin can be found primarily in the liver, but also in the kidneys and other organs to a much lesser extent.

Discussion

A notable finding in this thesis was that the protein synthesis inhibition was irreversible in hepatocytes (Chapter 4). As a consequence, long term effects may be expected *in vivo*. Norris *et al.* (2001) report that most of the radiolabelled cylindrospermopsin administered to mice is excreted within the first 12 hr (73%), primarily in the urine. However, up to 23% of the total radiolabelled cylindrospermopsin could be retained in the liver of some mice at 48 hr. A lesser amount was retained in the kidneys. Over a longer time frame, repeated administration of cylindrospermopsin *in vivo* to mice has been shown to increase susceptibility to the toxin even after a two week recovery period (Falconer and Humpage, 2001). Some of the long term toxicity may result from the irreversible effects on protein synthesis. The effects of the irreversible protein synthesis inhibitor emetine are long term. The material safety data sheet (MSDS) (Sigma-Aldrich) for emetine reveals that after *in vivo* administration of the toxin it can be still found in animal tissues three months after exposure (specific references to literature were not given). Emetine is also known to persist in the human body for extended periods and chronic exposure has resulted in fatality (Schiff *et al.*, 1986).

In addition, the production of electrophilic metabolites resulting in covalently bound adducts may also contribute to the delayed recovery of cylindrospermopsin in mice as observed by Norris *et al.* (2001). These researchers reported the presence of protein-bound cylindrospermopsin (radiolabelled) in the liver after administration of the alkaloid to mice. Extraction with methanol yielded a more hydrophilic compound than cylindrospermopsin itself, suggesting the formation of a metabolite. This was not found in other tissues (e.g. kidneys). Certainly the formation of covalently bound metabolite adducts may present more than long term toxic effects. Depending on the nature of the adducts formed, a carcinogenic risk may also occur. Preliminary studies have indicated formation of a DNA adduct *in vivo* (Shaw *et al.*, 2000), while other research has reported a potential risk of carcinogenisis after *in vivo* exposure of mice to the toxin (Falconer and Humpage, 2001).

However, while the production of electrophilic metabolites via CYP450 bioactivation of the toxin provides a mechanism for adduct formation, another consideration is that cylindrospermopsin itself may produce genotoxic effects. Interestingly, cylindrospermopsin produced cytogenetic damage in the micronucleus assay carried out using a lympoblastoid

111

Discussion

cell line (Humpage *et al.*, 2000a). It is expected that this cell line has limited metabolic potential, particularly with respect to CYP450 activity. While cylindrospermopsin modification may not limited to CYP450 oxidation, it is also known that cylindrospermopsin itself is biologically active and this may also need to be addressed with respect to genotoxic and potential carcinogenic risk.

Future Directions

The toxicology of cylindrospermopsin has now reached a very interesting phase and future developments will be of crucial value in assessing the risks associated with exposure to this toxin.

The results presented in this study highlighted the importance of CYP450 metabolite(s) formation for the development of cylindrospermopsin-induced cytotoxicity in hepatocytes. Future identification of toxic cylindrospermopsin metabolites and their subcellular targets is likely to improve the understanding of cylindrospermopsin toxicology. Clarifying any interaction of electrophilic CYP450 derived metabolites with macromolecules will provide a mechanism of toxicity, and also indicate whether a genotoxic, and potentially carcinogenic risk results from adduction of the cellular genetic material. This is of crucial interest in understanding risk assessment for exposure to cylindrospermopsin. Following the identification of protein / DNA adducts, the use of hepatocyte culture and CYP450 inhibitors would readily confirm whether metabolic activation is required for the generation of these products.

As described in this thesis, much of the experimental work has been carried out using rodent models. Given the interspecies variability in the metabolism of xenobiotics, the identification CYP450 derived products of cylindrospermopsin metabolism and the confirmation that they are also relevant in human tissues will be of interest. The future identification of cylindrospermopsin adducts will not only assist in toxicity and carcinogenicity assessment, but may also provide biomarkers for human exposure.

APPENDIX A

Media, Buffers and Solutions Used for Hepatocyte Culture

A1-1 Media and chemical sources

Analytical grade chemicals were used, other reagents and media were purchased as cell culture tested products.

Chemical / Product	Source
BSA (fatty acid free)	Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MI, USA
	Trace Biosciences Ltd, New Zealand
CaCl ₂	(BDH) Merck Pty Ltd, Vic, Australia
Collagenase (type IV for hepatocyte	Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MI, USA
isolation)	
DMEM/F12 (1:1 Mixture)	Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MI, USA
DMSO	ICN Biochemicals Inc, Ohio, USA
EGTA	Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MI, USA
Glucose	ICN Biochemicals Inc, Ohio, USA
HEPES (cell culture tested)	Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MI, USA
HBSS	Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MI, USA
Hydrocortisone (cell culture tested)	Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MI, USA
Insulin (cell culture tested)	Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MI, USA
KCl	ICN Biochemicals Inc, Ohio, USA
KH ₂ PO ₄	(BDH) Merck Pty Ltd, Vic, Australia
MgSO ₄ .7H ₂ O	(BDH) Merck Pty Ltd, Vic, Australia
NaCl	ICN Biochemicals Inc, Ohio, USA
Na ₂ HCO ₃	(BDH) Merck Pty Ltd, Vic, Australia
Penicillin/Streptomycin solution	Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MI, USA
Phenol Red	ICN Biochemicals Inc, Ohio, USA

A1-2 Stock Solutions

(i) 10X Modified Krebs-Henseleit Buffer

Chemical	Grams/Litre
NaCl	67.3
KCl	4.0
KH ₂ PO ₄	0.54
Na ₂ HPO ₄	0.43
NaHCO ₃	21.8
HEPES	47.6
BSA	10.0
Glucose	10.0
Phenol Red	0.1

Make up to 1 Litre with M.Q. H2O.

Adjust pH to 7.3.

Filter sterilize. Store at 4°C.

(ii) 10X Magnesium Sulphate Solution (8 mM)

Dissolve 2.0 g of MgSO₄.7H₂O in 1 L M.Q. H₂O. Autoclave. Store at room temperature.

(iii) 1000X Calcium Chloride Solution (1 M)

Dissolve 14.7 g CaCl₂.2 H_2O in 100 ml of M.Q. H_2O . Autoclave. Store at room temperature.

(iv) 10X EGTA Solution (1 mM)

Dissolve 0.38 g of EGTA in ~80 ml of 1X Krebs-Henseleit. Adjust pH to 7.3. Make up to 100 ml. Filter sterilize. Store at room temperature.

(v) 200X Insulin Solution (20 μM)

Dissolve 3.5 mg of Insulin in 35 ml 0.9% NaCl. Filter sterilize. Aliquot into microcentrifuge tubes. Store at -20°C.

(vi) 1000X Hydrocortisone Solution (1 mM)

Dissolve 2 mg of hydrocortisone in 5 ml of DMSO. Store 200 µl aliquots at -80°C.

(vii) BSA Solution (10%)

Dissolve 1 g BSA (fatty acid free) in 10 ml of DMEM/F12. Adjust pH to 7.3. Filter sterilize.

(viii) Penicillin/Streptomycin Antibiotic Stock

Obtained as 10,000U Penicillin and 10 mg Streptomycin / ml in 0.9% NaCl. Store at – 20°C.

A1-3 Perfusion Media

(i) 1X Modified Krebs-Henseleit Buffer

Make up 1X Modified Krebs-Henseleit Buffer on the day of use. 300 ml is sufficient for liver perfusion of one mouse. Dilute as follows:

30 ml 10X Modified Krebs-Henseleit Buffer 30 ml 10X MgSO₄.7H₂O stock solution 240 ml M.Q. H₂O

Adjust pH to 7.3. Filter Sterilize.

(ii) First Perfusion Medium (Ca²⁺-free perfusion)

To 1X Modified Krebs-Henseleit Buffer add:

0.5 ml 100X EGTA stock solution0.25 ml 200X Insulin stock0.25 ml Penicillin/Streptomycin stockMake up to 50 ml with 1X Krebs-Henseleit Buffer

Equilibrate at 37°C in a water bath.

(iii) Second Perfusion Medium (Collagenase perfusion)

To 1X Modified Krebs-Henseleit Buffer add:

0.05 ml of 1000X CaCl₂ stock solution
0.25 ml 200X Insulin stock
0.25 ml Penicillin / Streptomycin stock
Make up to 50 ml with 1X Krebs-Henseleit Buffer

Equilibrate at 37°C in a water bath.

Immediately prior to use add 8 mg of collagenase powder.

(iv) Wash Medium

To 1X Krebs-Henseleit Buffer add:

0.2 ml of 1000X CaCl₂ stock solution
1 ml of 200X Insulin stock
1 ml Penicillin / Streptomycin stock
Make up to 200 ml with 1X Krebs-Henseleit Buffer

A1-4 Buffers

(i) 10X Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS)

Chemical	Grams/Litre
NaCl	80
KCl	2.0
KH ₂ PO ₄	2.4
Na ₂ HPO ₄	14.6

Dissolve in ~900 ml M.Q. H_2O .

Adjust pH to 7.4.

Make up to 1 L with M.Q. H₂O. Store at room temperature.

For 1X PBS working solution, dilute 10X stock 1:9 with M.Q. H_2O . Check pH is 7.4. Store at 4°C

A1-5 Cell Culture Medium

(i) Dulbecco's Modified Eagles Medium/Nutrient Mixture F-12 Ham (DMEM/F12 1:1 Mixture).

Obtained as sterile solution which contains 15 mM HEPES pyridoxine and sodium bicarbonate. Without L-glutamine. Substitutes pyridoxine hydrochloride for pyridoxal hydrochloride. Since the DMEM/F12 ordered was supplied without L-glutamine, it was added at the standard concentration of 0.35 g/L immediately prior to use.

Cell culture supplements:

Supplement 100 ml of DMEM/F12 as follows:

10 ml BSA (10% stock).
0.5 ml Penicillin/Streptomycin
0.5 ml Insulin (200X stock)
0.1 ml Hydrocortisone (1000X stock).

1% 50U/ml Penicillin, 50 μg/ml Streptomycin 100 nM 1 μM

Final Concentration

Check pH 7.3. Re-adjust if necessary. Filter sterilize.

APPENDIX B

Journal Publication

Cell-Free Protein Synthesis Inhibition Assay for the Cyanobacterial Toxin Cylindrospermopsin

SUZANNE M. FROSCIO, ANDREW R. HUMPAGE, PHILIP C. BURCHAM, AND IAN R. FALCONER

Reprinted from Environmental Toxicology, Vol. 16, No. 5, 2001

Froscio, S.M., Humpage, A.R., Burcham, P.C. & Falconer, I.R. (2001) Cell-free protein synthesis inhibition assay for the cyanobacterial toxin cylindrospermopsin. *Environmental Toxicology, v. 16(5), pp. 408-412*

NOTE: This publication is included on pages 122-126 in the print copy of the thesis held in the University of Adelaide Library.

It is also available online to authorised users at:

http://doi.org/10.1002/tox.1050

8 **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

Adamson, G.M. and Harman, A.W. (1989) A role for the glutathione peroxidase reductase enzyme system in the protection from paracetamol toxicity in isolated mouse hepatocytes. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, **38**, 3323-3330.

Adamson, G.M. and Harman, A.W. (1993) Oxidative Stress in Cultured Hepatocytes Exposed to Acetaminophen. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, **45**, 2289-2294.

Ahuja, D., Vera, M.D., SirDeshpande, B.V., Morimoto, H., Williams, P.G., Joullié, M.M. and Toogood, P.L. (2000) Inhibition of Protein Synthesis by Didemnin B: How EF-1α Mediates Inhibition of Translocation. *Biochemistry*, **39**, 4339-4346.

Alam, M., Shimizu, Y., Ikawa, M. and Sasner, J.J. (1978) Reinvestigation of the toxins from the Blue-Green Alga, *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae*, by a High Performance Chromatographic Method. *Journal of Environmental Science and Health*, **13**, 493-499.

Albano, E., Rundegren, M., Havison, P.J., Nelson, S.D. and Moldeus, P. (1985) Mechanisms of N-acetyl-p-benzoquinone imine cytotoxicity. *Molecular Pharmacology*, **28**, 306-311.

Antoni, F., Hrabak, A. and Csuka, I. (1986) Effect of emetine and chloroquine on phagocytic process of rat macrophages. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, **35**, 2869-2874.

Baldwin, S.J., Bloomer, J.C., Smith, G.J., Ayrton, A.D., Clarke, S.E. and Chenery, R.J. (1995) Ketoconazole and sulphaphenazole as the respective selective inhibitors of P4503A and 2C9. *Xenobiotica*, **25**, 261-270.

Banker, R., Carmeli, S., Hadas, O., Teltsch, B., Porat, R. and Sukenik, A. (1997) Identification of Cylindrospermopsin in *Aphanizomenon ovalisporum* (Cyanophyceae) isolated from Lake Kinneret, Israel. *Journal of Phycology*, **33**, 613-616. Banker, R., Carmeli, S., Werman, M., Teltsch, B., Porat, R. and Sukenik, A. (2001) Uracil Moiety is Required for Toxicity of the Cyanobacterial Hepatotoxin Cylindrospermopsin. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health. Part A.*, **62**, 281-288.

Banker, R., Teltsch, B., Sukenik, A. and Carmeli, S. (2000) 7-Epicylindrospermopsin, a Toxic Minor Metabolite of the Cyanobacterium *Aphanizomenon ovalisporum* from Lake Kinneret, Israel. *Journal of Natural Products*, **63**, 387-389.

Bergmeyer, H.U. (1983) Oxidoreductases: Dehydrogenases acting on CHOH groups. In: Bergmeyer, H.M., Bergmeyer, H.U. and Grassl, M. (eds.), *Methods of Enzymatic Analysis*. Verlag-Chemie, Weinheim, Vol. III, pp. 118-133.

Berry, M.N., Edwards, A.M. and Barritt, G.J. (1991) *Isolated hepatocytes preparation*, *properties and applications*. Elsevier Science Publishers B.V., Amsterdam.

Bogaards, J.J.P., Bertrand, M., Jackson, P., Weavers, R.J., van Bladeren, P.J. and Walther, B. (2000) Determining the best animal model for human cytochrome P450 activities: a comparison of mouse, rat, rabbit, dog, micropig, monkey and man. *Xenobiotica*, **30**, 1131-1152.

Bosron, W.F. and Li, T.-K. (1980) Alcohol Dehydrogenase. In: Jakoby, W.B. (ed.) *Enzymatic Basis of Detoxication*. Academic Press, New York, Vol. 1, pp. 231-248.

Bourke, A.T.C., Hawes, R.B., Neilson, A. and Stallman, N.D. (1983) An outbreak of hepatoenteritis (the Palm Island Mystery Disease) possibly caused by algal intoxication. *Toxicon*, **Suppl. 3**, 45-48.

Byth, S. (1980) Palm Island Mystery Disease. The Medical Journal of Australia, 2, 40-42.

Campbell, N.A. (1990) *Biology*. The Benjamin Cummings Publishing Company, Inc., Redwood City, California.

Carmichael, W.W. (1988) Freshwater Cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) Toxins. In: Owenby, C.L. and Odell, G.V. (eds.), *Natural Toxins Characterization, Pharmacology and Therapeutics*. Pergamon Press, pp. 3-16.

Carmichael, W.W. (1992) Cyanobacteria secondary metabolites - the cyanotoxins. *Journal of Applied Bacteriology*, **72**, 445-459.

Carmichael, W.W., Azevedo, S.M.F.O., An, J.S., Molica, R.J.R., Jochimsen, E.M., Lau, S., Rinehart, K.L., Shaw, G.R. and Eaglesham, G.K. (2001) Human fatalities from Cyanobacteria: Chemical and Biological Evidence for Cyanotoxins. *Environmental Health Perspectives.*, **109**, 663-668.

Carmichael, W.W., Mahmood, N.A. and Hyde, E.G. (1990) Natural Toxins from Cyanobacteria (Blue-Green Algae). In: Hall, S. and Streichart, G. (eds.), *Marine Toxins,: Origin, Structure and Molecular Pharmacology*. American Chemical Society, Washington DC, pp. 87-106.

Chong, M.W.K., Wong, B.S.F., Lam, P.K.S., Shaw, G.R. and Seawright, A.A. (2002) Toxicity and uptake mechanism of cylindrospermopsin and lophyrotomin in primary hepatocytes. *Toxicon*, **40**, 205-211.

Clemens, M.J. (1984) Translation of Eukaryotic Messenger RNA in Cell-free Extracts. In: Hames, B.D. and Higgins, S.J. (eds.), *Transcription and Translation a practical approach*. IRL Press, Oxford.

Codd, G.A. and Poon, G.K. (1988) Cyanobacterial toxins. In: Rogers, L.J. and Gallon, J.R. (eds.), *Biochemistry of the Algae and Cyanobacteria*. Clarendon Press, Oxford, pp. 283-296.

Codd, G.A., Steffensen, D.A., Burch, M.D. and Baker, P. (1994) Toxic Blooms of Cyanobacteria in Lake Alexandrina, South Australia - Learning from History. *Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research*, **45**, 731-736.

Cohen, P. and Cohen, P.T.W. (1989) Protein Phosphatases Come of Age. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 264, 21435-21438.

Coleman, J.B., Casini, A.F., Serroni, A. and Farber, J.L. (1990) Evidence for the Participation of Activated Oxygen Species and the Resulting Peroxidation of Lipids in the Killing of Cultured Hepatocytes by Aryl Halides. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, **105**, 395-402.

Bibliography

Dahlin, D.C., Miwa, G.T., Lu, A.Y. and Nelson, S.D. (1984) N-acetyl-p-benzoquinone imine: a cytochrome P-450-mediated oxidation product of acetaminophen. *Proc Natl Acad Sci*, **81**, 1327-1331.

Dawson, R.M. (1998) The Toxicology of Microcystins. Toxicon, 36, 953-962.

Devlin, J.P., Edwards, O.E., Gorham, P.R., Hunter, N.R., Pike, R.K. and Stravic, B. (1977) Anatoxin-a, a toxic alkaloid from *Anabaena flos-aquae* NRC-44h. *Canadian Journal of Chemistry*, **55**, 1367-1371.

Dianzani, M.U. (1991) Biochemical Aspects of Fatty Liver. In: Meeks, R.G., Harrison, S.D. and Bull, R.J. (eds.), *Hepatotoxicology*. CRC Press Inc., Florida, pp. 327-399.

Dittman, E., Neilan, B.A., Erhard, M., von Dohren, H. and Borner, T. (1997) Insertional mutagenesis of a peptide synthetase gene that is responsible for hepatotoxin production in the cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeroginosa* PCC 7806. *Molecular Microbiology*, **26**, 779-787.

Eaglesham, G.K., Norris, R.L., Shaw, G.R., Smith, M.J., Chiswell, R.K., Davis, B.C., Neville, G.R., Seawright, A.A. and Moore, M.R. (1999) Use of HPLC-MS/MS to Monitor Cylindrospermopsin, a Blue-Green Algal Toxin, for Public Health Purposes. *Environmental Toxicology*, **14**.

Eagling, V.A., Tija, l.J.F. and Back, D.J. (1998) Differential selectivity of cytochrome P450 inhibitors against probe substrates in human and rat liver microsomes. *British Journal of Natural Products*, **45**, 107-114.

Eriksson, J.E., Gronberg, L., Nygard, S., Slotte, J.P. and Meriluoto, J.A.O. (1990a) Hepatocellular uptake of ³H-dihydromicrocystin-LR, a cyclic peptide toxin. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, **1025**, 60-66.

Eriksson, J.E., Toivola, D., Meriluoto, J.A.O., Karaki, H., Han, Y.-G. and Hartshorne, D. (1990b) Hepatocyte Deformation Induced by Cyanobacterial Toxins Reflects Inhibition of Protein Phosphatases. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **173**, 1347-1353.

Esterbauer, H. (1982) Aldehydic products of lipid peroxidation. In: McBrien, D.C.H. and Slater, T.F. (eds.), *Free Radical, Lipid Peroxidation and Cancer*. Academic Press, London.

Fahey, R.C. and Newton, G.L. (1983) Occurrence of Low Molecular Weight Thiols in Biological Systems. In: Larsson, A. and Orrenius, S. (eds.), *Functions of Glutathione*. *Biochemical, Physicological, Toxicological and Clinical Aspects*. Raven Press, New York.

Falconer, I.R. (1998) Algal Toxins and Human Health. In: Hrubec, J. (ed.) *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry: Quality and Treatment of Drinking Water II*. Springer-Verlag, Germany, Vol. 5 (part C), pp. 53-82.

Falconer, I.R., Beresford, A.M. and Runnegar, M.T.C. (1983) Evidence of liver damage by toxin from a bloom of the blue-green alga, *Microcystis aeruginosa*. *Medical Journal of Australia*, 1, 511-514.

Falconer, I.R., Dornbusch, M., Moran, G. and Yeung, S.K. (1992) Effect of the Cyanobacterial (Blue-Green Algal) toxins from *Microcystis aeroginosa* on Isolated Enterocytes from the Chicken Small Intestine. *Toxicon*, **30**, 790-793.

Falconer, I.R., Hardy, S.J., Humpage, A.R., Froscio, S.M., Tozer, G.J. and Hawkins, P.R. (1999) Hepatic and Renal Toxicity of the Blue-Green Alga (Cyanobacterium) *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* in Male Swiss Albino Mice. *Environmental Toxicology*, **14**, 143-150.

Falconer, I.R. and Humpage, A.R. (2001) Preliminary Evidence for In Vivo Tumour Initiation by Oral Administration of Extracts of the Blue-Green Alga *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* Containing the Toxin Cylindrospermopsin. *Environmental Toxicology*, **16**, 192-195.

Falconer, I.R., Jackson, A.R.B., Langley, J. and Runnegar, M.T. (1981) Liver pathology in mice in poisoning by the blue-green alga Microcystis aeroginosa. *Australian Journal of Biological Sciences*, **34**, 179-187.

Fay, P. (1983) The Blue-Greens. Edward Arnold, Ltd., London.
Freeman, M.L., Huntley, S.A., Meredith, M.J., Senisterra, G.A. and Lepock, J. (1997) Destabilization and denaturation of cellular protein by glutathione depletion. *Cell Stress Chaperone*, **2**, 191-198.

Freshney, R.I. (1994) Quantitation and Experimental Design. *Culture of Animal Cells: A manual of basic techniques.* Wiley-Liss, Inc, New York, pp. 267-286.

Friedberg, E.C. (1985) Chapter 1. DNA Damage. DNA Repair. W.H. Freeman and Company, New York.

Frimmer, M. and Ziegler, K. (1988) The transport of bile acids in liver cells. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, 947, 75-99.

Gangolli, S.D. and Phillips, J.C. (1993) The Metabolism and Disposition of Xenobiotics. In: Anderson, D. and Conning, D.M. (eds.), *Experimental Toxicology. The Basic Issues*. The Royal Society of Chemistry, Cambridge, U.K., pp. 130-180.

Garcia-Barrado, M.-J., Ravier, M.A., Rolland, J.-F., Gilon, P., Nenquin, M. and Henquin, J.-C. (2001) Inhibition of Protein Synthesis Sequentially Impairs Distinct Steps of Stimulussecretion Coupling in Pancreatic beta-cells. *Endocrinology*, **142**, 299-307.

Gérard-Monnier, D., Erdelmeier, I., Régnard, K., Moze-Henry, N., Yadan, J.-C. and Chaudière, J. (1998) Reactions of 1-Methyl-2-phenylindole with Malondialdehyde and 4-Hydroxyalkenals. Analytical Applications to a Colorimetric Assay of Lipid Peroxidation. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, **11**, 1176-1183.

Gooding, P.E., Chayen, J., Sawyer, B. and Slater, T.F. (1978) Cytochrome P-450 distribution in rat liver and the effect of sodium phenobarbitone administration. *Chemico-Biological Interaction*, **20**, 299-310.

Griffith, O.W. (1999) Biologic and Pharmocologic Regulation of Mammalian Glutathione Synthesis. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine.*, **27**, 922-935.

Griffith, O.W. and Meister, A. (1979) Potent and specific inhibition of glutathione synthesis by buthionine sulfoximine (S-n-butyl homocysteine sulfoximine). *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **25**, 7558-7560.

Guengerich, F.P. (1992) Metabolic Activation of Carcinogens. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, **54**, 17-61.

Guengerich, F.P. (2001) Common and Uncommon Cytochrome P450 Reactions Related to Metabolism and Chemical Toxicity. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, **14**, 611-650.

Guengerich, F.P. and Shimada, T. (1991) Oxidation of Toxic and Carcinogenic Chemicals by Human Cytochrome P-450 Enzymes. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, **4**, 391-407.

Halliwell, B. and Gutteridge, J.M.C. (1999) Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine. Oxford Science.

Harada, K., Ohtani, I., Iwamoto, K., Suzuki, M., Watanabe, M.F., Watanabe, M. and Terao, K. (1993) Isolation of cylindrospermopsin from a cyanobacterium *Umezakia natans* and its screening method. *Toxicon*, **32**, 73-84.

Hawkins, P.R., Chandrasena, N.R., Jones, G.J., Humpage, A.R. and Falconer, I.R. (1997) Isolation and Toxicity of *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* from an Ornamental Lake. *Toxicon*, **35**, 341-346.

Hawkins, P.R., Runnegar, M.T.C., Jackson, A.R.B. and Falconer, I.R. (1985) Severe hepatotoxicity caused by the tropical cyanobacterium (blue-green alga) *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* (Woloszynska) Seenaya and Subba Raju isolated from a domestic water supply reservoir. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, **50**, 1292-1295.

Helenek, T.G., Devlin, T.M. and Ch'ih, J.J. (1982) Initial inhibition and recovery of protein synthesis in cycloheximide treated hepatocytes. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, **31**, 1219-1225.

Hershey, J.W.B., Duncan, R. and Mathews, M.B. (1986) Introduction: Mechanisms of Translational Control. In: Mathews, M.B. (ed.) *Translational Control*. Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, New York.

Hinson, J.A. and Kadlubar, F.F. (1988) Glutathione and Glutathione Transferases in the Detoxification of Drug and Carcinogen Metabolites. In: Sies, H. and Ketterer (eds.), *Glutathione Conjugation. Mechanisms and Biological Significance*. Academic Press, London, pp. 235-280.

Hissin, P.J. and Hilf, R. (1976) A fluorometric method for determination of oxidized and reduced glutathione in tissues. *Analytical Biochemistry*, **71**, 214-226.

Holme, J.A., Dahlin, D.C., Nelson, S.D. and Dybing, E. (1984) Cytotoxic effects of N-acetylp-benzoquinone imine, a common arylating intermediate of paracetamol and Nhydroxyparacetamol. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, **33**, 401-406.

Horton, A.A. and Fairhurst, S. (1987) Lipid Peroxidation and Mechanisms of Toxicity. *Critical Reviews in Toxicology*, **18**, 27-79.

Huang, M.T. and Grollman, A.P. (1973) Pyrocatechol Violet: An Inhibitor of Initiation of Protein Synthesis. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **53**, 1049-1059.

Humpage, A.R., Fenech, M., Thomas, P. and Falconer, I.R. (2000a) Micronucleus induction and chromosome loss in transformed human white cells indicate clastogenic and aneugenic action of the cyanobacterial toxin, cylindrospermopsin. *Mutation Research*, **472**, 155-161.

Humpage, A.R., Hardy, S.J., Moore, E.J., Froscio, S.M. and Falconer, I.R. (2000b) Microcystins (cyanobacterial toxins) in drinking water enhance the growth of abberant crypt foci in the mouse colon. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, **61**, 155-165.

Humpage, A.R., Rositano, J., Bretag, A.H., Brown, R., Baler, P.D., Nicholson, B.C. and Steffenson, D.A. (1994) Paralytic shellfish poisons from Australian cyanobacterial blooms. *Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research*, **45**, 761-771.

Ikawa, M., Wegener, K., Foxall, T.L. and Sanser, J.J. (1982) Comparison of the Toxins of the Blue-Green Alga *Aphanizomenon flos-aquae* with the *Gonyaulax* Toxins. *Toxicon*, **20**, 747-752.

Jackson, A.R.B., McInnes, A., Falconer, I.R. and M.T., R. (1984) Clinical and pathological changes in sheep experimentally poisoned by the blue-green alga *Microcystis aeruginosa*. *Veterinary Pathology*, **21**.

Jackson, R.J. and Hunt, T. (1983) Preparation and Use of Nuclease-Treated Rabbit Reticulocyte Lysates for the Translation of Eukaryotic Messenger RNA. *Methods in Enzymology*, **96**, 50-74.

Jentzsch, A.M., Bachmann, H., Furst, P. and Biesalski, H.K. (1996) Improved Analysis of Malondialdehyde in Human Body Fluids. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, **20**, 251-256.

Jewell, S.A., DiMonte, D., Richelmi, P., Bellomo, G. and Orrenius, S. (1986) *tert*-Butylhydroperoxide-Induced Toxicity in Isolated Hepatocytes: Contribution of Thiol Oxidation and Lipid Peroxidation. *Journal of Biochemical Toxicology*, **1**, 13-22.

Jimenez, A. (1976) Inhibitors of translation. Trends in Biochemical Sciences, 1, 28-29.

Jochimsen, E.M., Carmichael, W.W., An, J.S., Cardo, D.M., Cookson, S.T., Holmes, C.E.M., Antunes, B.d.C., Fihlo, D.A.d.M., Lyra, T.M., Barreto, V.S.T., Azevedo, S.M.F.O. and Jarvis, W.R. (1998) Liver Failure and Death after Exposure to Microcystins at a Hemodialysis Centre in Brazil. *The New England Journal of Medicine.*, **338**, 873-878.

Johnson, W.W., Ueng, Y.-F., Widersten, M., Mannervik, B., Hayes, J.D., Sherratt, P.J., Ketterer, B. and Guengerich, F.P. (1992) Conjugation of Highly Reactive Alfatoxin B_1 *exo*-8,9-Expoide Catalyzed by Rat and Human Glutathione Transferases: Estimation of Kinetic Parameters. *Biochemistry*, **36**.

Jones, D.P. and Kennedy, F.G. (1983) Function of Glutathione Peroxidase in Decomposition of Hydrogen Peroxidase in Isolated Liver and Heart Cells. In: Larsson, A., Orrenius, S., Holmgren, A. and Mannervik, B. (eds.), *Functions of Glutathione. Biochemical, Physiological, Toxicological and Clinical Aspects.* Raven Press, New York, pp. 109-116.

Kadlubar, F.F. and Hammons, G.J. (1987) The Role of Cytochrome P-450 in the Metabolism of Chemical Carcinogens. In: Guengerich, F.P. (ed.) *Mammalian Cytochromes P-450*. CRC Press Inc, Boca Raton, Florida, Vol. II, pp. 81-120.

Kaebernick, M., Neilan, B.A., Borner, T. and Dittman, E. (2000) Light and Transcriptional Response of the Microcystin Biosynthesis Gene Cluster. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, **66**, 3387-3392.

Kaebernick, M. and Neilan, M. (2001) Ecological and molecular investigations of cyanotoxin production. *FEMS Microbiology Ecology*, **35**, 1-9.

Keleti, G. and Sykora, J.L. (1982) Production and properties of cyanobacterial endotoxins. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, **43**, 104-109.

Ketterer, B., Meyer, D.J. and Clark, A.G. (1988) Soluble Glutathione Transferase Isozymes. In: Sies, H. and Ketterer, B. (eds.), *Glutathione Conjugation*. *Mechanisms and Biological Significance*. Academic Press, London, pp. 73-135.

Kodavanti, P.R.S. and Mehendale, H.M. (1991) Biochemical Methods of Studying Hepatotoxicity. In: Meeks, R.G., Harrison, S.D. and Bull, R.J. (eds.), *Hepatotoxicity*. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA.

Kuiper-Goodman, T., Falconer, I. and Fitzgerald, J. (1999) Human Health Effects. In: Chorus, I. and Bartram, J. (eds.), *Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water*. A guide to their Public Health Consequences, monitoring and Assessment. E&FN Spon on behalf of WHO, London.

Labarca, C. and Paigen, K. (1980) A simple, rapid, and sensitive DNA assay procedure. *Analytical Biochemistry*, **102**, 344-352.

Latour, I., De Ros, E., Denef, J.-F. and Buc-Calderon, P. (1999) Protein S-Thiolation Can Mediate the Inhibition of Protein Synthesis Induced by *tert*-Butyl Hydroperoxide in Isolated Rat Hepatocytes. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, **160**, 1-9.

Leal, A.M., Ruiz-Larrea, B., Martinez, R. and Lacort, M. (1998) Cytoprotective Actions of Estrogens against *tert*-Butyl Hydroperoxide-induced Toxicity in Hepatocytes. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, **56**, 1463-1469.

Lecureur, V., Courtois, A., Payen, L., Verhnet, L., Guillouzo, A. and Fardel, O. (2000) Expression and regulation of hepatic drug and bile acid transporters. *Toxicology*, **153**, 203-219.

Liao, L., Kupchan, S.M. and Horwitz, S.B. (1976) Mode of Action of Antitumor Compound Bruceantin, an Inhibitor of Protein Synthesis. *Molecular Pharmacology*, **12**, 167-176.

Lindamood, C. (1991) Xenobiotic Transformation. In: Meeks, R.G., Harrison, S.D. and Bull, R.J. (eds.), *Hepatotoxicology*. CRC Press, Florida, pp. 139-180.

Liu, J., Yeo, H.C., Doniger, S.J. and Ames, B.N. (1997) Assay of Aldehydes from Lipid Peroxidation: Gas Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry Compared to Thiobarbituric Acid. *Analytical Biochemistry*, **245**, 161-166.

Lodish, H.F. (1976) Translational Control of Protein Synthesis. Annual Review of Biochemistry, 45, 39-72.

Lodish, H.F., Housman, D. and Jacobsen, M. (1971) Initiation of Hemoglobin Synthesis. Specific Inhibition by Antibiotics and Bacteriophage Ribonucleic Acid. *Biochemistry*, **10**, 2348-2356.

Mahmood, N.A. and Carmichael, W.W. (1986) The pharmacology of anatoxin-a(s), a neurotoxin produced by the freshwater cyanobacterium *Anabaena flos-aquae* NRC 525-17. *Toxicon*, **24**, 425-434.

Mahmood, N.A. and Carmichael, W.W. (1987) Anatoxin-a(s), an anticholinesterase from the cyanobacterium Anabaena flos-aquae NRC-525-17. *Toxicon*, **25**, 1211-1217.

Mahmood, N.A., Carmichael, W.W. and Pfahler, D. (1988) Anticholinesterase poisonings in dogs from a cyanobacterial (blue-green algae) bloom dominated by *Anabaena flos-aquae*. *American Journal of Veterinary Research*, **49**.

Martin, R.L., Ilett, K.F. and Minchin, R.F. (1990) Characterization of putrescine uptake by cultured adult mouse hepatocytes. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta*, **1051**, 52-59.

Masaki, N., Kyle, M.E. and Farber, J.L. (1989) *tert*-butylhydroperoxide kills cultured heptocytes by peroxidizing membrane lipids. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, **269**, 390-399.

Mathews, C.K. and van Holde, K.E. (1991) Chapter 27. Information Decoding: Translation. *Biochemistry*. The Benjamin/Cummings Publishing Company Inc., pp. 954 - 990.

Meredith, M.J. and Reed, D.J. (1982) Status of the Mitochondrial Pool of Glutathione in the Isolated Hepatocyte. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **257**, 3747-3753.

Meredith, M.J. and Reed, D.J. (1983) Depletion *In Vitro* of Mitochondrial Glutathione in Rat Hepatocytes and Enhancement of Lipid Peroxidation by Adriamycin and 1,3-bis (2 - chloroethyl)-1-nitrosourea (BCNU). *Biochemical Pharmacology*, **32**, 1383-1388.

Merrick, W.C., Abramson, R.D., Caliendo, A.M., Grifo, J.A. and Dever, T.E. (1986) Binding of Initiation Factors to mRNA. In: Mathews, M.B. (ed.) *Translational Control*. Cold Spring Harbour Laboratory, New York, USA.

Miller, E.C. and Miller, J.A. (1981) Searches for Ultimate Chemical Carcinogens and Their Reactions with Cellular Macromolecules. *Cancer*, **47**, 2327-2345.

Moldeus, P. and Jernstrom, B. (1983) Interaction of Glutathione with Reactive Intermediates. In: Larsson, A., Orrenius, S., Holgrem, A. and Mannervik, B. (eds.), *Functions of Glutathione. Biochemical, Physicological, Toxicological and Clinical Aspects.* Raven Press, New York.

Mur, L.R., Skulberg, O.M. and Utkilen, H. (1999) Cyanobacteria in the Environment. In: Chorus, I. and Bartram, J. (eds.), *Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water*. A guide to their public health consequences, monitoring and management. E & FN Spon on behalf of WHO, London.

Nelson, S.D. and Harvison, P.J. (1987) Roles of Cytochrome P-450 in Chemically Induced Cytotoxicity. In: Guengerich, F.P. (ed.) *Mammalian Cytochromes P-450*. CRC Press, Inc, Boca Raton, Florida, Vol. II, pp. 19-79.

Norris, R.L., Eaglesham, G.K., Pierens, G., Shaw, G.R., Smith, M.J., Chiswell, R.K., Seawright, A.A. and Moore, M.R. (1999) Deoxycylindrospermopsin, an Analog of Cylindrospermopsin from *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii*. *Environmental Toxicology*, **14**, 163-165.

Norris, R.L., Seawright, A.A., Shaw, G.R., Smith, M.J., Chiswell, R.K. and Moore, M.R. (2001) Distribution of 14C cylindrospermopsin in vivo in the mouse. *Environmental Toxicology*, **16**, 498-505.

Norris, R.L.G., Seawright, A.A., Shaw, G.R., Senogles, P., Eaglesham, G.K., Smith, R.K., Chiswell, R.K. and Moore, M.R. (2002) Hepatic xenobiotic metabolism of cylindrospermopsin in vivo in the mouse. *Toxicon*, **40**, 471-476.

Obrig, T.G., Culp, W.J., McKeehan, W.L. and Hardesty, B. (1971) The Mechanism by which Cycloheximide and Related Glutarimide Antibiotics Inhibit Peptide Synthesis on Reticulocyte Ribosomes. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **246**, 174-181.

Ohno, Y., Ormstad, K., Ross, D. and Orrenius, S. (1985) Mechanism of allyl alcohol toxicity and protective effects of low-molecular-weight thiols studies with isolated rat hepatocytes. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, **78**, 169-176.

Ohtani, I., Moore, R.E. and Runnegar, M.T.C. (1992) Cylindrospermopsin: A Potent Hepatotoxin from the Blue-Green Alga Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii. Journal of the American Chemical Society, **113**, 7941-7942.

Olliver, L. and Boyd, C.D. (1998) In Vitro Translation of Messenger RNA in a Rabbit Reticulocyte Lysate Cell-Free System. In: Rapley, R. and Manning, D.L. (eds.), *RNA Isolation and Characterization Protocols*. Humana Press Inc., Totowa, N.J., Vol. 86.

Olliver, L., Grobler-Rabie, A. and Boyd, C. (1998) In Vitro Translation of Messenger RNA in a Wheat Germ Extract Cell-Free System. In: Rapley, R. and Manning, D.L. (eds.), *RNA Isolation and Characterization Protocols*. Humana Press Inc., Totowa, NJ, Vol. 86.

Olsnes, S. and Pihil, A. (1997) Abrin, Ricin, and their Associated Agglutinins. In: Cuatrecasas, P. (ed.) *The Specificity and Action of Animal, Bacterial and Plant Toxins*. Chapman Hill, London.

Park, B.K., Pirmohamen, M. and Kitteringham, N.R. (1995) The Role of Cytochrome P450 Enzymes in Hepatic and Extrahepatic Human Drug Toxicity. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, **68**, 385-424.

Pilotto, L.S., Douglas, R.M., Burch, M.D., Cameron, S., Beers, M., Rouch, G.J., Robinson, P., Kirk, M., Cowie, C.T., Hardiman, S., Moore, C. and Attewell, R.G. (1997) Health effects of exposure to cyanobacteria (blue-green algae) during recreational water-related activities. *Australia and New Zealand Journal of Public Health*, **21**, 562-566.

Plaa, G.L. (1991) Toxic responses of the liver. In: Amdur, M.O., Doull, J. and Klaasen, C.D. (eds.), *Caserett and Doull's Toxicology: The Basic Science of Poisons*. Pergamon Press Inc., New York, pp. 334-353.

Poli, G. and Gravela, E. (1982) Lipid Peroxidation in Isolated Hepatocytes. In: McBrien, D.C.H. and Slater, T.F. (eds.), *Free Radicals, Lipid Peroxidation and Cancer*. Academic Press, London.

Pouria, S., de Andrade, A., Barbosa, J., Cavalcanti, R.L., Barreto, V.T.S., Ward, C.J., Preiser, W., Poon, G.K., Neild, G.H. and Codd, G.A. (1998) Fatal microcystin intoxication in haemodialysis unit in Caruaru, Brazil. *The Lancet*, **352**, 21-26.

Prociv, P. (1987) Palm Island Reconsidered. Was It Copper Poisoning? *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Medicine*, **17**, 345-349.

Prociv, P. (1992) Blue-green algae: fact or fantasy? *Medical Journal of Australia*, **156**, 366-367.

Puntaruli, S. and Cederbaum, A.I. (1998) Production of Reactive Oxygen Species by Microsomes Enriched in Specific Human Microsome. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, **24**, 1324-1330.

Qui, Y., Benet, L.Z. and Burlingame, A.L. (1998) Identification of the Hepatic Protein Targets of Reactive Metabolites of Acetaminophen *in Vivo* in Mouse Using Two-dimensional Gel Electrophoresis and Mass Spectrometry. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry*, **273**, 17940-17953.

Rafeiro, E., Barr, S.G., Harrison, J.J. and Racz, W.J. (1994) Effects of N-acetylcysteine and dithiothreitol on glutathione and protein thiol replenishment during acetaminophen-induced toxicity in isolated mouse hepatocytes. *Toxicology*, **93**, 209-224.

Raney, K.D., Meyer, D.J., Ketterer, B., Harris, T.M. and Guengerich, F.P. (1992) Glutathione conjugation of aflatoxin B1 exo- and endo-peroxides by rat and human glutathione S-transferases. *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, **5**, 470-478.

Rauckman, E.J. and Padilla, G.M. (eds.) (1987) *The Isolated Hepatocyte: Use in Toxicology* and *Xenobiotic Transformations*. Academic Press, Inc., Orlando, FL, USA.

Raziuddin, S., Siegelman, H.W. and Tornabene, T.G. (1983) Lipopolysaccharides of the cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeroginosa*. *European Journal of Biochemistry*, **137**, 333-336.

Recknagel, R.O., Glende, E.A.J. and Britton, R.S. (1991) Free Radical Damage and Lipid Peroxidation. In: Meeks, R.G., Harrison, S.D. and Bull, R.J. (eds.), *Heptotoxicology*. CRC Press Inc., Florida, U.S.A.

Recknegel, R.O., Glende, E.A., Dolak, J.A. and Waller, R.L. (1989) Mechanisms of carbon tetrachloride toxicity. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, **43**, 139-154.

Ressom, R., Soong, F.S., Fitzgerald, J., Turczynowicz, L., El Saadi, O., Roder, D., Maynard, T. and Falconer, I. (1994) *Health Effects of Toxic Cyanobacteria (Blue-Green Algae)*. National Health and Medical Research Council, Canberra.

Runnegar, M., Berndt, N. and Kaplowitz, N. (1995a) Microcystin Uptake and Inhibition of Protein Phosphatases: Effects of Chemoprotectants and Self Inhibition in Relation to Known Hepatic Transporters. *Toxicology and Applied Pharmacology*, **134**, 264-272.

Runnegar, M.T., Falconer, I.R. and Silver, J. (1981) Deformation of Isolated Rat Hepatocytes by a Peptide Hepatotoxin from the Blue-Green Alga *Microcystis aeroginosa*. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Archives of Pharmacology*, **317**, 268-272.

Runnegar, M.T., Kong, S.M., Zhong, Y.Z., Ge, J.L. and Lu, S.C. (1994) The role of glutathione in the toxicity of a novel cyanobacterial alkaloid cylindrospermopsin in cultured rat hepatocytes. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications*, **201**, 235-241.

Runnegar, M.T., Kong, S.M., Zhong, Y.Z. and Lu, S.C. (1995b) Inhibition of reduced glutathione synthesis by cyanobacterial alkaloid cylindrospermopsin in cultured rat hepatocytes. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, **49**, 219-225.

Runnegar, M.T.C. and Falconer, I.R. (1986) Effect of toxin from the cyanobacterium *Microcystis aeruginosa* on Ultrastructural morphology and Actin polymerization on Isolated Hepatocytes. *Toxicon*, **24**.

Runnegar, M.T.C., Gerdes, R.G. and Falconer, I.R. (1991) The Uptake of the Cyanobacterial Hepatotoxin Microcystin by Isolated Rat Hepatocytes. *Toxicon*, **29**, 43-51.

Saker, M.L., Thomas, A.D. and Norton, J.H. (1999) Cattle Mortality Attributed to the Toxic Cyanobacterium *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* in an Outback Region of North Queensland. *Environmental Toxicology*, 14, 179-182.

Sanchez, A., Alvarez, A.M., Benito, M. and Fabregat, I. (1997) Cycloheximide Prevents Apoptosis, Reactive Oxygen Species Production and Glutathione Depletion Induced by Transforming Growth Factor beta in Fetal Rat Hepatocytes in Primary Culture. *Hepatology*, **26**, 935-943.

Schembri, M.A., Neilan, B.A. and Saint, C.P. (2001) Identification of genes implicated in toxin production in the cyanobacterium *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii*. *Environmental Toxicology*, **16**, 413-421.

Schiff, R.J., Wurzel, C.L., Brunson, S.C., Kasloff, I., Nussbaum, M.P. and Frank, S.D. (1986) Death Due to Chronic Syrup of Ipecac Use in a Patent with Bulimia. *Pediatrics*, **78**, 412-416.

Seawright, A.A., Nolan, C.C., Shaw, G.R., Chiswell, R.K., Norris, R.L., Moore, M.R. and Smith, M.J. (1999) The Oral Toxicity for Mice of the Tropical Cyanobacterium *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* (Woloszynska). *Environmental Toxicology*, **14**, 135-142.

Seglen, P.O. (1972) Preparation of Rat Liver Cells. Experimental Cell Research, 74, 450-454.

Seglen, P.O. (1976) Preparation of Isolated Rat Liver Cells. *Methods in Cell Biology*, **13**, 29-83.

Shaw, G.R., Seawright, A.A., Moore, M.R. and Lam, P.K.S. (2000) Cylindrospermopsin, A Cyanobacterial Alkaloid: Evaluation of Its Toxicologic Activity. *Therapeutic Drug Monitoring*, **22**, 89-92.

Shaw, G.R., Sukenik, A., Livne, A., Chiswell, R.K., Smith, M.J., Seawright, A.A., Norris, R.L., Eaglesham, G.K. and Moore, M.R. (1999) Blooms of the Cylindrospermopsin Containing Cyanobacterium, *Aphanizomenon ovalisporum* (Forti), in Newly Constructed Lakes, Queensland, Australia. *Environmental Toxicology*, **14**, 167-177.

Shimada, T., Yamazaki, H., Mimura, M., Inui, Y. and Guengerich, F.P. (1994) Interindividual Variations in Human Liver Cytochrome P-450 Enzymes Involved in the Oxidation of Drugs, Carcinogens and Toxic Chemicals: Studies with Liver Microsomes of 30 Japanese and 30 Caucasians. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, **270**, 414-423.

Sies, H. (1997) Oxidative stress: oxidants and antioxidants. *Experimental Physiology*, 82, 291-295.

Sies, H. (1999) Glutathione and its role in Cellular Functions. Free Radical Biology and Medicine, 27, 916-921.

SirDeshpande, B.V. and Toogood, P.L. (1995) Mechanism of Protein Synthesis Inhibition by Didemnin B *in Vitro. Biochemistry*, **34**, 9177-9184.

Sivonen, K., Himberg, K., Luukkainen, R., Poon, G.K. and Codd, G.A. (1989) Preliminary Characterization of Neurotoxic Cyanobacteria Blooms and Strains from Finland. *Toxicity Assessment*, 4, 339-352.

Sivonen, K. and Jones, G. (1999) Cyanobacterial Toxins. In: Chorus, I. and Bartram, J. (eds.), *Toxic Cyanobacteria in Water. A Guide to their Public Health Consequences, Monitoring and Management.* E&FN Spon, London.

Skulberg, O.M., Carmichael, W.W., Anderson, R.A., Matsunga, S., Moore, R.E. and Skulberg, R. (1992) Investigation of a Neurotoxic Oscillatorialean Strain (Cyanophyceae) and its Toxin. Isolation and Characterization of Homoanatoxin-a. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, **11**, 321-329.

Steinberg, C.E. and Hartmann, H.M. (1988) Planktonic bloom-forming Cyanobacteria and the eutrophication of lakes and rivers. *Freshwater Biology*, **20**, 279-287.

St-Pierre, M.V., Kullak-Ublick, G.A., Hagenbuch, B. and Meier, P.J. (2001) Transport of Bile Acids in Hepatic and Non-Hepatic Tissue. *The Journal of Experimental Biology*, **204**, 1673-1686.

Sugihara, N., Suetsugu, T. and Furuno, K. (1995) High Susceptibility to Paraquat-Driven Lipid Peroxidation of Cultured Hepatocytes Loaded with Linoleic Acid. *The Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, **274**, 187-193.

Terao, K., Ohmori, S., Igarashi, K., Ohtani, I., Watanabe, M.F., Harada, K.I., Ito, E. and Watanabe, M. (1994) Electron microscope studies on experimental poisoning in mice induced by Cylindrospermopsin isolated from blue-green alga *Umezakia natans*. *Toxicon*, **32**, 833-843.

Tiermenstein, M.A., Nicholls-Grzemski, F.A., Zhang, J.-G. and Fariss, M.W. (2000) Glutathione depletion and the production of reactive oxygen species in isolated hepatocyte suspensions. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, **127**.

Tsokos-Khun, J.O. (1988) Lethal injury by Diquat Redox Cycling in an Isolated Hepatocyte Model. *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, **265**, 415-424.

Turner, P.C., Gammie, A.J., Hollinrake, K. and Codd, G.A. (1990) Pneumonia associated with contact with cyanobacteria. *British Medical Journal*, **300**, 1440-1441.

Waterfield, C.J., Westmoreland, C., Asker, D.S., Murdock, J.C., George, E. and Timbrell, J.A. (1998) Ethionine toxicity in vitro: the correlation of data from rat hepatocyte suspensions and monolayers with in vivo observations. *Archives of Toxicology*, **72**, 588-598.

Willingham, W.J., Stafford, E.A., Reynolds, S.H., Chaney, S.G., Lee, K., Okano, M. and Hall, I.H. (1981) Mechanism of Eukaryotic Protein Synthesis Inhibition by Brusatol. *Biochemica et Biophysica Acta*, **654**, 169-174.

Wilson, K.M., Schembri, M.A., Baker, P.A. and Saint, C.P. (2000) Molecular Characterization of the Toxic Cyanobacterium *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* and Design of a Species Specific PCR. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology*, **66**, 332-338.

Wolk, C.P., Ernst, A. and Elhai, J. (1994) Heterocyst Metabolism and Development. In: Bryant, D.A. (ed.) *The Molecular Biology of Cyanobacteria*. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp. 769-823.

Xie, C., Runnegar, M.T.C. and Snider, B.B. (2000) Total Synthesis of (±)-Cylindrospermopsin. *Journal of the American Chemical Society*, **122**, 5017-5024.

Yu, S.Z. (1995) Primary prevention of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Journal of Gastroenterology* and Hepatology, **10**, 674-682.

Ziegler, D.M. (1980) Microsomal Flavin-Containing Monooxygenase: Oxygenation of Nucleophilic Nitrogen and Sulfur Compounds. In: Jakoby, W.B. (ed.) *Enzymatic Basis of Detoxication*. Academic Press, New York., Vol. I, pp. 201-227.